# IMMUNOLOGIC INFLAMMATION IN THE SMALL INTESTINE OF CHILDREN

Cytokine Profiles and Immunologic Markers in Potential Coeliac Disease, Type 1 Diabetes, Graft-versus-Host Disease, and Food Allergy

Mia Westerholm-Ormio

Paediatric Graduate School Hospital for Children and Adolescents University of Helsinki Finland

# ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, in the Niilo Hallman Auditorium of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, on September 17<sup>th</sup>, 2004, at 12 noon

Helsinki 2004

#### **Supervisor**

Professor Erkki Savilahti Hospital for Children and Adolescents University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

#### **Reviewers**

Professor Seppo Meri Department of Bacteriology and Immunology University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Docent Juhani Grönlund Department of Paediatrics University of Turku Turku, Finland

## **Official opponent**

Professor Markku Mäki Paediatric Research Centre, Medical School University of Tampere Tampere, Finland

ISBN 952-91-7611-2 (paperback) ISBN 952-10-2007-5 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2004

To Professor Erkki Savilahti

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABBREVIATIONS			
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7		
ABSTRACT	8		
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	10		
1. The immune system	10		
<ul> <li>2. Gut immune system</li> <li>2.1 Structure and function</li> <li>2.2 Cells in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue</li> <li>2.3 Mucosal immune responses and oral tolerance</li> <li>2.4 Oral tolerance in autoimmune diseases</li> </ul>	10 10 11 18 20		
<ul><li>3. Adhesion molecules</li><li>3.1 Homing receptors in the gut</li><li>3.2 Alterations in lymphocyte recruitment during intestinal inflammation</li></ul>	21 22 23		
<ul><li>4. Mediators of inflammation</li><li>4.1 Cytokines</li><li>4.2 Chemokines and chemokine receptors</li></ul>	23 24 28		
<ul> <li>5. Clinical aspects of immunologic inflammation in the small intestine</li> <li>5.1 Coeliac disease</li> <li>5.2 The gut immune system in type 1 diabetes</li> <li>5.3 Intestinal graft-versus-host disease</li> <li>5.4 Food allergy</li> </ul>	30 30 33 35 37		
<ul> <li>6. Microscopical findings in immunologic inflammation</li> <li>6.1 Morphology of the small intestine</li> <li>6.2 Production of cytokines</li> <li>6.3 Expression of HLA class II antigens</li> <li>6.4 Proliferation and apoptosis of epithelial cells</li> </ul>	39 39 40 41 42		
AIMS OF THE STUDY	44		
PATIENTS AND METHODS	45		
<ol> <li>Patients with potential coeliac disease (I)</li> <li>Patients with type 1 diabetes (II)</li> <li>Patients undergoing stem cell transplantation (III)</li> </ol>	45 45 47		
<ol> <li>Patients with food allergy (IV)</li> <li>Samples (I-IV)</li> </ol>	48 49		

6. Ethical considerations (I-IV)	50	
7. Immunohistochemistry (I-IV)	50	
8. Radioactive in situ hybridisation (I-IV)	52	
9. Taqman real time PCR (II)	53	
10. HLA genotyping (II)	54	
11. In situ detection of DNA fragmentation (ISEL) (III)	54	
12. Histopathological analysis (III)	55	
13. Statistical analysis (I-IV)	55	
RESULTS	56	
1. Densities of intraepithelial T-cells (I-IV)	56	
2. Densities of T-cells in the lamina propria (I-IV)	58	
3. Expression of cytokines detected by immunohistochemistry (I-IV)	60	
4. RNA <i>in situ</i> hybridisation for IL-4 and IFN-γ mRNA detection (I-IV)	63	
5 Taqman real time PCR analysis of cytokines, CCR-4 and CCR-5 (II)	65	
6. Proliferation of epithelial cells (I-IV)	65	
7. Apoptosis of epithelial cells (III)	67	
8. Expression of HLA-DR, HLA-DP, and ICAM-1 (I-IV)	68	
9 HLA-genotyping (II)	69	
10. Expression of adhesion molecules and CD25 (IV)	69	
DISCUSSION	71	
1. Methodological aspects (I-IV)	71	
2. Densities of intraepithelial T-cells (I-IV)	72	
3. Expression of HLA-DR and HLA–DP (I-IV)	74	
4. Cytokine expression in potential CD (I)	75	
5. Activation of the gut immune system in type 1 diabetes (II)	77	
6. Intestinal cytokine expression after SCT (III)	80	
7. Th1 dominance in food allergy (IV)	82	
CONCLUSIONS	84	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	85	
REFERENCES		

# ABBREVIATIONS

APC	Antigen-presenting cell		
bp	Base pairs		
CCR	Chemokine receptor, CC		
CD	Coeliac disease		
DH	Dermatitis herpetiformis		
EMA	Endomysium antibodies		
GALT	Gut-associated lymphoid tissue		
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating facto		
GvHD	Graft-versus-host disease		
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1		
IEL	Intraepithelial lymphocyte		
IFN	Interferon		
Ig	Immunoglobulin		
IL	Interleukin		
ISEL	In situ DNA 3'-end labelling		
LFA	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen		
LT	Lymphotoxin		
mAb	Monoclonal antibody		
MAdCAM-1	Mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1		
M cell	Microfold cell		
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex		
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid		
NK cell	Natural killer cell		
NOD	Nonobese diabetic		
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell		
PP	Peyer's patches		
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction		
SCT	Stem cell transplantation		
T1D	Type 1 diabetes		
TCR	T-cell receptor		
Th	T-helper lymphocyte		
TGF	Transforming growth factor		
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor		
tTG	Tissue transglutaminase		
tTGA	Tissue transglutaminase antibodies		
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1		

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Westerholm-Ormio M, Garioch J, Ketola I and Savilahti E. Inflammatory cytokines in small intestinal mucosa of patients with potential coeliac disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 128:94-101, 2002
- II Westerholm-Ormio M, Vaarala O, Pihkala P, Ilonen J and Savilahti E. Immunologic activity in the small intestinal mucosa of pediatric patents with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 52:2287-2295, 2003
- III Taskinen M\*, Westerholm-Ormio M\*, Karikoski R, Lindahl H, Veres G, Savilahti E and Saarinen-Pihkala UM. Increased cell turnover, but no signs of increased T-cell infiltration or inflammatory cytokines in the duodenum of pediatric patients after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 34:221-228, 2004
- IV Veres G\*, Westerholm-Ormio M\*, Kokkonen J, Arato A and Savilahti E. Cytokines and adhesion molecules in duodenal mucosa of children with delayed-type food allergy. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 37:27-34, 2003

\* These authors have contributed equally.

In addition, some previously unpublished data are presented.

# ABSTRACT

Immunologically mediated enteropathies consist of a group of different diseases that are characterised by varying degree of villous destruction in the small intestine. Examples of these are coeliac disease (CD), graft-versus-host disease (GvHD), and food allergy enteropathy. In addition, immunologic changes have been observed in the small intestine of patients with type 1 diabetes (T1D). Characteristics of these disorders are excessive T-cell activation and production of proinflammatory cytokines. However, the knowledge of intestinal expression of cytokines is mainly based on studies on overt CD. Knowledge of the intestinal expression of cytokines in T1D and GvHD was, prior to this study, based only on experimental studies. Furthermore, few studies have investigated the role of cytokines in the early and mild forms of these intestinal inflammations.

The aim of this series of studies was to characterise the cytokine profiles and immunologic markers in mild inflammatory disorders of the small intestine, in order to investigate the immune activation and the role of cytokines in these diseases.

We evaluated the expression of cytokines and other immunologic markers by immunohistochemistry, *in situ* hybridisation, and RT-PCR in small intestine biopsy specimens of children 6 weeks (n=15) and 3 months (n=11) after stem cell transplantation (SCT), and of patients with potential CD (n=10), T1D (n=31) or food allergy (n=14). We compared the results with those of normal controls (n=18) and patients with coeliac disease (n=13). We also investigated apoptosis of epithelial cells by *in situ* DNA 3'-end labelling in biopsies of patients undergoing SCT.

We found increased densities of intraepithelial lymphocytes and IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells in specimens of patients with potential CD. The densities of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells were increased in CD patients, regardless of whether they had T1D or not. In addition, patients with T1D demonstrated increased densities of intestinal IL-4 and IL-1 $\alpha$  positive cells, regardless of duodenal morphology, duration of T1D or HLA-genotype. We found a markedly increased proliferation of crypt epithelial cells in specimens of patients undergoing SCT, who also demonstrated an increased rate of epithelial cells undergoing apoptosis both in the crypts and in the villous surface. Additionally, SCT patients had fewer T-cells in the lamina propria than controls, and the numbers of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  positive

cells were, surprisingly, as low as in the controls. Patients with untreated food allergy, on the other hand, showed increased number of IFN- $\gamma$  positive cells.

In conclusion, we could detect inflammatory markers in the intestines of potential CD patients long before alterations in the villous structure occurred. The increased intestinal expression of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells in these patients indicates a skewing towards a Th1-type response already at this stage. The immunologic activation, with an unexpected Th2-dominance, in the small intestine of all patients with T1D supports the hypothesis that a link exists between the gut immune system and type 1 diabetes. Our results on increased cell turnover rate in SCT patients without symptomatic clinical or histological GvHD, may represent an early stage of intestinal GvHD in humans similar to animal models. The proposed cytokine expression in murine GvHD was not observed in our patients undergoing SCT, which may reflect the immunosuppressive medication in SCT patients. Finally, increased expression of IFN- $\gamma$  in patients with untreated food allergy also implies a Th1-type immune reaction in food allergy enteropathy.

# **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

## 1. THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

The human body is continually exposed to infectious agents. Whether these manage to penetrate and cause disease is dependent both on the pathogenicity of the organism and on the body's immune system. The immune system is a complex organisation of lymphoid organs, cells, humoral factors, and cytokines, all with specific roles in defending against infections. There are two different types of immune responses: innate and adaptive. The innate response is immediate and includes physical and chemical barriers, as well as neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, natural killer cells, complement, cytokines, and acute phase proteins. The innate response remains the same, whereas the adaptive response mediated by antigen-specific T- and B-lymphocytes has memory and enhances on repeated exposure to the same microbe. In contrast to innate response, the adaptive response takes several days or weeks to develop. Adaptive immune responses are generated in secondary lymphoid tissues, i.e. lymph nodes, spleen and mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue.

The most important feature of the immune system is its ability to distinguish between self and nonself. The essential function of the immune system is best demonstrated when it does not function appropriately; hypoactivity results in severe infections and hyperactivity in autoimmune diseases and allergy (reviewed by Delves and Roitt 2000a).

## 2. GUT IMMUNE SYSTEM

#### 2.1 Structure and function

In the gut there is a delicate balance between the need to recognise pathogens and to prevent unwanted immune responses to food antigens or the normal intestinal flora, yet allowing adequate nutrient uptake at the same time. Considering the large area of the gastrointestinal tract, comprising almost a 400 m<sup>2</sup> surface in man, it is not surprising that it has developed both immunologic and non-immunologic ways of protection. The mucosal barrier consists of intestinal epithelial cells connected by tight junctions and of non-immunologic defence mechanisms such as low pH, peristalsis, and mucus coat, all together protecting the intestine from invading antigens (reviewed by Sanderson and Walker 1999).

The intestinal lymphoid tissue is the largest compartment of the immune system in the body and referred to as the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT). It consists of mesenteric lymph nodes, Peyer's patches, isolated lymph follicles, and large numbers of lymphocytes scattered throughout the lamina propria and epithelium of the intestine (Mowat and Viney 1997, MacDonald 2003). Peyer's patches (PP) are organised lymphoid aggregates within the mucosa and submucosa of the small intestine. They act as the primary inductive sites where the interaction between luminal antigens and circulating lymphocytes occurs. The PP are separated from the intestinal lumen by a single layer of epithelial cells, which contains specialised epithelial cells called the microfold cells (M cells). The M cells are specialised in antigen uptake from the intestinal lumen and transport them across the mucosal surface to the subepithelial dome area (Neutra et al. 1996). The antigens can be taken up by several antigenpresenting cells (APC), in which they are processed for presentation to T-cells in the PP (Figure 1). The T-cells are activated upon antigen presentation and differentiate and mature in the germinal centres of the follicles. They then migrate via efferent lymphatics to the mesenteric lymph nodes before reaching the thoracic duct, and eventually the systemic circulation. From the blood circulation these activated T-cells migrate with the help of adhesion molecules back to the main effector sites of the intestinal immune responses; the lamina propria and intraepithelial compartment. Here they act as effector cells, secreting cytokines and mediating specific adaptive immune defence (Mowat and Viney 1997, MacDonald 2003).

#### 2.2 Cells in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue

Lamina propria is the region between the surface epithelium and the muscularis mucosa. The majority of the cells belonging to the gut-associated lymphoid tissue are T-lymphocytes, B-lymphocytes, and macrophages, in addition to dendritic cells, neutrophils, and low numbers of other granulocytes and mast cells. The lamina propria is also populated by smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts.

#### **T-lymphocytes**

T-lymphocytes are derived from pluripotent stem cells that migrate from the bone marrow to the thymus where they mature into T-cells. In the thymus the T-cells go through a process of positive and negative selection, that abolishes autoreactive T-cells (central tolerance) (reviewed in Delves and Roitt 2000a, Alam and Gorska 2003). Fewer than 5% of the developing T-cells survive this process, and T-cells with only a weak affinity for self major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules leave the thymus as single positive CD4<sup>+</sup> (helper) or CD8<sup>+</sup> (cytotoxic) T-cells. Approximately two thirds of peripheral blood T-cells are CD4<sup>+</sup> and one third are CD8<sup>+</sup>.



**Figure 1.** Antigen and T-cell traffic in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT). Antigen (Ag) is taken up either via M cells or epithelial cells. Antigen processing and presentation to T-cells in the Peyer's patch (PP) leads to the activation of T-cells, and subsequently of B-cells. The activated cells migrate via efferent lymphatics to mesenteric lymph nodes (LN) and, after passing into the thoracic duct, gain access to the systemic circulation. They then home back to the lamina propria and to other mucosal and nonmucosal sites. The return of T-cells back to the gut is mediated by the interaction between  $\alpha_4\beta_7$ -integrin on the surface of T-cells and mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecules (MAdCAM-1) on intestinal endothelial cells. Some soluble antigens taken up by epithelial cells also passes through the GALT directly into the portal circulation and bloodstream. The villous epithelium contains lymphocytes (IEL), most of which are activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells, unique for the gut. (Modified from MacDonald and Monteleone 2001, Mowat 2003).

T-cells carry unique receptors on their cell surfaces, known as the T-cell receptors (TCR). This receptor recognises short peptides of antigens presented in association with MHC molecules, referred to as human leukocyte antigen (HLA) in humans, on antigenpresenting cells. MHC class I molecules are expressed on all somatic cells in the body and present peptides that are derived from endogenous proteins. These complexes are recognised by CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T-cells. MHC class II molecules on antigen-presenting cells present exogenous peptides to CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T-cells (Doyle and Strominger 1987). The class II proteins are expressed on professional APCs, i.e. B-cells, neutrophils, M-cells, macrophages, monocytes, eosinophils and basophils (Lanzavecchia 1996), but the expression can also be induced by interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) on many other cell types, including epithelial and endothelial cells (Skoskiewicz et al. 1985).

In humans, TCR heterodimer consists of either  $\alpha\beta$ - or  $\gamma\delta$ -chains (Brenner et al. 1986). 90-95% of circulating T-cells express the  $\alpha\beta$  form of the antigen receptor, whereas 5-10% express TCR composed of  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  chains. T-cell receptors are associated on the surface of Tcells with the CD3 complex (a marker of all T-cells) that transmit activation signals into the cell when the T-cell receptor binds antigen. Signalling by TCR alone in the absence of costimulatory signals, does not lead to activation of the T-cell, but to anergy or apoptosis. The requested additional signals come from various costimulatory molecules, e.g. costimulatory signals from the CD28-B7 interaction or CD40-CD40 ligand and LFA-1/ICAM-1 receptor-ligand interaction, and soluble mediators such as cytokines (Noble 2000).

#### T-cell populations in normal human small intestine

The intestinal lamina propria and epithelium form the largest single T-cell site in the human body. Almost all of the normal intestinal lamina propria T-cells are  $\alpha\beta$ TCR positive, only 1% being positive for  $\gamma\delta$ TCR. The proportion of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells is similar to that in the peripheral blood. Lamina propria CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells express markers like CD45R0 and  $\alpha_4\beta_7$ integrin, and low levels of CD25 (IL-2 receptor) and HLA-DR, indicating that they have recently been activated by antigen (reviewed in James and Kiyono 1999). CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells are considered to be the key players of the local immune regulation in the lamina propria. They proliferate poorly when stimulated with mitogen or specific antigens, but produce high levels of cytokines upon stimulation (Mowat 2003). Some of these activated CD4<sup>+</sup> cells are true effector cells that help B-cells to produce IgA, while others are "effector memory" cells. A fraction of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells are regulatory cells that maintain local tolerance to the load of harmless lumenal antigens (Sakaguchi 2000).

#### Intraepithelial lymphocytes

The epithelium contains a unique population of lymphocytes, the so called intraepithelial lymphocytes (IEL), which are separated from the intestinal lumen only by the tight junctions of the epithelial cells (Ferguson and Murray 1971). The majority of IELs are T-cells, of which 80-90% are CD8<sup>+</sup>, and there are very few B-cells or natural killer (NK) cells in the epithelium. Of the T-cells 90% express the  $\alpha\beta$ TCR, and about 50% express CD45R0, suggesting that they are antigen-primed memory cells (Brandtzaeg et al. 1989a). Approximately 10% of the IELs in the normal small intestine are  $\gamma\delta$ TCR positive (Spencer et al. 1989), of which a large proportion are double negative cells (CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>). It has been

suggested that a portion of the  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  T-cells mature extrathymically in the gut mucosa, resulting in the relative large amount of these unique cells in the gut mucosa (Guy-Grand and Vassalli 2002).

#### T-helper 1 and T-helper 2 cells

Almost two decades ago Mosmann et al. discovered that naïve mouse CD4<sup>+</sup> T-helper lymphocytes differentiated into two distinct subsets with different functions and cytokine profiles upon antigenic stimulus (Mosmann et al. 1986). Later, this was also described in humans (Wierenga et al. 1991). Murine T-helper 1 (Th1) cells produce in addition to IFN- $\gamma$ , also interleukin-2 (IL-2), tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and lymphotoxin (LT, also known as TNF- $\beta$ ), that mediate delayed type hypersensitivity responses and activation of macrophages. The main Th2 cytokine is IL-4, but Th2 cells also secrete IL-5, IL-9, IL-10 and IL-13. These cytokines provide help for B-cells and are critical in allergic responses (Mosmann and Sad 1996). The secretion of IFN- $\gamma$  by Th1 cells inhibits Th2 cells, whereas the secretion of IL-4 by Th2 cells reciprocally inhibits Th1 cells (Figure 2) (reviewed by Ho and Glimcher 2002).

Although a distinct Th1/Th2 cytokine profile is not as clear in humans as in animal cells, an inverse relation remains between the tendency of T-cells to produce IFN- $\gamma$ , as opposed to IL-4 and IL-5 (MacDonald and Monteleone 2001). The synthesis of IL-2, IL-6, IL-10, and IL-13 is not as tightly restricted to a single subset as in mouse T-cells, and both Th classes produce granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-3 (Mosmann and Sad 1996). Even though the simultaneous production of IL-2, IL-4, and IFN- $\gamma$  has also been observed in human T-helper cells (Paliard et al. 1988), the majority of T-cell clones and *in vivo* immune responses show a clear dichotomy between IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF- $\beta$  vs. IL-4 and IL-5. Therefore, the Th1/Th2 dichotomy is still considered an important functional division in the immune system.

Recently, two additional subsets of *in vitro*-derived regulatory T-cell types were identified and named Th3 and Tr1 (T-regulatory 1 cells). Th3 cells secrete mainly transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) and to a lesser extent IL-4 and IL-10 (Chen et al. 1994, Fukaura et al. 1996), while Tr1 cells secrete IL-10, low levels of TGF- $\beta$ , but no IL-4 (Groux et al. 1997) (Table 1). These cells may be important in actively suppressing or terminating immune responses and are thus linked to the development of oral tolerance.



**Figure 2. Overview of Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation.** Naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells are activated via the TCR upon antigen encountering. When activated, IL-4 receptor (IL-4R) positive Th0 cell starts to proliferate, secrete IL-2 and express the IL-12 receptor (IL-12R). Signals that influence the differentiation in a positive way are indicated by arrows, and inhibitory signals are indicated by blunt arrows. The characteristic chemokine receptors, secreted cytokines, and type of action of the two cell types are indicated on the bottom of the cartoon. (Modified from Ho and Glimcher 2002, Alam and Gorska 2003).

T-cells that are resting do not transcribe cytokine genes, but when the T-cell is activated upon stimulation through the TCR and costimulatory receptors, the transcription of cytokine genes is rapidly induced (reviewed in Ho and Glimcher 2002). Th1 and Th2 cells appear to derive from a common precursor Th0 cell that expresses the IL-4 gene (Kamogawa et al. 1993). Naïve Th0 cells produce primarily IL-2, but may also produce cytokines characteristic of both Th1 and Th2 lymphocytes. The dose of the antigen, strength of the signal through the TCR, and costimulation all influence on the Th differentiation, but the most potent determinant is the cytokine milieu itself around the cell (Figure 2) (Ho and Glimcher 2002). IL-12 promotes IFN- $\gamma$  production and Th1 development via signalling pathways that lead to activation of STAT-4 (signal transducer and activator of transcription 4) and the induction of T-bet, which promotes the Th1 lineage commitment. Ligation of the IL-4 receptor (IL-4R) expressed on naïve T-cells by IL-4 activates STAT-6 and initiates the Th2 differentiation program through the transcription factor GATA-3 (reviewed by Ho and Glimcher 2002).

Th subset	Cytokines	Differentiation factors	Suppresses
Th0	IL-2		
Th1	IFN-γ, TNF-β, TNF-α, GM-CSF, IL-2, IL-3, IL-10, IL-13	IL-12, IL-18, IFN-γ T-bet, STAT-4	Th2
Th2	IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-25 TNF-α, GM-CSF, IL-2, IL-3, IL-10, IL-13	IL-4, IL-13 GATA-3, STAT-6	Th1
Th3	TGF-β, IL-10, IL-4		Th1/Th2
Tr1	IL-10, TGF-β		Th1

 Table 1. T-helper cell subtypes classified by their cytokine production

Abbreviations: GATA, transcriptional factor binding to the nucleotide sequence element GATA; GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; T-bet, T-box transcription factor expressed in T-cells; TGF, transforming growth factor; TNF, tumour necrosis factor; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription. (Modified from Alam and Gorska 2003, Borish and Steinke 2003).

#### **B-lymphocytes**

B-lymphocytes develop from the same pluripotent stem cells as T-cells, but they mature in the bone marrow. B-cell recognises antigen with antibody molecules as its receptor. Before they encounter antigen, B-cells coexpress immunoglobulin M (IgM) and IgD antibodies on their cell surface, but as they mature they switch to the use of IgG, IgA or IgE surface receptors. When the B-cells are activated they proliferate and differentiate into plasma cells that secrete antibody which has the same specificity as that of the epitope bound cell-surface receptor. The plasma cells have a half-life of only a few days, but part of them further differentiate into long-lived memory cells (Brandtzaeg et al. 1989b, Farstad et al. 2000).

In the Peyer's patch the antigen is presented by B-cells, dendritic cells or macrophages to T-cells and the induction of IgA occurs. When CD40 ligand on activated T-cell is bound to its receptor, CD40, on the surface of the B-cell, an activation signal is mediated in the B-cell and immunoglobulin class switching starts. Various cytokines secreted by the T-cell also help in the activation of the B-cell. IL-4 induces B-cell switch to IgE and IgG4 (Pene et al. 1988), whereas TGF- $\beta$  in combination with IL-10 induces switch to IgA1 and IgA2 (Defrance et al. 1992). Following IgA switch the B-cells migrate from the PP into the lamina propria, similarly to T-cells, where the final maturation of IgA B-cells into plasma cells occurs. It has been shown that production of IgA correlates with the presence of antigen-specific Th2 cells in the gut mucosa. Thus, mucosal IgA responses probably require Th2, but not Th1

responses. B-cells can, on the other hand, also influence the differentiation of Th1 vs. Th2 cells by their own cytokine secretion (Harris et al. 2000).

The humoral immune response in the GALT is characterised by the production of secretory IgA (Mestecky et al. 1991). B-cells comprise about 15-40% of mononuclear cells in the normal small intestinal lamina propria. Most of them are IgA producing, but low numbers of IgG and IgM plasma cells are also present (Savilahti 1972, Farstad et al. 2000). Two distinct IgA subclasses exist, IgA1 and IgA2. IgA1 predominates in the proximal and IgA2 in the distal part of the intestine (Brandtzaeg et al. 1989b).

#### **Epithelial cells**

The mucosal surface is covered with a single layer of polarised epithelial cells, with undifferentiated, actively proliferating cells at the crypt bottom and mature, absorptive villous enterocytes at the villous surface. In addition to its barrier function and nutrient uptake, the intestinal epithelial cell has a variety of immunologic functions (reviewed in Pitman and Blumberg 2000). The epithelial cells play a crucial role in the uptake and transport of secretory IgA into the lumen (Mestecky et al. 1991), and they have been shown to express a variety of cytokines, such as IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-8, IL-10 (Lundqvist et al. 1996, Autschbach et al. 1998, Daig et al. 2000). Epithelial cells also express receptors for a variety of cytokines, e.g. IL-1R, IL-2R, IL-4R, IL-7R, IL-9R and IL-15R.

The epithelial cells express MHC class II molecules and have also been shown to be able to process and present antigens to primed T-cells (reviewed in Hershberg and Mayer 2000). Epithelial cells express E-cadherin, which is an important ligand for the mucosal integrin  $\alpha_E\beta_7$  expressed on lymphocytes (Cepek et al. 1994). Furthermore, epithelial cells express or can be induced to express intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1, also known as CD54), lymphocyte function-associated antigen-3 (LFA-3), and B7-2 (CD86).

#### Macrophages

Monocytes and macrophages are the major APCs present in blood and peripheral lymph nodes. They are derived from myeloid progenitor cells in the bone marrow. After migration into tissues, monocytes differentiate into resident macrophages that may remain in the tissue for a period of days to months. The gastrointestinal tract contains also the largest number of macrophages of any tissue of the body (Stumbles et al. 1999). In addition to their antigenpresenting capability they activate T-cells through their production of accessory cytokines. The macrophages in the gut are quite heterogeneous and are more abundant in the small intestine than in the large intestine. By immunohistochemical studies they have been shown to locate in the villous core, the subepithelial space in the crypts, under the dome epithelium overlying Peyer's patches and in the patch itself (Golder and Doe 1983). Macrophages secrete cytokines like IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and TGF- $\beta$  and express receptors for IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, IL-10, and TNF- $\alpha$ . They also express various adhesion molecules, as well as HLA class II molecules (reviewed in Stumbles et al. 1999).

#### 2.3 Mucosal immune responses and oral tolerance

Oral exposure to dietary antigens by the immune system normally leads to antigen specific tolerance. This phenomenon has been termed oral tolerance and can be induced by the majority of soluble antigens (Mowat 2003). Substances that do not induce oral tolerance are bacterial polysaccharides and toxins that induce active immunity. The immunogenic immune response leads to the activation of Th1 or Th2 cells and is necessary for host defence against mucosal pathogens. The uptake of harmless antigens by APC and their presentation to T-cells is thought to lead to a short-lived Th1-type response, which is superseded by the induction of Th3 cells producing suppressor cytokines such as TGF- $\beta$ , IL-4 and IL-10 (Figure 3). The Th3 cells migrate to the lamina propria, where they regulate the potentially injurious Th1 response (reviewed in Strobel 2002, Mowat 2003). The release of suppressive cytokines may also induce "bystander" effects; their release into the microenvironment may suppress an ongoing immune response to an unrelated, but anatomically colocalised antigen. It has been postulated that suppressor cells are the major players in the development and maintenance of oral tolerance to food antigens as well as to normal gut flora (Sakaguchi 2000). A unique population of naturally occurring suppressive CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> T-cells was originally identified in mice (Sakaguchi et al. 1995), and later also in humans (Jonuleit et al. 2001). CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Tcells require cell to cell contact, and it was recently suggested that they block the proliferation of the responder cell by their surface membrane-bound TGF- $\beta$  (reviewed in Chen and Wahl 2003). It is still unknown how these CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> cells relate to *in vitro*-derived Tr1 and Th3 cells.

The above is however, a simplified picture of oral responsiveness and nonresponsiveness. Based on animal studies the nature and dose of the antigen, the route of entry, and the timing of the antigen encounter are critical in determining the immune reaction. In addition, the age of the host, genetic background, and pre-existing inflammation in the GALT further influence the outcome (Strobel 2002). Feeding low-doses of an antigen favours

active suppression caused by regulatory T-cells in the PP, while feeding high-doses favours clonal deletion or anergy (Strobel 2002). Clonal anergy (i.e. inactivation) of antigen specific T-cells develops when APCs do not provide a costimulatory signal. The anergic T-cells remain intact but are incapable of proliferating or secreting IL-2 (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Immunoregulation after orally administered antigen; induction of tolerance versus inflammation. In the physiological situation, mucosally encountered antigens induce oral tolerance of lamina propria and intraepithelial lymphocytes as there is no activating costimulatory signal on MHC class II positive antigen-presenting cells (APC). This leads to anergy or deletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, or to suppression of other antigen-reactive cells via the production of inhibitory cytokines (e.g. TGF- $\beta$ ) by Th3 regulatory cells. In contrast, in inflammation the antigen presentation in association with HLA class II antigens leads to activation of CD4<sup>+</sup> Th0 cells and the induction of Th1 and memory cell subtypes. (Modified from Strobel 2002).

Oral tolerance has been demonstrated to develop in humans to keyhole limpet hemocyanin (Husby et al. 1994), but otherwise the development of oral tolerance in humans is poorly documented. The normal response in Peyer's patches to food antigens (bovine  $\beta$ lactoglobulin) in humans was shown to be predominated by Th1-type cytokine secreting cells, which is contradictory to the findings in rodents that typically show a local Th2/Th3 response following oral antigen feeding (Nagata et al. 2000). Multiple sclerosis patients fed myelin basic protein had increased numbers of short lived T-cells producing TGF- $\beta$  in the peripheral blood than patients who received placebo, suggesting suppressor activity (Fukaura et al. 1996). Another study with healthy volunteers found no expression of IL-2 mRNA in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) when stimulated with ovalbumin or bovine  $\gamma$ -globulin, suggesting that anergy is the major mechanism for oral tolerance in humans (Zivny et al. 2001). This points to the fact that only little is known about the factors that influence the induction of oral tolerance in humans and that the results from animal studies can not directly be translated into human studies.

#### 2.4 Oral tolerance in autoimmune diseases

Autoimmune diseases result from a combination of genetic, immunologic, hormonal, and environmental factors. Studies over the past years have suggested that there is an association between a preceding inflammation and autoimmune disease. The factors that trigger inflammation could include viruses, bacterial infection and mechanical injury (reviewed by Wucherpfennig 2001, Bach 2003). Infectious agents may induce the breakdown of immunological tolerance and the appearance of autoreactivity. However, the specific relationship between infection and autoimmunity is still unclear. One of the mechanisms responsible could be molecular mimicry, i.e. the presence of shared epitopes between infectious and self antigens, whereby epitopes on microbial agents stimulate the production of antibodies and the proliferation of T-cells that react with self antigens (reviewed by Karlsen and Dyrberg 1998).

The responses in autoimmune disorders have features of a Th1-type response, suggesting that defective T-cell tolerance underlies the disorder (recently reviewed by Hill and Sarvetnick 2002). Tissue destruction in autoimmune diseases has been associated with the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-1. However, these cytokines have also shown ability to suppress inflammation by homeostatic mechanisms, indicating that the original distinction between Th1 cells as pathology producing and Th2 cells as therapeutic is not as clear cut as previously believed (Hill and Sarvetnick 2002). Allergies and atopic diseases represent an overly aggressive Th2-type response leading to hypersensitivity to a broad spectrum of normally encountered antigens. Previously it was thought that a Th2-type response protected against development of autoimmune diseases, but two recent epidemiological studies suggest that patients with a Th1 illness are more likely to

have a Th2 illness, suggesting that they have a common underlying aetiology (Kero et al. 2001, Simpson et al. 2002).

The therapeutic efficiency of oral tolerance induction in various animal models of human diseases is well documented in models of multiple sclerosis, diabetes, arthritis, myasthenia gravis, thyroidits, and colitis (reviewed by Krause et al. 2000, Spiekermann and Walker 2001). In addition, a recent study in an animal model of human coeliac disease showed that intranasal administration of recombinant alpha-gliadin downregulated the immune response to wheat gliadin in DQ8 transgenic mice (Senger et al. 2003). Initial studies of treatment of autoimmune diseases in humans have already been reported, but the results have been equivocal at best (Spiekermann and Walker 2001).

#### **3. ADHESION MOLECULES**

Trafficking of lymphocytes in the intestinal mucosa is a complex multi-step process. It is mediated by adhesion molecules, the homing receptors on lymphocytes and their counterreceptors, termed vascular addressins, on the endothelial cells in specialised postcapillary high endothelial venules. Different combinations of these adhesion molecules ensure tissue-specific migration. The selective recruitment of lymphocytes makes the immune response more efficient by directing the cells back to the location where they first encountered their antigen and where they thus are more likely to meet their specific antigen again (Picker 1994).

Cells can express adhesion molecules constitutively or they can be upregulated by cytokines, chemokines or other proinflammatory molecules such as complement activation products or microbial metabolites. In addition to mediating adhesion, some of these molecules are also costimulatory during intercellular signalling. According to their structure and function, adhesion molecules can be divided into three different families: selectins, integrins, and Ig superfamily adhesion molecules. The selectins participate in the process of leukocyte rolling along vascular endothelium, whereas the integrins and Ig superfamily adhesion molecules are important for stopping leukocyte rolling and mediating transendothelial migration (Springer 1994).

21

#### 3.1 Homing receptors in the gut

A number of cell adhesion molecules have been implicated in the selective recruitment of lymphocytes in the intestine, of which the  $\alpha_4\beta_7$ -MAdCAM-1 integrin-addressin pair is the most important (Salmi and Jalkanen 1999).

#### $\alpha_4\beta_7$ - and $\alpha_E\beta_7$ -integrins

The  $\beta_7$ -integrin chain can be expressed as a heterodimer with  $\alpha_4$  or  $\alpha_E$ .  $\alpha_4\beta_7$ -integrin is thought to be a key lymphocyte homing receptor in flat venules in lamina propria (Berlin et al. 1993). This integrin is thought to be the primary ligand for the MAdCAM-1 vascular receptor, which normally is expressed exclusively in the gastrointestinal mucosa (Berlin et al. 1993).  $\alpha_4\beta_7$ -integrin also binds to vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1).  $\alpha_4\beta_7$ -integrin is expressed on most resting lymphocytes and can be activated by a variety of stimuli, e.g. by chemokines. Both L-selectin and  $\alpha_4\beta_7$  participate in activation-independent rolling of lymphocytes on MAdCAM-1 (Parker et al. 1992, Erle et al. 1994, Rott et al. 1997). As many as 70% of human lamina propria lymphocytes and 30-50% of IELs are  $\alpha_4\beta_7$ -integrin positive (Farstad et al. 1996).

The  $\alpha_E\beta_7$ -integrin (HML-1, CD103) is found on up to 90% of IELs, and on 30-50% of lamina propria lymphocytes (Farstad et al. 1996). It binds to E-cadherin on the epithelial cells (Cepek et al. 1994) and may be critical in the epithelial localisation of IELs (Parker et al. 1992).

#### Mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1)

MAdCAM-1 is a key addressin for intestinal tissues (Streeter et al. 1988). It belongs to the immunoglobulin family and is related to other vascular adhesion molecules such as VCAM-1 and ICAM-1. MAdCAM-1 is selectively expressed on postcapillary venules in the Peyer's patches and in mesenteric lymph nodes, directing lymphocyte migration to intestinal lamina propria and into intestine-associated lymphoid tissues (Briskin et al. 1997). It has been shown to be involved e.g. in the lymphocyte migration into the inflamed pancreas in NOD mice (Yang et al. 1997).

#### Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1)

LFA-1 ( $\alpha_L\beta_2$ , CD11a/CD18) is a multifunctional adhesion molecule involved in the antigen presentation process and T-cell mediated killing (Fischer et al. 1986). It is expressed on most

circulating leukocytes, and is the only integrin that is significantly expressed on lymphocytes (Fischer et al. 1986). It is involved in the later steps of the adhesion cascade, which allows the cell to arrest on the endothelial cell and transmigrate into mucosal sites (Springer 1994). It binds to the intercellular adhesion molecules (ICAM-1, ICAM-2, and ICAM-3) on endothelial cells.

#### Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1)

ICAM-1 (CD54) is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily and widely expressed on vascular endothelial cells throughout the body (Boyd et al. 1988). The expression of ICAM-1 can be up-regulated by inflammatory mediators on a variety of cells, including intestinal epithelial cells and APCs. It mediates the later steps in the adhesion cascade by binding to LFA-1 (Springer 1994). The ICAM-1/LFA-1 interaction is critical for establishing a cell to cell contact between APC and T-cells, leading to T-cell activation (Springer 1994).

#### 3.2 Alterations in lymphocyte recruitment during intestinal inflammation

During inflammation the same principles apply to lymphocyte migration as during physiological circulation. Cytokines and other mediators affect the expression of adhesion molecules at site of inflammation, thus controlling the traffic of leukocytes to tissue. As some of the molecules are up-regulated fast, whereas the appearance of others may take hours or even days, it is thought that this determines the cell composition seen at sites of inflammation at different time points. Immunohistological studies of lymphocyte trafficking indicate that gut inflammation induces dramatic changes in the extent of lymphocyte recruitment to the intestinal mucosa. Severe inflammation seems to induce additional recruitment mechanisms, as well as a superinduction of MAdCAM-1 and ICAM-1 expression. However, recruitment of T-cells to the gastrointestinal tract remains largely selective for  $\alpha_4\beta_7^+$  cells also during inflammation (Briskin et al. 1997, Salmi and Jalkanen 1999).

## 4. MEDIATORS OF INFLAMMATION

Mediators of inflammation include cytokines, chemokines, complement activation products, immunoglobulins and acute-phase proteins.

#### 4.1 Cytokines

Cytokines are a large group of low-molecular-weight soluble proteins that act as messengers both within the local immune system and between the immune system and other systems in the body (Table 2). Which cytokines are produced in response to an immune insult determines initially whether the response is cytotoxic, humoral, cell-mediated, or allergic (reviewed in Borish and Steinke 2003). Cytokines mediate their effects through binding to their receptors, which activates intracellular signals (reviewed by Ho and Glimcher 2002). Any cytokine may have many different biological effects depending on the target cell, and different cytokines may have similar effects. Cytokines produced by leukocytes that affect mainly other white cells are termed interleukins. Cytokines are usually divided into proinflammatory (IL-1, IL-2, IL-6, IL-12, IL-18, IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF- $\alpha$ ), anti-inflammatory (IL-4 and IL-13), and immunosuppressive (IL-10, TGF- $\beta$ ), based on their activity.

#### IL-1 $\alpha$

Interleukin-1 $\alpha$  is a proinflammatory cytokine. It belongs to the IL-1 family, which consists of four peptides; IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra), and IL-18 (Dinarello 2002). IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  have similar biological effects and they bind with similar affinities to the two IL-1 receptors (Dinarello 1988). Type I receptor transduces the biological effects of IL-1, while the type II receptor, which is expressed on B-cells, neutrophils and bone marrow cells, has an anti-inflammatory function and is therefore referred to as a decoy receptor (Sims et al. 1993). Both receptors exist in membrane-bound and soluble forms. The naturally occurring IL-1Ra produced by monocytes can bind to IL-1 type I receptor with similar affinity as IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , without transducing the biological activity and hence functions as a cytokine antagonist (Dinarello 2002). IL-1Ra is secreted in inflammatory processes and is thought to modulate the harmful effects of IL-1 in the natural course of inflammation. The production of IL-1Ra is upregulated by many cytokines such as IL-4, IL-6, IL-13 and TGF- $\beta$ .

IL-1 $\alpha$  is mainly produced by monocytes and macrophages, but also by T-cells, B-cells, neutrophils, and endothelial cells. The production may be stimulated by endotoxins, other cytokines, microorganisms, and antigens. IL-1 $\alpha$ , as well as IL-1 $\beta$ , are synthesised as inactive precursors of 31 kDa (Dinarello 1988). The mature and active 17.5 kDa form is obtained through cleavage by a serine protease, termed interleukin converting enzyme (Cerretti et al. 1992).

Cytokine	Main cell source	Major activities
IL-1	Macrophages	Activates T-cells and macrophages, induces inflammatory response
IL-2	T-cells	Activates T-cells, NK cells and macrophages
IL-4	Th2 cells	Activates Th2 cells and IgE class switching, inhibits Th1 cells
IL-5	Th2 and mast cells	Induces differentiation of B-cells and eosinophils
IL-6	Th2 cells, macrophages, fibroblasts	Activates lymphocytes and antibody production, induces acute phase responses
IL-10	CD4 <sup>+</sup> T-cells	Inhibits Th1 cells and production of proinflammatory cytokines, stops antigen presentation
IL-12	Macrophages, B-cells, and dendritic cells	Induces Th1 cells and stimulates production of IFN- $\gamma$
IL-18	Macrophages	Activates Th1 cells
IFN-γ	Th1 and NK cells	Activates Th1 cells, macrophages, class II MHC and adhesion molecules. Inhibits Th2 cells
IFN-β	Fibroblasts, virally infected cells	Induces resistance of cells to viral infections
TNF-α	Macrophages and lymphocytes	Activates macrophages, PMN cells, and endothelial cells, promotes inflammation
TGF-β	T-, B- and mast cells, macrophages	Immunosuppression, stimulates collagen formation
GM-CSF	Lymphocytes and macrophages	Stimulates granulocytes and monocytes

Table 2. Major cytokines and their activities

Abbreviations: GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; NK, natural killer; PMN, polymorphonuclear; TGF, transforming growth factor; TNF, tumour necrosis factor. (Modified from Delves and Roitt 2000b, Borish and Steinke 2003).

IL-1 $\alpha$  has many biological functions. It activates T-cells by inducing the production of IL-2 and expression of IL-2 receptors. It also enhances the expression of LFA-1 on T-cells and stimulates the adherence of leukocytes to endothelial cells by upregulating ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin. IL-1 $\alpha$  acts also as a chemoattractant and acts on macrophages in an autocrine way to induce the synthesis of other proinflammatory products. IL-1 $\alpha$  is responsible for many of the symptoms associated with being ill. It interacts with the central nervous system to cause fever, lethargy, sleepiness and anorexia. It activates the synthesis of acute phase proteins, such as C-reactive protein and complement components by the liver. It also contributes to the hypotension of septic chock (reviewed by Dinarello 2002).

#### IL-2

IL-2 was originally designated as the "T-cell growth factor" because of its ability to stimulate proliferation of naïve T-cells (Morgan et al. 1976). IL-2 is produced by T-cells, mainly CD4<sup>+</sup>, but also by CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells, and natural killer (NK) cells (Malek 2003). It is the most powerful growth factor and activator for T-cells and promotes their maturation and the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . It also induces growth and differentiation of B-cells and activates macrophages, NK cells,  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> IELs and cytotoxic T-cells (Schimpl et al. 2002, Malek 2003). IL-2 has recently been suggested to have immunosuppressive effects as well by promoting the development of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory cells (Sakaguchi et al. 1995).

#### IL-2 receptor (CD25)

The IL-2 receptor is a multichain receptor composed of three subunits:  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ -chains which are members of the haematopoietic cytokine receptor family with Ig-like domains, and the structurally unrelated  $\alpha$ -chain (Waldmann 1991). The hematopoietin receptor superfamily includes receptors for erythropoietin, IL-3, IL-4, IL-7, GM-CSF, growth hormone and prolactin. The stimulation of T-cells by antigen in the presence of accessory signals it leads to the simultaneous secretion of IL-2 and the expression of high-affinity IL-2 receptors. The receptor is upregulated by antigen stimulation or by IL-2 on T-cells and IFN- $\gamma$  on macrophages. Therefore, CD25, which is the  $\alpha$ -chain of the IL-2 receptor, is widely used as an activation marker for mature lymphocytes.

#### IL-4

IL-4 is the major Th2 cytokine and produced by Th2 cells, NK cells, basophils, eosinophils and possibly mast cells (Paul and Ohara 1987, Lorentz and Bischoff 2001). IL-4 drives the initial differentiation of naïve Th0 cells toward a Th2-type and inhibits the proliferation of Th1 cells. It acts on B-cells to induce activation and differentiation, leading to the production of IgG<sub>1</sub> and IgE. As a result of its ability to stimulate IgE production it takes part in mast cell sensitisation and thus in allergy and in the defence against helminthie infections (Del Prete et al. 1988).

IL-4 has pleiotropic effects. IL-4 shares with IL-10 the anti-inflammatory features; they inhibit macrophage activation, T-cell proliferation, the production of IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6 by monocytes, and production of TNF- $\alpha$  and TNF- $\beta$  by T-cells. Therefore, IL-4 may play a role in suppressing inflammatory processes mediated by these cytokines. IL-4

increases the expression of MHC class II molecules, IL-1Ra and TNF-R. IL-4 production can be induced by IL-2 and IL-4, and suppressed by TGF- $\beta$  and IFN- $\gamma$  (Lorentz and Bischoff 2001). The IL-4 receptor is a heterodimer, of which one chain is shared with IL-2R and IL-13R.

#### IFN-γ

IFN- $\gamma$  is produced by Th1 cells and NK cells and is the major positive regulator of Th1-type response (reviewed in Farrar and Schreiber 1993). It belongs to the interferon family, also including IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$ , which are produced by a variety of cells upon virus infection (reviewed in Farrar and Schreiber 1993). Type I interferons (IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$ ) bind to a common receptor, which is distinct from the one used by the type II interferon, IFN- $\gamma$ . The receptor for IFN- $\gamma$  is present on almost all cell types except mature erythrocytes (Farrar and Schreiber 1993).

IFN- $\gamma$  stimulates antigen presentation, cytokine production and other effector functions of monocytes. This results in the accumulation of macrophages at the site of cellular immune responses and their activation to kill intracellular pathogens. IFN- $\gamma$  also stimulates killing by NK cells and neutrophils. Production of IFN- $\gamma$  is mainly induced by IL-12 and IL-18, which are secreted by monocytes and macrophages. IFN- $\gamma$  induces the expression of MHC class II molecules (Skoskiewicz et al. 1985) and ICAM-1. IFN- $\gamma$  stimulates the production of IgG2 and IgG3 subclass antibodies by B-cells. It also stimulates the production of IFN- $\beta$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-12 (Mühl and Pfeilschifter 2003). It suppresses Th2 responses by inhibiting IL-4 and IL-10 production by macrophages (Pene et al. 1988).

#### TNF-α

Tumour necrosis factor was originally described as a factor that could kill tumour cells *in vitro* (Old 1985). A mature 17 kDa form is cleaved from the membrane associated TNF- $\alpha$  form by TNF- $\alpha$  converting enzyme. In the circulation TNF- $\alpha$  is mostly detected in a trimeric form (reviewed in Papadakis and Targan 2000). TNF- $\alpha$  acts via two different receptors TNFRI (p55) and TNFRII (p75), which are encoded by separate genes. The receptors are shared by TNF- $\beta$  (LT, lymphotoxin), and the receptors have similar affinities for both TNF factors. The receptors belong to a family of proteins called the TNF and nerve growth factor receptor family, that includes the B-cell antigen CD40, CD27, and Fas antigen (reviewed in Papadakis and Targan 2000). Binding of Fas ligand to Fas initiates programmed cell death, apoptosis (Nagata and Golstein 1995).

TNF- $\alpha$  is produced mainly by macrophages and monocytes, and to a lesser extent by NK cells, T-cells, B-cells, and mast cells. Its major effect is promotion of inflammation and its effects overlap with the effects of IL-1. The responses include fever, shock, tissue injury, tumour necrosis, synthesis of collagen and proliferation of fibroblasts, and apoptosis. TNF- $\alpha$  also induces the production of IL-1 and IL-6. TNF- $\alpha$  induces ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression on endothelial cells, which attract circulating leukocytes to the inflammatory loci (Papadakis and Targan 2000).

The pathogenic role of TNF- $\alpha$  has been implicated in many chronic inflammatory processes such as coeliac disease, rheumatoid arthritis, graft-versus-host disease, and Crohn's disease (reviewed in Andreakos et al. 2002). Treatment with monoclonal antibodies against TNF- $\alpha$  (e.g. infliximab) has been beneficial in randomised, double-blinded clinical trials in rheumatoid arthritis and in severe cases of Crohn's disease (Andreakos et al. 2002). Recently, a successful treatment of a patient with refractory coeliac disease with TNF- $\alpha$  antibodies was also reported (Gillett et al. 2002).

#### 4.2 Chemokines and chemokine receptors

Chemokines are a group of small (8-14 kD) chemotactic cytokines that regulate the migration of leukocytes from the blood into tissues. Today there are some 50 chemokines and over 20 chemokine receptors identified (recently reviewed by Ono et al. 2003). Chemokines are classified according to the position of two cysteine (C) residues compared with the other amino acids (X) near the NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal. The four chemokine subgroups are CXC ( $\alpha$ -chemokines), CC ( $\beta$ -chemokines), C, and CX<sub>3</sub>C (Zlotnik and Yoshie 2000). Generally, CXC chemokines attract neutrophils, whereas the CC chemokines are less selective and attract lymphocytes, monocytes, basophils, and eosinophils.

Chemokines are produced by virtually all cells upon activation with proinflammatory cytokines or bacterial products. Chemokine receptors are found on all leukocytes. Each type of leukocyte bears chemokine receptors that guide it to particular chemokines in the tissue. Naïve T-cells express receptors CXCR4 and CCR7, whereas memory and effector cells express CCR2, CCR3, CCR4, CCR5, CCR6, CCR8, CXCR5, and CCR9 (reviewed in Rossi and Zlotnik 2000). Chemokine receptors are G-protein coupled, seven-transmembrane receptors. Chemokines and their receptors are not only involved in the control of hematopoietic cell migration and Th1 and Th2 development, but also in a wide variety of other physiological and pathological processes, such as lymphoid organ development, wound

healing, angiogenesis, and metastasis (Rossi and Zlotnik 2000). Recently it was discovered that Th1 and Th2 cells have a diverse expression of surface antigens; Th1 cells preferentially express the CXCR3 and CCR5 chemokine receptors, while Th2 cells express chemokine receptors CCR3, CCR4, and CCR8 (Annunziato et al. 1999).

#### CCR4

The chemokine receptor CCR4 was originally reported to be a selective marker for Th2 cells (Bonecchi et al. 1998, Sallusto et al. 1998), but recently it was shown to be expressed also on skin homing Th1 and Th2 cells (Campbell et al. 1999). Thereby, its role in Th2 responses still needs to be clarified. It is possible that whereas CCR3 may be a marker for IL-4 producing Th2 cell, CCR4 and CCR8 may be expressed more widely in Th2 polarised populations.

CCR-4 is a receptor for ligands CCL17 (TARC, thymus- and activation-regulated chemokine) and CCL22 (MDC, macrophage derived chemokine). CCR-4 is also expressed on NK cells and immature dendritic cells, and is involved in dendritic cell trafficking and T-cell migration from tissue to lymph nodes (Campbell et al. 1999). CCR-4 expressing cells are not found in the normal small intestine, but CCR-4 expressing cells have been described in inflammatory bowel disease patients (Agace et al. 2000).

#### CCR5

The chemokine receptor CCR5 is the receptor for ligands CCL3 (MIP-1 $\alpha$ , macrophage inflammatory protein 1 $\alpha$ ), CCL4 (MIP-1 $\beta$ , macrophage inflammatory protein 1 $\beta$ ) and CCL5 (RANTES, regulated on activation normal T-expressed and presumably secreted). The expression of CCR5 is biased to Th1 cells (Bonecchi et al. 1998, Loetscher et al. 1998, Sallusto et al. 1998). It is also expressed on monocytes and dendritic cells, and involved in the migration of Th1 cells and macrophages to sites of inflammation.

Normal small intestinal lymphocytes both in the epithelium and in the lamina propria have been shown to express CCR5 and CXCR3, but not CCR4 (Agace et al. 2000). CCR-5 was also expressed on peripheral blood lymphocytes expressing the  $\beta_7$ -integrin, suggesting a role for CCR-5 in the selective migration of lymphocytes to the intestine (Agace et al. 2000).

# 5. CLINICAL ASPECTS OF IMMUNOLOGIC INFLAMMATION IN THE SMALL INTESTINE

Immunologically mediated enteropathies consists of a group of different diseases that are characterised by a varying degree of villous destruction in the small intestine. Although the underlying immune mechanisms differ in the various conditions, they share a final effector pathway: activated T-cells producing cytokines that ultimately affect the villous architecture. In agreement with this, activated T-cells have been shown to cause villous atrophy in cultured explants of human foetal small intestine (MacDonald and Spencer 1988). The prototypic disorder in this group is coeliac disease (CD).

#### 5.1 Coeliac disease

Coeliac disease is a chronic autoimmune disease in the small intestine that is triggered by dietary gluten (Farrell and Kelly 2002). Previously the prevalence of coeliac disease was estimated to be 1:1000, but screening studies identifying asymptomatic CD patients report prevalences of 1:99-1:300 in Europe (Catassi et al. 1994, Collin et al. 1997, Johnston et al. 1997, Mäki et al. 2003). Recent screening studies suggest that the rate may be the same in the USA (Not et al. 1998, Fasano et al. 2003). CD has a strong genetic predisposition. Approximately 90% of CD patients carry the HLA class II HLA-DQ2 heterodimer (DQA1\*05-DQB1\*02), and most of the remaining patients carry HLA-DQ8 (DQA1\*0301-DQB1\*0302) (Sollid 2002). However, other genetic factors are involved because up to 35% of the Caucasian population express HLA-DQ2. The disease risk is approximately 10% in healthy first-degree relatives of CD patients (Mäki et al. 1991, Mustalahti et al. 2002) and the concordance between monozygotic twins has been suggested to be as high as 75-80% (Hervonen et al. 2000, Greco et al. 2002).

Dermatitis herpetiformis (DH), a blistering skin disease with pathognomic granular IgA deposits in the skin, is one manifestation of CD (Fry et al. 1973). In most of the patients with DH, villous atrophy identical with that of CD is found, although it is mostly less severe and affects a shorter length of intestine than CD (Fry et al. 1973, Reunala et al. 1984).

#### Symptoms and diagnosis

The spectrum of coeliac disease has widened from the classical form of steatorrhoea and malabsorption in infants, towards milder forms in older children and adults. Paediatric patients may present with impaired growth, anaemia, or pubertial delay and totally lack

gastrointestinal symptoms. The diagnosis is increasingly made in adults, who may present with diarrhoea, flatulence, weight loss, or only with minor abdominal discomfort.

A variety of diseases has been reported to occur in association with CD. There is a well-established association between CD and type 1 diabetes (T1D) (Savilahti et al. 1986) and selective IgA deficiency (Savilahti et al. 1985, Collin et al. 1992). Other diseases associated with CD and DH are autoimmune thyroiditis, pernicious anaemia, Sjögren's syndrome, Addison's disease, rheumatoid arthritis, lupus erythematosus, sarcoidosis, vitiligo, and alopecia areata (Reunala and Collin 1997, Kaukinen et al. 1999). CD may also be associated with neurological symptoms, of which the most common were neuropathy, memory impairment and cerebellar ataxia in a Finnish adult cohort (Luostarinen et al. 1999). Patients with these associated conditions are often symptomless (called the silent form of CD) and are found only through screening. Untreated CD has also been associated with a strict gluten-free diet (Swinson et al. 1983).

The revised diagnostic criteria for childhood CD according to ESPGHAN are characteristic villous atrophy with crypt hyperplasia and lymphocytic intraepithelial infiltration in a small intestinal biopsy, and clear improvement or normalisation of serology and symptoms when on a gluten-free diet (Walker-Smith et al. 1990). CD patients on a gluten containing diet have increased levels of serum antibodies specific for various antigens, including gluten and the autoantigen tissue transglutaminase (tTG) (reviewed by Farrell and Kelly 2002). IgA antibodies against tTG are highly specific and sensitive for coeliac disease, and thereby greatly assist in the diagnosis of CD, as well as in monitoring the response to a gluten-free diet (Dieterich et al. 1997, Sulkanen et al. 1998).

Patients with DH have the same association to HLA-DQ and the same autoantibodies as CD patients. The rash in DH is located most typically to the elbows, the knees and the buttock. The diagnosis is based on the presence of granular IgA deposits at the dermalepidermal junction in the skin by immunofluorescence staining. Like the enteropathy, the skin lesions respond to a gluten-free diet, although it usually takes months of strict diet before the symptoms are resolved, and in many patients the gluten-free diet is accompanied by treatment with the anti-inflammatory agent diaminodiphenylsulfone (dapsone) (Fry et al. 1973, Reunala et al. 1984).

#### Potential coeliac disease

Coeliac disease can be symptomless, or clinically silent (Ferguson et al. 1993). It has also been shown that coeliac disease can develop on previously normal mucosa (Weinstein 1974, Mäki et al. 1990, Collin et al. 1993, Troncone 1995, Corazza et al. 1996, Troncone et al. 1996b). Patients with such a latent form of CD express a normal jejunal mucosal architecture while on normal gluten-containing diet, but will later be found to have a flat mucosa, which heals on a gluten-free diet (Mäki et al. 1990, Corazza et al. 1996, Troncone et al. 1996b). Latent CD can be suspected in patients with positive coeliac autoantibodies and increased density of  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  IELs (Holm et al. 1992, Arranz et al. 1994, Kaukinen et al. 1998). Additional histological changes compatible with overt CD have also been shown to develop in these individuals when challenged with gliadin orally or rectally (Troncone et al. 1996a).

Since the term latent CD can be given only retrospectively it has been suggested that this "precoeliac" state should instead be named potential CD (Ferguson et al. 1993). Potential CD can be found in healthy family members of patients with CD or DH (Mäki et al. 1990, Mustalahti et al. 2002), and in patients with type 1 diabetes or other CD associated diseases. The presence of autoantibodies seems to predict the development of CD (Collin et al. 1993, Troncone 1995, Kaukinen et al. 1998). In follow-up studies it has been observed that potential CD progresses to overt CD in up to half of the patients (Collin et al. 1993, Kaukinen et al. 1998).

#### Molecular pathogenesis

Current concepts of the pathogenesis of CD include activation of  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells in the lamina propria and the production of antibodies against a complex of gliadin peptide and tissue transglutaminase. A key observation was that the T-cells recognise modified, deamidated gluten peptides that are presented by DQ2 or DQ8 molecules, and that it is the enzyme tissue transglutaminase that performs the deamidation (Molberg et al. 1998). Tissue transglutaminase is an intracellular enzyme that is released from fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and inflammatory cells upon mechanical injury or inflammation. When secreted, tTG can crosslink glutamine-rich proteins, particularly gluten from wheat. At acidic pH tTG can deamidate the glutamine residues in gluten to glutamic acid. This posttranslational modification enhances binding of gluten epitopes to HLA-DQ2 and -DQ8 and potentiates their ability to stimulate T-cells (Molberg et al. 1998). Recently, it was shown that a 33-mer peptide fragment from gluten is resistant to digestive processing by proteases and that this fragment is an extremely potent antigen for T-cell stimulation. The same fragment was shown to react with tTG with higher affinity than any other peptide so far (Shan et al. 2002).

The mechanisms that produce the lesions in CD are so far not well known. IELs might be involved in the lesion formation, but to date, there are no reports of IELs that recognise gluten in CD. The villous atrophy is instead thought to arise because of activation of IFN- $\gamma$ secreting Th1 cells, that initiates production of inflammatory cytokines (Nilsen et al. 1995, Nilsen et al. 1998). Paradoxically, the major Th1 inducing cytokine, IL-12, has not been detected in the CD mucosa (Nilsen et al. 1998). IFN-a or IL-18 dependent Th1 activation has been suggested in recent studies (Monteleone et al. 2001, Salvati et al. 2002), and IFN- $\alpha$  has also been implicated in the disease process as it has been documented that patients receiving IFN- $\alpha$  therapy spontaneously develop CD (Monteleone et al. 2001). Th1 cells and macrophages have also been shown to secrete increased amounts of TNF- $\alpha$  in the coeliac mucosa (Kontakou et al. 1995a, Nilsen et al. 1998), which also plays a role in the upregulation of the expression of matrix metalloproteinases and epithelial cell death (Pender et al. 1997). Increased synthesis of matrix metalloproteinases, which degrade the lamina propria matrix, is postulated to be one of the factors causing villous atrophy. Another suggested factor involved in the mucosal remodelling and crypt hyperplasia is keratinocyte growth factor, which was shown to be overexpressed in CD mucosa (Salvati et al. 2001). However, the expression of cytokines has not been determined in the potential form of CD, which could be more informative on the factors causing villous atrophy since the mucosa is still intact at this stage.

#### 5.2 The gut immune system in type 1 diabetes

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease that results from the destruction of insulinsecreting pancreatic islet  $\beta$ -cells by autoreactive T-cells and their mediators (Atkinson and Maclaren 1994). Although the exact sequence of events leading to the autoimmune destruction of islet  $\beta$ -cells is currently not completely known, it is well established that genetic, environmental, and immunological factors contribute to the pathogenesis (reviewed in Åkerblom et al. 2002). Finland has the highest incidence of T1D in the world with over 50 new cases / 100 000 children / year. In the Finnish population, the susceptibility for T1D is strongly associated with the HLA-DQB1\*0302 allele (DQ8), and weakly with the DQB1\*02 allele (DQ2) (Ilonen et al. 1996). Strong protection from the disease has been associated with the DQB1\*0602 and weak protection with the DQA1\*0301 allele (Nejentsev et al. 1999). Although the susceptibility is linked to the MHC locus, MHC-identical siblings are only 13% concordant for T1D. T1D and CD share the same high-risk HLA-DQ2 genotype (DQA1\*05 and DQB1\*02). Screening of patients with T1D has shown that the prevalence of CD among children and adults with T1D is as high as 2-8% (Saukkonen et al. 1996, Carlsson et al. 1999, Hansen et al. 2001, Barera et al. 2002). T1D was on the other hand found in 1.0% of DH patients and in 5.5% of CD patients in a Finnish cohort (Reunala and Collin 1997).

## Activation of the gut immune system in T1D

In addition to the association with CD, recent data suggest that the gut immune system plays a role in the development of T1D. Several serological studies on patients with newly diagnosed T1D have reported enhanced immune responses to cow's milk proteins (Savilahti et al. 1988, Karjalainen et al. 1992, Cavallo et al. 1996, Vaarala et al. 1996), and studies on infants at genetic risk of T1D indicate that primary immunisation to insulin occurs by exposure to dietary cow's milk insulin (Vaarala et al. 1998, Vaarala et al. 1999, Paronen et al. 2000). In one study glutamic acid decarboxylase-specific T-cells in patients with T1D were shown to express the gut-associated homing receptor  $\alpha_4\beta_7$ -integrin (Paronen et al. 1997), which suggests that autoreactive T-cells in type 1 diabetes may recirculate between the gut and the pancreas. Accordingly, T-cells derived from the human diabetic pancreas have been demonstrated to express the gut-associated homing receptor  $\beta_7$ -integrin (Hänninen et al. 1993). In addition, enterovirus and rotavirus infections have been associated with the development of islet cell autoimmunity (Honeyman et al. 2000, Lönnrot et al. 2000). Both types of viruses replicate in the gut and cause stimulation of the gut immune system.

Further evidence for a link between the gut immune system and type 1 diabetes comes from experimental studies. Diet has been shown to modify the development of autoimmune diabetes in biobreeding rats and nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice, which are animal models of human T1D (Elliott et al. 1988, Scott et al. 1997, Scott et al. 2002). T-cells infiltrating the pancreatic islets have been revealed to express the gut-associated homing receptor  $\beta_{7}$ integrin, and antibodies that block this receptor or its endothelial ligand MAdCAM-1 inhibit the development of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice (Hänninen et al. 1996, Yang et al. 1997). Moreover, autoimmune diabetes has been transferred to the recipients by mesenterial lymphocytes from young NOD mice, indicating that diabetogenic T-cells are present in the gut immune system (Hänninen et al. 1998). Finally, feeding autoantigen induces the development of autoreactive cytotoxic lymphocytes and the acceleration of autoimmune diabetes (Blanas et al. 1996, Bellmann et al. 1998). However, it is not clear how an inflammation in the gut is associated with the process that destroys  $\beta$ -cells in the pancreas, and only one study has investigated the immunologic markers in the intestine of T1D patients so far. In this study an increased expression of HLA class II antigens in the villous epithelium and an increased density of  $\alpha_4\beta_7$  expressing cells were found in the lamina propria, reflecting a stage of inflammation even in structurally normal small intestine of paediatric T1D patients when compared to controls (Savilahti et al. 1999). The role of these inflammatory changes in the intestinal mucosa of patients with T1D is unclear and further evidence for the involvement of the gut immune system in T1D is needed.

#### Th1/Th2 paradigm in T1D

Th1 cells have been suggested to be responsible for the initiation of the destruction of  $\beta$ -cells in the pancreas. The paradigm of T1D as a Th1 cell mediated autoimmune disease is mainly based on data from the animal models of the disease. In NOD mice and biobreeding rats the islet infiltrating lymphocytes show IFN- $\gamma$  expression, which is reduced when the development of autoimmune diabetes is prevented by different interventions. IL-4 on the other hand protected against insulitis and diabetes in young NOD mice (reviewed by Rabinovitch and Suarez-Pinzon 2003). It is unclear if Th1 cells mediate  $\beta$ -cell destruction in human T1D as well. Systemic deviation to Th1-type response has, however, been suggested in human studies. Increased secretion of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  and low IL-4 production by mitogen stimulated PBMCs has been reported in patients with T1D (Berman et al. 1996, Kallmann et al. 1997).

#### 5.3 Intestinal graft-versus-host disease

Allogeneic stem cell transplantation (SCT) is increasingly used to treat both malignant and nonmalignant diseases, including acute and chronic leukaemias, lymphomas, aplastic anaemia, and severe immunodeficiencies (Ferrara and Deeg 1991, Gratwohl et al. 2001). Among the complications of SCT, graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) is one of the major sources of morbidity and mortality (Ferrara and Deeg 1991). Approximately 10-50% of patients with sibling (Klingebiel and Schlegel 1998, Saarinen-Pihkala et al. 2001) and over 60% with matched unrelated donor transplantation (Saarinen-Pihkala et al. 2001) have signs of acute GvHD. The main target organs are the intestine, skin and liver. Symptoms of

intestinal GvHD include diarrhoea, abdominal pain, nausea, and intestinal bleeding (Klingebiel and Schlegel 1998, Iqbal et al. 2000).

The histology of acute intestinal GvHD progresses in experimental studies from proliferation of epithelial cells to villous atrophy, with single crypt epithelial cell apoptosis being the hallmark of GvHD (Mowat et al. 1988). Thus, the intestinal damage in murine acute GvHD resembles the histological changes in human CD. The knowledge of the histopathology in human intestinal acute GvHD is mostly based on studies on patients with a severe disease or end-stage enteropathy (Snover et al. 1985, Mowat 1997, Iqbal et al. 2000). Little is known about the histological picture during the early stages of human intestinal GvHD. The histology has been prospectively documented in one clinical study, which only evaluated rectal biopsies (Epstein et al. 1980). In this study the effect of cytoreductive treatment on the rectal mucosa resolved within 3 weeks after SCT (Epstein et al. 1980).

#### Immunopathogenesis of GvHD

Donor T-cells are critical in the induction of acute GvHD, because depletion of T-cell from the bone marrow graft prevents GvHD, but also increases the risk of leukaemic relapse (Ferrara and Deeg 1991). The donor T-cells do not just encounter a foreign environment in the host, but also one that has been altered by the underlying disease and the treatment; all these promote activation of inflammatory cells as described below.

Most of the information on the pathophysiology of GvHD comes from animal studies. Based on these studies immunopathogenesis of GvHD can be divided into three phases: 1) host conditioning, 2) donor T-cell activation, and 3) inflammatory effectors (Hill and Ferrara 2000). In phase 1, host conditioning including chemotherapy with or without total body irradiation leads to damage of host tissue. This leads to activation of host cells and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1, which increase the expression of adhesion molecules, MHC antigens, and co-stimulatory molecules. Irradiation also induces apoptosis of endothelial cells and damages epithelial cells in the gastrointestinal tract, which allows microbial products to enter into the blood circulation. This further amplifies the GvHD reaction (Mowat et al. 1988). In phase 2, host alloantigens activate donor T-cells that differentiate into Th1- and/or Th2-type subsets. Th1 cytokines are preferentially produced in acute GvHD and have been implicated to be responsible for GvHD by inducing cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and NK cell responses, as well as by activating monocytes to produce IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$ . Phase 3 of acute GvHD culminates in the host-cell destruction by cytolytic effects of these activated cells and inflammatory mediators like IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$  and NO. The damage in
the target organs includes apoptosis of epithelial cells and infiltration of immune cells (Hill and Ferrara 2000).

In humans, the relevance of the data from experimental studies is, however, far from clear. The early phases of the process are most likely clinically silent and the clinical diagnosis is made at the late phase of the target-organ damage. Evidence from clinical studies supports the concept that inflammatory cytokines, preferably TNF- $\alpha$ , and gastrointestinal tract damage are important mediators of clinical GvHD as well. Increased serum levels of TNF- $\alpha$  preceded severe acute GvHD with a latency of 25-54 days in adult SCT patients (Holler et al. 1990), and application of a monoclonal antibody neutralising TNF- $\alpha$  (infliximab) postponed the onset of acute GvHD after SCT in a clinical trial (Holler et al. 1995). However, the expression of cytokines in acute intestinal GvHD at the tissue level has not been characterised in humans. Clearly, studies on human tissues are needed to verify the proposed immunopathogenesis of GvHD.

# 5.4 Food allergy

The prevalence of food allergy is estimated as high as 8% in children less than 3 years of age in the Western world. The prevalence has increased during the last three decades. The majority of young children have a classic type I, IgE-mediated immediate immune response. In delayed-type food allergy, intestinal symptoms appear over several hours or even days after exposure to the allergen, and the reaction is non-IgE mediated (reviewed in Helm and Burks 2000). Immune mechanisms causing delayed food allergy are not well defined, but at least in the chronic entropathy T-cells play a role. Food allergy is most commonly caused by proteins of cow's milk, egg, peanuts, fish, and wheat (Sampson 1999).

Enteropathy associated with allergy to cow's milk, causing chronic diarrhoea and malabsorption was described 40 years ago (reviewed by Savilahti 2000). This form of food hypersensitivity resembles clinically and pathologically CD, except that there is no genetic determinant known so far. It seems to develop because of the immaturity of mucosal immune system on early exposure to cow's milk and ameliorates as the patient's immune system develops. The syndrome is cured by elimination of cow's milk from the diet.

## Th1/Th2 paradigm in food allergy

In early infancy many of the mechanisms involved in the development of oral tolerance are impaired. The permeability of the gut to macromolecules is increased (Kuitunen et al. 1994),

enabling antigens to pass the mucosal barrier and impairing the normal antigen handling (Sanderson and Walker 1993). The immune system is immature, with few IgA-producing cells and a skewing of the Th1/Th2 ratio towards a Th2 dominance (reviewed by Holt and Jones 2000). The Th2 dominance continue in infants during the first year of life, whereafter a Th1 dominance develops. However, several studies have shown that children with atopy or cow's milk allergy continues to show a Th2 skewing with a high production of IL-4 and IL-5, and low production of IFN- $\gamma$  by the peripheral blood leukocytes (Hill et al. 1993, Suomalainen et al. 1993, André et al. 1996, Prescott et al. 1998). IL-4 is the main cytokine that promotes IgE production (Del Prete et al. 1988), suggesting that aberrant cytokine profiles play a central role in the pathogenesis of IgE-mediated food allergy.

Although cytokine imbalance has also been proposed to be important in the pathogenesis of delayed-type food allergy (Hill et al. 1993, Sütas et al. 1997), only one study had addressed this in the gut prior to our study. Hauer et al. showed an elevation in the number of cells secreting IFN- $\gamma$  and, to a lesser extent, IL-4, isolated from duodenal biopsies of 14 infants with cow's milk sensitive enteropathy by enzyme-linked immunoabsorbant spot technique (Hauer et al. 1997). Cells secreting IFN- $\gamma$  were ten times more abundant than cells secreting IL-4, indicating a Th1 dominance. However, by RT-PCR they found higher expression of IL-4 and IL-10 mRNA than of IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA (Hauer et al. 1997).

#### Symptoms and diagnosis of food allergy

The evidence of IgE mediation in acute food allergy is well established. It most commonly manifests as erythematous and urticarial skin symptoms, but acute gastrointestinal symptoms often associate these or may occur alone. The gastrointestinal symptoms of delayed food allergy are chronic diarrhoea, more rarely vomiting or constipation, and the associating skin symptom is chronic eczema. Food allergy may also induce respiratory symptoms such as allergic rhinitis, wheezing or cough.

The diagnosis of food allergy is based on the disappearance of symptoms when on an elimination diet for at least 2 weeks, followed by their reappearance during a challenge test and clinical response to a renewed elimination diet (diagnostic criteria by ESPGHAN (ESPGHAN 1992). The food challenge should be double-blind placebo-controlled in order to not cause any bias. No clinical symptoms or laboratory test can predict the challenge outcome.

# 6. MICROSCOPICAL FINDINGS IN IMMUNOLOGIC INFLAMMA-TIONS

# 6.1 Morphology of the small intestine

## Histopathology

The mucosal atrophy in coeliac disease develops through various stages of severity, which according to the classification by Marsh can be graded from type 1 to type 3 lesions (Marsh 1992). In the infiltrative (type 1) lesion, the mucosal architecture is still normal, but there is an increased number of intraepithelial lymphocytes, especially  $\gamma\delta$ TCR bearing IELs. In the hyperplastic stage (type 2), the villi are still of normal height, but the crypts are elongated due to increased generation of immature epithelial cells in the crypts in order to compensate for the increased epithelial cell loss on the villi. This stage progresses to the destructive (type 3) lesions, which show the typical flat mucosa with crypt hyperplasia. The same histopathology as for type 1-type 3 has also been documented in graft-versus-host disease (Mowat 1997), and in cow's milk (Walker-Smith et al. 1978, McCalla et al. 1980, Kuitunen et al. 1982) or soy allergy (Perkkiö et al. 1981). The absence of ulcerations and transmural thickening distinguishes the cellular infiltrate in these enteropathies from that in Crohn's disease.

## Intraepithelial lymphocytes

In coeliac disease the density of CD3<sup>+</sup> IELs is increased (Marsh 1992, Järvinen et al. 2003). The increase is even more pronounced in the population of intraepithelial cells bearing the  $\gamma\delta$ TCR, which constitutes up to one third of the IELs in coeliac lesions (Savilahti et al. 1990). In normal small intestine, there are 10-20 IELs per 100 epithelial cells (Ferguson and Murray 1971), which correlates with a density of 10-50 IELs per mm of surface epithelium (Savilahti et al. 1990). The increased density of  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> IELs is considered the hallmark of CD (Halstensen et al. 1989, Spencer et al. 1989). The density of  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> cells is dependent on gluten, while the density of  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> cells has been reported to remain increased even during a gluten-free diet (Savilahti et al. 1990, Savilahti et al. 1992, Savilahti et al. 1997, Järvinen et al. 2003). However, the frequency of  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> IELs has also been reported to decrease on gluten-free diet (Spencer et al. 1989, Iltanen et al. 1999).

The increased density of IELs is not specific for CD. IELs are also increased in food allergy enteropathies in humans (Perkkiö et al. 1981, Kuitunen et al. 1982, Kokkonen et al. 2000) and in murine GvHD (Mowat et al. 1988). In patients with severe food allergy enteropathy studies have also shown a moderately increased density of  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  intraepithelial

lymphocytes (Spencer et al. 1991, Kokkonen et al. 2000). An increase of  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  IELs was also documented in school-aged children with slow developing mild gastrointestinal symptoms upon cow's milk challenge (Kokkonen et al. 2001a).

# Lamina propria infiltration

The volume of the lamina propria is enlarged in the jejunal specimens of patients with untreated CD (Marsh 1992). The mature lesions of CD contain a mixture of T- and B-cells and macrophages. There is a marked accumulation of IgA-, IgM and IgG-producing plasma cells (Savilahti 1972). The absolute number of T-cells is increased in coeliac lamina propria (Beckett et al. 1996, Arató et al. 1998), with twice as many T-cells bearing the  $\gamma\delta$ TCR than observed in normal mucosa (Savilahti et al. 1990). Most of the T-cells are still  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> (Halstensen et al. 1989, Spencer et al. 1991), and there is no change in the CD4/CD8 ratio. A larger proportion of T-cells, especially in the CD4<sup>+</sup> cell population, show activation markers (CD45R0, various integrins and CD25). Nevertheless, few bear markers associated with cell proliferation (reviewed by MacDonald and Spencer 1990).

In food allergy, the numbers of lymphocytes, plasma cells and eosinophils are increased in the lamina propria. Early studies on immunoglobulins in the intestines of patients with this syndrome showed a strong infiltration of IgA and IgM containing cells at the time of clinical reaction either to cow's milk or soy (reviewed by Savilahti 2000). CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells predominate in the lamina propria, and many CD4<sup>+</sup> cells are also HLA-DR<sup>+</sup>, suggesting that they are activated. The number of these cells diminished during a cow's milk elimination diet (Nagata et al. 1995).

#### 6.2 Production of cytokines

Since the discovery of cytokines they have been the focus of extensive research in various inflammatory conditions of the intestine. Still, there is no comprehensive data on cytokine expression in the normal human small intestine. Probably the best indication of the cytokine secretion by normal lamina propria T-cells so far comes from three studies where freshly isolated human lamina propria T-cells were shown to spontaneously secrete excessive IFN- $\gamma$ , followed by weaker secretion of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10 (Hauer et al. 1997, Carol et al. 1998, Hauer et al. 1998). Freshly isolated PP T-cells also contained more IFN- $\gamma$  than IL-4 secreting cells, but the expression of IL-4 and IL-10 mRNA was higher than the expression of IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA (Hauer et al. 1998). Lamina propria cells, but not epithelial cells, secrete IL-

1 (Youngman et al. 1993), whereas freshly isolated IEL secrete IFN- $\gamma$  (Lundqvist et al. 1996, Carol et al. 1998). Thus, lamina propria T-cells secrete spontaneously far more cytokines than peripheral blood T-cells.

An early study on cytokine production by lamina propria lymphocytes in coeliac disease did not detect increased IFN- $\gamma$  (al-Dawoud et al. 1992), whereas more recent studies all suggest a Th1 dominated response. Studies with intact jejunal biopsies from CD patients have shown increased expression of IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA (Kontakou et al. 1994, Lahat et al. 1999), and increased IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA production by gluten-specific intestinal T-cell clones (Nilsen et al. 1995, Troncone et al. 1998). After a wheat peptide challenge an increase in the number of cells expressing mRNA for IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-6 was observed in all four investigated patients, whereas mRNA for TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-2 was increased in two out of four patients (Kontakou et al. 1995b). In addition, increased IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA is seen after *ex vivo* gliadin challenge of small intestinal biopsies of CD patients (Nilsen et al. 1998, Troncone et al. 1998). Furthermore, anti-IFN- $\gamma$  treatment in small intestinal organ cultures of CD patients *in vitro* inhibits the histological changes induced by gliadin sensitive T-cells (Przemioslo et al. 1995).

Some gluten specific T-cell clones from coeliac intestinal lesions secrete TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, and TGF- $\beta$ , although much less than IFN- $\gamma$  (Nilsen et al. 1995, Troncone et al. 1998). Studies with intact biopsies have also reported a somewhat higher frequency of TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA positive specimens in active CD (Lahat et al. 1999), increased frequencies of TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells (Przemioslo et al. 1994, Kontakou et al. 1995a, Kontakou et al. 1995b), and sometimes increased mRNA levels after *ex vivo* challenge (Nilsen et al. 1998). Additionally, other macrophage-derived cytokines, such as IL-6 have been found in biopsy specimens from CD patients (Przemioslo et al. 1994, Kontakou et al. 1995a, Kontakou et al. 1995b).

Studies on IL-4 and IL-10 are contradictory. Increased mRNA production in CD biopsies was reported by one group for IL-10 but not for IL-4 (Lahat et al. 1999), while Nilsen et al. found increased IL-10 mRNA and protein, but no IL-4 (Nilsen et al. 1998), and Beckett et al. found no changes in either IL-4 or IL-10 by immunohistochemistry and in situ hybridisation (Beckett et al. 1996).

# 6.3 Expression of HLA class II antigens

MHC class II molecules are present in the epithelium of normal small intestine. Staining with antibodies against HLA-DR antigens has shown that positive expression in the normal small

intestine is restricted to the apical cytoplasm of the epithelial cells and that the intensity decreases from the top of the villous, leaving the crypts negative (Scott et al. 1980, Arnaud-Battandier et al. 1986, Ciclitira et al. 1986). In addition, capillary walls and mononuclear cells in the lamina propria stain positively (Scott et al. 1980). Staining with HLA-DP antibodies show a similar pattern, but the epithelial cells show a weaker staining than mononuclear cells (Marley et al. 1987, Mayer et al. 1991).

The expression of HLA-DR and –DP is increased in a number of diseases. In CD, the whole cytoplasm, as well as the basal surface of epithelial cells in the surface and crypt epithelium stain positively with HLA-DR (Arnaud-Battandier et al. 1986, Ciclitira et al. 1986, Kelly et al. 1988). HLA-DP stainings have shown an increased positive staining in both surface and crypt epithelium compared with control subjects (Marley et al. 1987, Kelly et al. 1988). The numbers of HLA-DR and -DP positive mononuclear cells in the lamina propria are also increased (Kelly et al. 1988). When on a gluten-free diet the staining of MHC class II molecules does not differ from that seen in controls (Arnaud-Battandier et al. 1986, Ciclitira et al. 1986, Arato et al. 1987). Increased staining has also been documented in first-degree relatives of CD patients (Holm et al. 1994). In addition to CD, increased expression of HLA-DR and –DP has been documented in the epithelium in Crohn's disease (Mayer et al. 1991), autoimmune enteropathy (Hill et al. 1991), in rat GvHD (Mason et al. 1981), and in jejunal biopsies of patients with T1D (Savilahti et al. 1999).

Despite numerous studies, positive staining for HLA-DQ in the normal (Marley et al. 1987, Kelly et al. 1988) or diseased small intestinal epithelium has not been shown (Kelly et al. 1988, Mayer et al. 1991, Schweizer et al. 1991, Holm et al. 1994, Klemola et al. 1995, Savilahti et al. 1999). The expression of HLA-DQ antigens has been confined solely to cells within the lamina propria, without any difference between control patients and patients with inflammatory diseases. The reason for absent HLA-DQ expression is unknown. Alternatives, like a too low sensitivity of the methods and antibodies used, as well as a posttranscriptional defect in HLA-DQ gene expression, have been suggested (Kelly et al. 1988, Mayer et al. 1991).

## 6.4 Proliferation and apoptosis of epithelial cells

The epithelial cells are produced in the crypts of Lieberkühn from progenitor cells and mature as they migrate up the crypt-villous axis. At the end of their 3-4 day-long life-span (Podolsky 1993), they undergo apoptosis and are shed into the gut lumen from the tip of the

villous (Ruemmele et al. 2002). Approximately 5-15% of the epithelial cells in the crypts are proliferating in the normal small intestine, as shown by immunohistochemical stainings with the antibody Ki-67 (Moss et al. 1996, Maiuri et al. 2001). Ki-67 is an antibody reacting with a protein in the nucleus of cells undergoing proliferation (Gerdes et al. 1983). In inflammatory states, the number of cells undergoing mitosis in the crypts is increased to compensate for the increased loss of surface epithelial cells. In CD, the epithelial cell renewal rate is increased as the result of both an increased mitosis rate and larger crypt cell compartment (Wright et al. 1973). In food allergy, an increased mitotic activity in the crypts, though of a moderate degree, has been documented as well (reviewed in Savilahti 2000).

Apoptosis is a programmed, noninflammatory form of cell death leading to the clearance of injured cells without disruption of tissue structure or function. The process leads to shrinkage and fragmentation of the cell and its nucleus and degradation of chromosomal DNA. Apoptosis is induced by diverse factors such as Fas-ligand, TNF, irradiation and genotoxic agents, such as anti-cancer drugs. In disease, apoptosis is an important mechanism for promoting resolution of inflammation and protecting against connective tissue formation by eliminating infiltrating leukocytes and proliferating cells (reviewed by Reed 2000).

Staining of apoptotic cells by in situ DNA 3'-end labelling (ISEL) (Gavrieli et al. 1992) shows that approximately 1-2% of the surface epithelial cells and 2-3% of crypt epithelial cells are undergoing apoptosis in the normal small intestine (Maiuri et al. 1997, Ciccocioppo et al. 2001, Maiuri et al. 2001). In CD the proportion of crypt and surface epithelial cells undergoing apoptosis is as high as 30-40%, while the percentage is normalised during gluten-free diet (Moss et al. 1996, Ciccocioppo et al. 2001, Maiuri et al. 2001).

# AIMS OF THE STUDY

The objective of this study was to evaluate the expression patterns of cytokines and immunologic markers in inflammatory disorders of the small intestine *in vivo*.

Immunologically mediated enteropathies consist of a group of different diseases that are characterised by varying degree of villous destruction in the small intestine. Characteristics of these diseases are excessive T-cell activation and production of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . The increased production of proinflammatory cytokines has been suggested to be one of the factors causing villous atrophy. However, the knowledge of intestinal expression of cytokines is mainly based on studies on overt CD. Knowledge of the intestinal expression of cytokines in GvHD was, prior to this study, based only on experimental studies. Furthermore, the expression of cytokines has not been determined in the potential form of CD, nor in other early and mild forms of these intestinal inflammations, such as mild forms of food allergy enteropathy. Since the mucosa is still intact in these disorders, it can be postulated that studying cytokines at this stage could be more informative on the role of cytokines in mediating chronical inflammation and villous atrophy.

Immunologic inflammation in the intestine may also play a central role in the development of autoimmune diseases. Based on experimental studies, the gut immune system seems to play a role in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes. In addition, immunologic changes have been observed in the small intestine of patients with T1D, which implies a role for the gut immune system in human T1D as well.

Therefore, the specific aims of this study were:

- 1) To characterise the possible T-cell activation and the cytokine expression in the small intestine of patients with potential CD
- 2) to analyse the activation of the immune system in the small intestine of patients with T1D
- to characterise cytokine profiles and T-cell markers in the intestinal mucosa of patients undergoing SCT in order to identify changes associated with human GvHD
- to characterise the expression of cytokines and adhesion molecules in the small intestine of patients with food allergy

# **PATIENTS AND METHODS**

# 1. Patients with potential coeliac disease (I)

Duodenal biopsies were obtained from five paediatric family members of CD patients and from four adult family members of DH patients. In addition, one sample from a paediatric patient with overt CD developing 11 months later was included in this potential CD study group. Seven paediatric patients and one adult patient with untreated CD served as a positive reference group. The diagnosis of CD was set according to the ESPGHAN criteria (Walker-Smith et al. 1990). As a negative reference group eight paediatric control patients undergoing upper gastroscopy because of growth retardation, gastrointestinal symptoms, positive antigliadin antibodies or any combinations of these were also included in the study. The control patients had no history of CD or DH in the family. They were not on medication, and did not have any chronic diseases. The morphology of the jejunum was normal, and the endomysium (EMA) and tissue transglutaminase (tTGA) antibodies were negative in all control children. The clinical data are summarised in Table 3.

	Normal controls	Paediatric potential CD patients	Adult potential CD patients	CD patients
n	8	6	4	8 (including 1 adult)
F/M	4/4	3/3	3/1	5/3
Age in years,				1 adult, 31 years
median (range)	6.9 (2.6-13.7)	6.1 (3.7-14.5)	53.5 (38-75)	7 paed., 6.6 (2.5-17.3)
Pos $EMA^1$	0/4 (4 NT)	4/6	0/4	8/8
Pos tTGA <sup>2</sup>	0/3 (5 NT)	3/6 (1 NT)	0/0 (4 NT)	6/8 (1 NT)
Pos Gliad-IgA <sup>3</sup>	1/8	1/6	0/4	3/8
Pos Gliad-IgG <sup>3</sup>	7/8	3/6	0/4	3/8
Morphology	Normal 8/8	Normal 6/6	Normal 4/4	1 PVA, 7 SVA

## Table 3. Characteristics of patients in study I

<sup>1</sup> Class IgA endomysium antibodies, upper normal limit 1:5 (Kolho and Savilahti 1997), <sup>2</sup> Class IgA tissue transglutaminase antibodies, normal limit 8% (Stern 2000), <sup>3</sup> Class IgA and IgG gliadin antibodies, upper normal limit 20% for both (Kolho and Savilahti 1997). NT, not tested; PVA, partial villous atrophy; SVA, subtotal villous atrophy.

# 2. Patients with type 1 diabetes (II)

In study II 32 small intestinal biopsy specimens were obtained from 31 paediatric patients with type 1 diabetes. The patients were scheduled for biopsy because of positive antibodies

associated with coeliac disease in the annual CD screening tests, or because of some gastrointestinal complaints or growth retardation. The patients were divided into three groups; T1D patients with normal villous structure and low titre of CD autoantibodies, T1D patients with normal villous structure and positive EMA or tTGA, referred to as potential CD, and T1D patients with untreated CD. Two of the patients with normal mucosa had a low titre of EMA and negative tTGA antibody tests. These patients were included in the group with negative CD autoantibody tests. The diagnosis of CD was set according to the criteria by ESPGHAN (Walker-Smith et al. 1990).

Additionally, twelve age-matched control paediatric patients were included in the study, seven of which were the same as those in study I and the other five control patients were new for this study. These twelve control patients also served as controls in study III. The exclusion criteria for the controls were the same as in study I. The clinical data of the patients are summarised in Table 4.

	Normal controls	T1D patients with normal mucosa	T1D patients with potential CD	T1D patients with CD
n	12	16	8	8
F/M	8/4	8/8	3/5	5/3
Age in years, median				
(range)	6.7 (1.6-13.7)	9.8 (2.9-18.2)	9.7 (6.0-13.2)	8.7 (3.9-15.8)
Age at onset of T1D;				
years, median (range)		3.3 (1.2-12.5)	8.0 (2.2-11.8)	5.8 (1.7-9.3)
Duration of T1D at biopsy;				
years, median (range)		6.6 (0.3-13)	1.3 (0.1-4.4)	2.7 (0.3-6.5)
Pos $EMA^1$	0/8 (4 NT)	2/13 (3 NT)	8/8	7/7 (1 NT) <sup>5</sup>
Pos $tTGA^2$	0/7 (5 NT)	0/13 (3 NT)	6/7 (1 NT)	5/5 (3 NT)
Pos Gliad-IgA <sup>3</sup>	3/12	7/16	1/8	6/8
Pos Gliad-IgG <sup>3</sup>	10/12	9/16	3/8	4/8
Morphology	Normal 12/12	Normal 16/16	Normal 7/8 <sup>4</sup>	3 PVA, 5 SVA
HLA-DQ2	NT	3/15 (1 NT)	6/8	4/8
HLA-DQ8	NT	2/15 (1 NT)	2/8	2/8

# Table 4. Characteristics of patients in study II

<sup>1</sup> Class IgA endomysium antibodies, upper normal limit 1:5, <1:50 weak positivity (Kolho and Savilahti 1997), <sup>2</sup> Class IgA tissue transglutaminase antibodies, normal limit 8% (Stern 2000), <sup>3</sup> Class IgA and IgG gliadin antibodies, upper normal limit 20% for both (Kolho and Savilahti 1997), <sup>4</sup> Slight changes in one biopsy, villous height was still normal, <sup>5</sup> The patient not tested had positive IgA reticulin antibodies. NT, not tested; PVA, partial villous atrophy; SVA, subtotal villous atrophy.

### 3. Patients undergoing stem cell transplantation (III)

Duodenal biopsies from patients undergoing allogeneic stem cell transplantation, who were enrolled in a sodium chromoglycate prophylaxis study against gastrointestinal graft-versushost disease, were investigated in this study. The prospective study was run at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki, Finland, between November 1995 and October 1998. Initially, 44 patients over 1 year of age were invited prior to allogeneic SCT, and 20 were willing to take part in the study. All patients received cyclosporin from day -1 on and methotrexate on days 1, 3, 6 and 11 as conventional GvHD prophylaxis. Signs and symptoms of GvHD were recorded and graded according to conventional criteria (Thomas et al. 1975). Sodium chromoglycate did not alter the clinical, histological or immunological picture of the patients. Therefore, we combined the data from both the sodium chromoglycate and placebo groups.

Gastroscopy was prospectively scheduled at 6-7 and 12 weeks after SCT. The endoscopy at 6 weeks was performed to 17 study patients, and the follow-up endoscopy at 12 weeks was performed to 12 patients. Of these, 12 and 8 duodenal biopsies, respectively, were available for the studies presented here. In addition, three SCT patients with grade III-IV clinical and histologically proven gastrointestinal GvHD, not taking part in the chromoglycate study, were included as clinical GvHD patients. The biopsies from these clinical GvHD control patients were obtained at the time of intestinal symptoms at 3, 6 and 11 weeks, and the follow-up biopsies at 10-16 weeks after SCT, respectively. The characteristics of only the patients whose duodenal biopsies were investigated are presented in Table 5. The same 12 patients included and presented in study II served as normal paediatric controls.

	SCT study patients	Clinical GvHD patients
n	12	3
F/M	4/8	0/3
Age at SCT in years, median (range)	7.1 (1.8-13.8)	6.4 (2.8-6.6)
Time since SCT at biopsy in days, median (range)	48 (40-96)	43 (21-78)
Time since SCT at the second biopsy in days, median (range)	111 (71-231)	99 (71-112)
Donor; URD / sibling	7 / 5	2 / 1
TBI	8/10/12/14 Gy (1/9/1/1 patients)	12 Gy (3 patients)
Clinical intestinal GvHD - at 6 weeks (grI-IV) - at 3 months	2 grI, 2 grIV 1 grIII	3 grIV 3 grIV
Small intestinal histology GvHD - at 6 weeks (grI-IV) - at 3 months	- 1 gr III	1 grII, 2 grIII 1 grII, 2 grIII
Diagnosis - ALL / AML	6 / 1	3 / 0
- Other malignancy	2	-
- Non-malignant disease	3	-
Chromoglycate / placebo	6 / 6	-

Abbreviations: ALL, acute lymphoid leukaemia; AML, acute myeloid leukaemia; gr, grade; TBI, total body irradiation; URD, unrelated registered donor.

## 4. Patients with food allergy (IV)

Specimens from the bulb of the duodenum were taken from 14 paediatric patients with food allergy. Seven were on a normal diet and seven were on a restricted diet, but still had some clinical symptoms as an indication for gastroscopy, at the Oulu University Hospital. Diagnosis of food allergy was based on an open 6-week elimination/challenge test with the triggering food protein according to the diagnostic criteria by ESPGHAN (ESPGHAN 1992). Before the challenge, the patients were on a food elimination diet involving the suspected food for at least 2 weeks. Open oral challenges were performed with an increasing daily dose, starting from 1 ml of cow's milk or 1 g of cereals (gluten-containing cereals and oats, separately). Each period was continued for 2 weeks if symptoms did not manifest earlier.

Abdominal pain, diarrhoea or loose mucous stools, or exacerbation of dermatitis were each considered a positive result. In all cases symptoms appeared at earliest after 24 hours from the beginning of the challenge.

The study also included five paediatric control patients and five paediatric patients with untreated CD. The controls were studied for diagnostic purposes, they all had normal endoscopic and histologic results and no history of allergy. Furthermore, CD was excluded by serological testing and lactose intolerance was ruled out. The criteria for CD diagnosis was the same as in study I. The characteristics of the patients are summarised in Table 6.

	Normal controls	FA patients on normal diet	FA patients with restricted diet	CD patients
n	5	7	7	5
F/M	0/5	4/3	5/2	2/3
Age in years, median (range)	12.9 (4.5-16.1)	6.8 (2.0-12.9)	11.3 (0.9-14.2)	6.4 (2.5-15.2)
Allergen: milk		6	5	
Allergen: cereals		3	3	
Duration of diet; years, median (range)			3 (1-13)	
Pos $EMA^1$	0/5	0/7	0/7	5/5
Morphology, LNH	Normal 5/5	LNH 6/7	LNH 7/7	5 SVA
Specific IgE >0.7 IU/l	-	2/5 (2 NT)	2/2 (5 NT)	-
Positive skin prick test	-	-	1/1 (6 NT)	-

#### Table 6. Characteristics of patients in study IV

<sup>1</sup> Class IgA endomysium antibodies, upper normal limit 1:5 (Kolho and Savilahti 1997). FA, food allergy; LNH, lymphonodular hyperplasia; NT, not tested; SVA, subtotal villous atrophy.

## 5. Samples (I-IV)

A Watson capsule biopsy device or a gastroscope was used to take a specimen from the distal duodenum or the proximal jejunum in study I-III, and from the bulb of the duodenum in study IV. Endoscopies were performed under general anaesthesia.

The specimens were embedded in optimal cutting temperature (OCT) compound (Miles Laboratories), snap frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C. Frozen tissue samples were cut into 8-µm sections for immunohistochemistry and ISEL analysis, and into 8- or 10-µm sections for *in situ* hybridisation. The sections were coded and evaluated without knowledge of the specimen identity.

### 6. Ethical considerations (I-IV)

Specimens from paediatric patients in study I and II were taken for diagnostic purposes at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, Helsinki University Central Hospital. The St. Mary's Hospital ethics committee approved biopsies taken from the adult siblings of patients with DH in study II. The specimens from SCT patients in study III were taken because of the sodium chromoglycate prophylaxis study, and the study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board. Oral witnessed informed consent was obtained from the parents and age-appropriate patients. Use of the biopsy specimens in study I-III was approved by the ethics committee of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, Helsinki University Central Hospital. Gastroscopy of the patients in study IV were performed for diagnostic purposes at the Department of Paediatrics, University of Oulu. For an additional biopsy sample, a written parental consent was obtained from the parents of all children. The protocol was approved by the ethics committee at Oulu University Hospital.

#### 7. Immunohistochemistry (I-IV)

Immunohistochemistry was performed using a commercially available avidin-biotin immunoperoxidase system (Vectastain Elite ABC kit) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cryostat sections were fixed in acetone for 10 min at +4°C, washed with PBS, and blocked for 30 minutes at room temperature with normal horse serum. Following blocking, the sections were incubated for one hour at room temperature with the primary antibodies described in Table 7. The slides were then treated with 0.5% hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 20 minutes at room temperature to block endogenous peroxidase activity. Subsequently, secondary biotinylated antibody was applied, followed by avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex. 3-amino-9-ethylcarbazole (Sigma) was used as chromogen, and Harris haematoxylin was used for counterstaining.

Permeabilisation was performed prior to immunostaining of cytokines by incubating the slides in 0.1% PBS-Tween20 for 10 minutes in room temperature. The cytokine antibodies were diluted in 1% normal horse serum in 0.1% PBS-Tween20 and the slides incubated with the mAbs for one hour at  $+37^{\circ}$ C in a humidified chamber. As controls for specific staining, one additional mAb for IL-4 (clone 82.2, Mabtech) and IFN- $\gamma$  (clone7-B6-1, Mabtech) were used, and similar staining patterns obtained.

Nonimmune mouse IgG1 (DAKO) was used as a negative primary antibody control and incubation with 1% normal horse serum on additional sections as the negative control for the reagents in the avidin-biotin immunoperoxidase system.

Antibody	Dilution	Company; clone	Study
CD3	1:200 (1:400 IV)	Becton-Dickinson	I-IV
γδΤCR	1:200 (1:400 IV)	Endogen; clone 6A6.E9	I-IV
αβTCR	1:40 (1:50 I, 1:100 IV)	Endogen; clone 8A3	I-IV
CD4	1.20	Coulter Immunology	IV
CD8	1:400	DAKO; clone DK25	IV
ICAM-1	1:1500 (I,II) 1:2000 (III,IV)	Endogen; clone VF27	I-IV
HLA-DR	1:500 (II,III) 1:2000 (I,IV)	Becton-Dickinson	I-IV
HLA-DP	1:40	Becton-Dickinson	I-IV
Ki-67	1:100	DAKO	I-IV
CD25 (IL-2 receptor)	1:10	DAKO; clone ACT-1	IV
CD11a (LFA-1)	1:100	Immunotech; clone 25.3.1	IV
ACT-1 ( $\alpha_4\beta_7$ -integrin)	1:200	Leukosite	IV
IL-1α	1:50 (1:100 I)	Biosource International; clone 20B8	I-III
IL-2	1:50	Biosource International; clone 7A3	I-III
IL-4	1:50	Mabtech; clone 12.1*	I-IV
IFN-γ	1:50	Mabtech; clone 1-D1K	I-IV
TNF-α	1:50	Biosource International; clone 68B6A3	I-III
Nonimmune mouse	1:100	DAKO	I-IV
IgG			

Table 7. Monoclonal mouse-antihuman antibodies used in immunohistochemistry

\* In study IV, IL-4 clone 82.4 was used at a dilution of 1:75

# Microscopic evaluation

The numbers of positively stained mononuclear cells in the biopsies were counted systematically under a light microscope through a calibrated eyepiece graticule at x1000 magnification. In the same specimen, the positively cells in at least 30 fields both in the surface epithelium and the lamina propria were counted. The results were expressed as the mean number of positive staining cells/mm of epithelium and as cells/mm<sup>2</sup> in the lamina propria, respectively. Proliferating cells were stained with Ki-67, and positively staining crypt epithelial cells were calculated as percentages of all the crypt cells, with at least 200 cells counted in each specimen.

Epithelial staining with HLA-DR and HLA-DP antibodies was graded in studies I-III from 2 to 6 according to their intensity and cellular distribution (1=positive staining only on the apical surface of the epithelial cell, 2=in addition, positive staining of the basal surface of

epithelial cell, 3=in addition, positive staining throughout the cytoplasm of the epithelial cell), and area of staining (1=only the tip of the villous positive, 2=the whole villous, no positive crypts, 3=also positive staining in the crypts) (Klemola et al. 1995). The positive staining for ICAM-1 in the lamina propria was estimated and graded from 1 to 3 according to intensity of staining (1=weak positivity, 2=moderate positivity, 3=intense positivity). In study IV proportions of positive epithelial cell staining with HLA-DR and HLA-DP, and positive lamina propria cell staining with ICAM-1 were measured by Weibel's point counting technique, using an integration ocular with a grid with 100 points. At least 1500 points falling on epithelial cells (HLA-DR and HLA-DP) or lamina propria cells (ICAM-1) were counted in each specimen. Each point was documented as positive or negative and the percentage of positive points calculated.

### 8. Radioactive in situ hybridisation (I-IV)

Serial cryostat sections were processed for *in situ* hybridisation and immunohistochemistry for IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$ . Cryostat sections were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS, and subjected to *in situ* hybridisation for human IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  riboprobes obtained from the cDNAs described below. Tissue sections were hybridised with 1.2 x 10<sup>6</sup> cpm of [<sup>33</sup>P]-labelled (1000-3000 Ci/mmol; Amersham) antisense or sense riboprobes overnight at +60°C in a total volume of 80 µl following the *in situ* protocol described in detail previously (Wilkinson 1992). The sections were treated with RNAse A to remove unhybridised probes, before applying photographic emulsion. The slides were developed after 1 and 2 weeks of autoradiography, and counterstained with Harris haematoxylin.

Human IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  were used for preparing the riboprobes. Briefly, a 462-bp human IL-4 cDNA and a 501-bp human IFN- $\gamma$  cDNA were synthesised by PCR, enclosing the whole coding region for both cytokines, and additionally the signal peptide for IFN- $\gamma$  (Sareneva et al. 1994). The PCR products were cloned into pGEM<sup>®</sup>-3ZF vectors (Promega) and the sequences of the cloned PCR products were verified with an ABI PRISM 377 DNA sequencer (Perkin-Elmer, Applied Biosystems). The lengths of the [<sup>33</sup>P]-labelled riboprobes, both antisense and sense, were checked by SDS PAGE analysis.

#### Microscopic evaluation

Positive mRNA expression for IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  was in study I and IV counted in two representative areas in the lamina propria, as well as in the background staining adjacent to

the tissue at x400 magnification. The relative intensity of positive mRNA signal was determined by division of the positivity in the tissue by the positivity of the background. In study II and III, positively staining cells were counted through a calibrated graticule at x400 magnification and expressed as the mean number of positive cells/area of epithelium or lamina propria. A cell was considered positive if expressing 7 or more positive cytoplasmic grains, which always corresponded to more than twice the background level. For the specific probes, a minimum of two sections were prepared for each patient investigated.

# 9. Taqman real time PCR (II)

The part of the mucosal specimens from T1D patients still left after immunohistochemistry and *in situ* hybridisation was used for RT-PCR. Total RNA was isolated from the mucosal samples with GenElute<sup>TM</sup> Mammalian total RNA kit (Sigma) following the manufacturer's instructions. Reverse transcription of RNA to cDNA was performed with TaqMan<sup>®</sup> Reverse Transcription Reagents (Applied Biosystems) in a reaction volume of 75 µl following the manufacturer's instructions. The reaction mixture contained 10 ng/µl template RNA, 5.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 500 µM of each dNTP, 0.4 IU/µl RNase Inhibitor, and 2.5 µM Random Hexamers as primers. The solution was treated with 2 IU of DNAse at 37°C for 30 minutes prior to 5 minutes inactivation at 75°C. After addition of 25 IU of MultiScribe<sup>®</sup> Reverse Transcriptase, the RT reaction was carried out at 25°C for 10 min, 48°C for 30 min and 95°C for 5 min. The samples were stored at -20°C until used.

Real-time quantitative PCR was performed using specific TaqMan<sup>®</sup> PDAR (Pre-Developed assay reagents) primers/probes and the ABI-Prism 7700 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems) as described earlier (Heid et al. 1996). TaqMan<sup>®</sup> primers/probes for cytokines IL-2 (PN 4309882P), IL-4 (PN 4309883P), IFN- $\gamma$  (PN 4309890P) and TNF- $\alpha$  (PN 4309891P), and for chemokine receptors CCR-4 (PN 4312819P) and CCR-5 (PN 4316064P) were used. To normalise differences in sample sizes and the amount of RNA degradation, primers/probe for ribosomal RNA 18S (PN 4310893E) was also applied as an endogenous control.

Total reaction volume used in the PCR amplification was 25  $\mu$ l, containing 50 ng (for target gene) or 5 ng (for endogenous control) of template cDNA. PCR was performed under the following conditions: 50°C for 2 min, 95°C for 10 min; 50 cycles of 95°C for 15 sec and 60°C for 1 min. Analysis of a calibrator cDNA sample derived form PHA stimulated peripheral blood lymphocytes, and controls without template were also performed on each

PCR plate. Each measurement was set up in triplicate. The quantitative analysis was performed using the comparative  $C_T$  ( $\Delta C_T$ ) method as described in detail previously (Gibson et al. 1996).

#### 10. HLA genotyping (II)

HLA genotyping was performed in 11 T1D patients from peripheral venous blood sample and in 19 T1D patients from duodenal paraffin blocks. HLA-DQB1, HLA-DQA1, and HLA-DRB1 analysis were performed by a technique developed for screening T1D susceptibility based on the presence of alleles associated with a risk for or with protection against T1D. This two-step screening technique is based on the hybridisation of relevant PCR products with lanthanide-labelled probes detected by time-resolved fluorometry (Nejentsev et al. 1999).

# 11. In situ detection of DNA fragmentation (ISEL) (III)

To detect cells with DNA fragmentation terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT)mediated dUTP-digoxigenin in situ 3-end labelling (ISEL) method was used as described previously (Surh and Sprent 1994). Briefly, eight-µm sections were fixed in acetone, washed with PBS and incubated with 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in methanol to eliminate endogenous peroxidase activity. The sections were preincubated with 1 x terminal transferase reaction buffer (Roche Diagnostics) containing 1mM CoCl<sub>2</sub> for 10 min at room temperature. The apoptotic DNA fragments were 3'-end labelled with digoxigenin-11-ddUTP (0.5µM, Roche Diagnostics) by TdT reaction (TdT enzyme 375 U/ml) in 1 x reaction buffer containing 45µM ddATP (Amersham Pharmacia) and 1mM CoCl<sub>2</sub> (Roche Diagnostics) at 37°C for 1 hour. Following washes and blocking of nonspecific binding with 2% blocking reagent, the sections were incubated with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-digoxigenin antibody (1:200, Roche Diagnostics) overnight at  $+4^{\circ}$ C. The colour was developed with chromogen diaminobenzidine (Sigma) and counterstaining was performed with Harris haematoxylin. For negative controls the TdT enzyme or labelled nucleotides were replaced by distilled water, and for positive controls the sections were incubated with DNAse (1-10 IU/ml) at 37°C for 15 min prior to the TdT reaction.

The sections of the patients were always processed in parallel with the controls and a total of three sections per patient were analysed. The number of enterocytes with DNA fragmentation was calculated through a calibrated graticule as percentages of positive cells

along the surface epithelium and in the crypt epithelium, with a minimum of 200 cells counted in each compartment.

# 12. Histopathological analysis (III)

The intestinal biopsy samples were stained routinely by haematoxylin and eosin and analysed by one pathologist (Riitta Karikoski) blinded for the clinical data. The histological grading of intestinal GvHD ranged from signs of apoptosis and infiltration of intraepithelial lymphocytes (grade 1) through exploding crypts (grade 2) and loss of crypts (grade 3), to total sloughing off of the epithelium (grade 4).

# 13. Statistical analysis (I-IV)

Differences in the parameters studied were revealed by the Kruskall-Wallis analysis of variance when more than two groups were compared, and by the Mann-Whitney U-test when two groups were compared (I-IV). The correlation between proliferation and apoptosis markers in the SCT patients was analysed with the Spearman correlation (III). Calculations were done on a PC using SPSS software (SPSS Inc, Chigaco, IL, USA). Cell densities for each group were expressed as median values, and because of the small sizes of the study groups, values outside the 25 to 75 percentiles were considered abnormal for the group. A P-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

# RESULTS

To study immunologic markers and expression patterns of cytokines in immunologically mediated inflammation, small intestinal biopsies were obtained from patients with potential CD (I), T1D (II), patients undergoing SCT (III), and patients with food allergy (IV). The intestinal specimens were studied using immunohistochemistry, *in situ* hybridisation, RT-PCR and *in situ* 3'-end labelling (ISEL).

The results from immunohistochemical stainings and *in situ* hybridisation of studies I-IV are combined in this section and presented separately for each parameter. In the control group, the normal control patients from study I (n=8) are pooled with the five additional control patients from study II (total n=13), if not mentioned otherwise. The results of SCT study patients (n=12) and clinical GvHD control patients (n=3) are presented in the figures in the same group at 6 weeks (n=15) and at 3 months (n=11).

## 1. Densities of intraepithelial T-cells (I-IV)

Intraepithelial T-cells were stained with mAbs to CD3,  $\gamma\delta$ TCR, and  $\alpha\beta$ TCR in all the specimens. From previous studies it is known that the numbers of IELs, especially of  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> cells, are highly increased in CD and to a lesser extent in family members of CD patients, as well as in patients with delayed type food allergy. We found increased densities of CD3<sup>+</sup>,  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup>, and  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> IELs in potential CD and CD patients in studies I-II, regardless of associated T1D (Figure 4). The IEL infiltration was more pronounced in clinical CD than in potential CD. We also found increased densities of CD3<sup>+</sup> (P=0.008) and  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> (P=0.008), but not of  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> IELs in the bulb of duodenum from CD patients in study IV when compared to controls. The densities were somewhat lower than in the duodenal biopsies from patients with CD in studies I and II (Figure 4). Furthermore, the patients with untreated food allergy had a higher density of  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> IELs than the controls in study IV (P=0.01). The densities of all three IEL subtypes were as low in SCT patients as in normal controls at both timepoints (P=0.001 and 0.007, respectively) (Figure 4C).

We investigated the IELs staining positively for IFN- $\gamma$  in studies II and III. Although the densities of IELs stained with T-cell markers were not increased in SCT patients, the density of IFN- $\gamma^+$  IELs was higher in SCT study patients and clinical GvHD control patients at both 6 weeks and 3 months than in controls (P<0.01 in all comparisons). We also found a higher density of IFN- $\gamma^+$  IELs in T1D patients with CD or potential CD than in controls or T1D patients with normal mucosa (P<0.006 in all four cases) (Figure 4D).

We further examined the proportion of  $CD4^+$  and  $CD8^+$  T-cells in the epithelium and lamina propria in study IV. We found no difference in the density of  $CD4^+$  IELs between the study groups (medians 0.8-1.7 cells/mm, corresponding to 2.8-8.4% of  $CD3^+$  IELs), whereas the density of  $CD8^+$  IELs was significantly increased in CD patients when compared to controls (P=0.032), patients with untreated food allergy (P=0.005), or patients with treated food allergy (P=0.018).



Figure 4. Densities of CD3<sup>+</sup>,  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup>,  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup>, and IFN- $\gamma^+$  intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) in the different study groups. The individual results are shown as positively staining cells/mm of surface epithelium. The Roman numerals at the top of the figures indicate the number of the study. The medians are indicated by horisontal lines for each study group. Study groups: Pot CD, potential CD; T1D+norm, T1D patients with normal duodenal mucosa; T1D+pot CD, T1D patients with potential CD; T1D+CD, T1D patients with CD; SCT 6 wk, patients 6 weeks after SCT; SCT 3 mo, patients 3 months after SCT; FA co, control patients included in food allergy study; tFA, patients with treated food allergy; uFA, patients with untreated food allergy; FA CD, CD patients included in food allergy study.

#### 2. Densities of T-cells in the lamina propria (I-IV)

We counted the densities of lamina propria  $CD3^+$ ,  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  and  $\alpha\beta TCR^+$  T-cells in the same microscopical slides as the IELs. Generally, the lamina propria T-cells did not show as large a variation between the study groups as IELs did (Figure 5). T1D patients with potential CD or CD had the highest densities of all T-cell subtypes. In study I we found an increased density of  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  cells in CD patients when compared to controls (P=0.038), whereas in study II all three cell subtypes were increased in T1D patients with CD (P<0.001 in all cases) or potential CD (P=0.009, P=0.006, and P=0.048, respectively) when compared to normal controls (Figure 5). In addition, the numbers of all three cell subtypes were higher in T1D patients with CD than in T1D patients with normal mucosa (P=0.015, P=0.0028 and P=0.015, respectively).

We found a significantly lower density of  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  cells in biopsies of SCT patients at 6 weeks than in controls (P=0.013) (Figure 5B). By the time of the second endoscopy, the median density of lamina propria  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  cells had increased from 22.1 (range 13.6-58.6) to 42.5 (range 21.6-141.1) positive cells/mm<sup>2</sup> (p=0.017) in SCT patients. The clinical GvHD patients showed a higher density of  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  cells at 6 weeks than SCT study patients (P=0.009) (Figure 5B).

In study IV we observed an increased density of  $CD3^+$  cells in CD patients when compared to patients with treated food allergy (P=0.048), but not when compared to patients with untreated food allergy or normal controls (Figure 5A). The density of  $CD4^+$  or  $CD8^+$  cells in the lamina propria did not differ between the study groups in study IV.



Figure 5. Densities of CD3<sup>+</sup>,  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup>, and  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> lamina propria lymphocytes (LPL) in the different study groups. The individual results are shown as positive cells/mm<sup>2</sup> of lamina propria. The Roman numerals at the top of the figures indicate the number of the study. The medians are indicated by horisontal lines for each study group. Study groups: Pot CD, potential CD; T1D+norm, T1D patients with normal duodenal mucosa; T1D+pot CD, T1D patients with potential CD; T1D+CD, T1D patients with CD; SCT 6 wk, patients 6 weeks after SCT; SCT 3 mo, patients 3 months after SCT; FA co, control patients included in food allergy study; tFA, patients with treated food allergy; uFA, patients with untreated food allergy; FA CD, CD patients included in food allergy study.

#### 3. Expression of cytokines detected by immunohistochemistry (I-IV)

The expression of cytokines were studied using monoclonal antibodies against IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-2, IL-4, IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF- $\alpha$ . We considered only typical paranuclear stainings as positive. In study IV only IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  were investigated. Because of different batches used in study I vs. the other studies for all cytokines but IL-2, the data from study I can not directly be compared with the data from other studies. This is represented by the dotted line in Figures 6 and 7. Furthermore, the results of potential CD and CD patients are compared with the results of the original normal control group of study I.

## Th1- and Th2-type cytokines

The densities of IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells were generally higher, while the densities of IL-4<sup>+</sup> cells were generally lower in study I than in the other three studies, one of the explanations probably being the different antibody batches used. When looking at the Th1 vs. Th2 balance in the studies, the general finding is that CD patients show higher densities of IFN- $\gamma^+$ , IL-2<sup>+</sup>, and IL-4<sup>+</sup> cells, regardless of associated T1D (Figure 6).

In study I the potential CD and CD patients expressed higher densities of IL-2<sup>+</sup> (P=0.043 and P=0.028), IFN- $\gamma^+$  (P=0.009 and P<0.001) and IL-4<sup>+</sup> cells (P=0.034 and P=0.021) than the controls (Figure 6). When potential CD patients were divided into two groups according to normal (n=4) or increased numbers of IELs (n=6), the potential CD patients with high numbers of IELs showed a higher density of IFN- $\gamma$  positive cells, but the difference did not reach statistical significance (P=0.088).

In study II the T1D patients with CD had higher densities of IFN- $\gamma^+$ , IL-2<sup>+</sup>, and IL-4<sup>+</sup> cells than both the normal controls and the T1D patients with normal mucosa (P<0.002 in all cases), and higher density of IL-4<sup>+</sup> cells than T1D patients with potential CD (P=0.002). Furthermore, the T1D patients with normal mucosa or potential CD showed increased IL-4 densities when compared to controls (P=0.031 and P=0.027) (Figure 6).

The density of IL-2<sup>+</sup>, IL-4<sup>+</sup> and IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells did not differ between the biopsies obtained at 6 weeks from SCT patients and normal controls in study III. However, at the time of the second biopsy 3 months after SCT, the density of IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells was lower than in the normal controls (P=0.001, SCT 3 months vs. controls), and the density of IL-4 cells was greater (P=0.001, SCT 3 months vs. controls) (Figure 6). The clinical GvHD patients did not differ from the SCT study patients with respect to any of the assessed cytokines, but showed a lower density of IL-2<sup>+</sup> cells than the controls (P=0.002).

We found an increased density of IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells in patients with untreated food allergy when compared to normal controls (P=0.018). Although the cell density tended to be higher in untreated than in treated food allergy patients, the difference was not significant (P=0.053).



Figure 6. Densities of IFN- $\gamma^+$ , IL-2<sup>+</sup>, and IL-4<sup>+</sup> cells in the lamina propria detected by immunohistochemistry. The individual results are shown as positive cells/mm<sup>2</sup> of lamina propria. The Roman numerals at the top of the figures indicate the number of the study. The dotted vertical lines indicate that different batches of antibodies for IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-4 were used in study I vs. the other studies. The medians are indicated by horisontal lines for each study group. Study groups: T1D controls, control patients included in study II; T1D+norm, T1D patients with normal duodenal mucosa; T1D+pot CD, T1D patients with potential CD; T1D+CD, T1D patients with CD; SCT 6 wk, patients 6 weeks after SCT; SCT 3 mo, patients 3 months after SCT; FA co, control patients included in food allergy study; tFA, patients with treated food allergy; uFA, patients with untreated food allergy; FA CD, CD patients included in food allergy study; Pot controls, control patients in study I; Pot CD, potential CD.

# **Proinflammatory cytokines**

The densities of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  are shown in Figure 7. We did not find any difference in the density of IL-1 $\alpha^+$  cells between the groups in study I, whereas we found higher numbers of TNF- $\alpha^+$  cells in CD patients than in controls or potential CD patients (P=0.001 and P=0.012). Although the potential CD patients with increased IELs expressed a higher density of TNF- $\alpha^+$  cells than those with normal density did, the difference failed to reach statistical significance (P=0.088).

We found higher densities of IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells in T1D patients with CD than in controls (P<0.001 and P=0.050) or T1D patients with normal mucosa (P=0.002 and P<0.001). In addition, the T1D patients with normal mucosa or potential CD showed increased densities of IL-1 $\alpha^+$  cells when compared to controls (P=0.031 and P=0.006) (Figure 7).

We observed greater densities of IL-1 $\alpha^+$  cells in SCT specimens at 6 weeks and 3 months than in controls (P=0.005 and P=0.002), whereas the densities of TNF- $\alpha^+$  cells were lower than in controls (P=0.010 and P=0.031) (Figure 7). The numbers of IL-1 $\alpha^+$  and TNF- $\alpha^+$  cells did not differ between the study SCT study patients and clinical GvHD patients (data not shown).



Figure 7. Densities of IL-1 $\alpha^+$  and TNF- $\alpha^+$  cells in the lamina propria detected by immunohistochemistry. The individual results are shown as positive cells/mm<sup>2</sup> of lamina propria. The Roman numerals at the top of the figures indicate the number of the study. The dotted vertical lines indicate that different batches of antibodies were used in study I vs. the other studies. The medians are indicated by horisontal lines for each study group. Abbreviations of study groups are the same as in Figure 6.

#### 4. RNA *in situ* hybridisation for IL-4 and IFN-γ mRNA detection (I-IV)

We performed radioactive RNA in situ hybridisation for IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  in serial sections from the same samples that were used for immunohistochemical stainings. The method was the same in study I-IV, but two different interpretations were used (see page 52).

We found positive IL-4 mRNA hybridisation signals mainly in the lamina propria, with little or no signal in the surface epithelium. Mononuclear cells expressing IL-4 mRNA were present in all samples, although more sparsely distributed than IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA expressing cells. In situ hybridisation with the antisense probe for IFN- $\gamma$  revealed that positive cells were found mainly in the superficial lamina propria, and occasionally in the deeper parts, regardless of the underlying disease. IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA expressing cells were also found in the intraepithelial compartment throughout the surface and the crypt epithelium, but the median was only 1 cell/10 areas of surface epithelium in normal controls.

In study I the potential CD patients showed a lower relative intensity of IL-4, but higher of IFN- $\gamma$  when compared to controls (P=0.008 and P=0.009). In addition, CD patients showed a higher intensity of IFN- $\gamma$  than controls (P=0.035) (Figure 8).

The density of IL-4 mRNA expressing cells was significantly greater in all three T1D study groups when compared to normal controls in study II (P<0.001 for all comparisons). In addition, T1D patients with CD or potential CD also showed a stronger expression of IL-4 mRNA than T1D patients with normal mucosa (P=0.010 and P=0.030) (Figure 8D). Densities of IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA expressing cells in the lamina propria were significantly greater in all T1D groups than in controls. However, among the T1D patients IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA positive cells were 5 and 2.7 times more abundant in T1D patients with CD or potential CD than in those with a normal intestine. Further, the densities of IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA positive cells were significantly increased in T1D patients with CD compared to the other two T1D study groups (P<0.001 and P=0.019). We also found a significantly increased density of IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA positive IELs in T1D specimens with CD or potential CD when compared to normal T1D specimens (P<0.001 and P=0.006) or controls (P<0.001 for both comparisons) (data not shown).

In study III both SCT groups had significantly lower densities of IL-4 mRNA expressing cells than controls did (P<0.001 for both comparisons), whereas the densities of IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA expressing cells did not differ in the groups in the lamina propria or in the epithelial compartment (Figure 8).

CD patients in study IV had an increased intensity of IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  when compared to treated food allergy patients (P=0.010 and P=0.017) and controls (P=0.029 and P=0.016), but



when compared to untreated food allergy patients only the intensity of IL-4 was higher (P=0.006) (Figure 8A and 8C).

**Figure 8. Expression of IFN-γ and IL-4 mRNA detected by in situ hybridisation.** The individual results are shown as relative intensity in A and C, and as the number of positive cells/area of lamina propria in B and D. The Roman numerals at the top of the figures indicate the number of the study. The medians are indicated by horisontal lines for each study group. The study groups are: Pot controls, control patients in study I; Pot CD, potential CD; FA co, control patients included in food allergy study; tFA, patients with treated food allergy; uFA, patients with untreated food allergy; FA CD, CD patients included in food allergy study; T1D controls, control patients included in study II; T1D+norm, T1D patients with normal duodenal mucosa; T1D+pot CD, T1D patients with potential CD; T1D+CD, T1D patients with CD; SCT 6 wk, patients 6 weeks after SCT; SCT 3 mo, patients 3 months after SCT.

## 5. Taqman real time PCR analysis of cytokines, CCR-4 and CCR-5 (II)

Signals of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , CCR-4 and CCR-5 mRNA were detectable by RT-PCR in all duodenal specimens. IL-4 mRNA was, however, not detectable in the biopsies of normal controls, whereas we could detect IL-4 in 3 of 16 of the T1D specimens with normal mucosa, in 3 of 8 potential CD, and in 5 of 8 of the T1D patients with CD. The amount of IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA was again significantly greater in T1D patients with CD or potential CD compared to T1D patients with normal mucosa (P<0.001 and P=0.001) and controls (P<0.001 and P=0.002), correlating with the degree of CD. Additionally, CCR-4 was expressed in significantly higher amounts in T1D patients with CD than in T1D patients with normal duodenal mucosa (P=0.010). We found expression of CCR5 in all investigated specimens, but we did not find any difference between the study groups. The individual results of CCR4 and CCR5 mRNA expression are shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Expression of CCR4 and CCR5. Chemokine receptor 4 and -5 specific mRNA detected by RT-PCR in duodenal specimens of healthy controls (n=7), type 1 diabetes patients with normal duodenal mucosa (T1D+norm, n=16), with potential coeliac disease (T1D+pot CD, n=8), or with coeliac disease (T1D+CD, n=7). Individual results are shown as relative amount ( $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ ) of target compared to the calibrator, both normalised to an endogenous reference (18S). Horisontal lines show medians for each study group.

### 6. Proliferation of epithelial cells (I-IV)

Proliferating cells were stained for Ki-67 and the percentage of positive crypt epithelial cells were counted in at least 200 crypt cells. The typical stainings are shown in Figure 10A and the individual results in Figure 10B. We found increased proliferation rates in CD patients, T1D patients with potential CD or CD, SCT patients and in untreated food allergy patients. We found a higher percentage of Ki-67 positive crypt cells in biopsies of patients both after 6 weeks and 3 months after SCT than in normal controls (P=0.002 and P<0.001) (Figure 10B). Specimens from SCT study patients and clinical GvHD patients showed very high rates of

proliferation, with median values of 42% and 48% at 6 weeks, and 37% and 54% at 3 months. CD patients in study I had a significantly higher expression of Ki-67 than potential CD patients (P=0.012) or controls (P=0.001) (Figure 10). T1D patients with CD and potential CD showed a higher percentage of Ki-67<sup>+</sup> cells than controls (P=0.001 and P=0.019) or T1D patients with normal mucosa did (P=0.003 and P=0.011). Finally, we also found higher positive expression in CD patients (P=0.030) and patients with untreated food allergy (P=0.026) than in treated food allergy patients in study IV.



**Figure 10.** Proliferation of crypt epithelial cells. A. Proliferation of crypt epithelial cells was detected by immunohistochemical staining with Ki-67. The typical staining in specimens of a control patient (study I), a patient with CD (study I), and a SCT patient 6 weeks after transplantation (study III) is shown. Increased positive expression can be seen in the crypts of CD and SCT specimens when compared to the normal control (carbatzole-haematoxylin stain, original magnification x100). B. The percentages of Ki-67 positive crypt epithelial cells are shown as individual results in the different study groups. The medians are indicated by horisontal lines. Study groups: Pot CD, potential CD; T1D+norm, T1D patients with normal duodenal mucosa; T1D+pot CD, T1D patients with potential CD; T1D+CD, T1D patients with CD; SCT 6 wk, patients 6 weeks after SCT; SCT 3 mo, patients 3 months after SCT; FA co, control patients included in food allergy study; tFA, patients with treated food allergy; uFA, patients with untreated food allergy; FA CD, CD patients included in food allergy study.

# 7. Apoptosis of epithelial cells (III)

As we found a high proliferation rate of crypt eptihelial cells in specimens from SCT patients, we also performed apoptosis staining, in order to determine if the high rate of renewal was due to increased apoptosis. We used the ISEL staining method, which detects fragmented DNA, to detect apoptosis. Representative positive staining is shown in Figure 11A. We counted the percentage of ISEL positive epithelial cells in both the crypt and surface epithelium. The individual results are shown in Figure 11B.



**Figure 11.** Apoptosis of epithelial cells after stem cell transplantation (SCT). A. Apoptosis was detected by in situ 3'-end labelling (ISEL) of apoptotic DNA in duodenal biopsy specimens. ISEL analysis revealed increased numbers of epithelial cells undergoing apoptosis both in the crypts and surface epithelium in specimens from SCT study patients (SCT) than in specimens from normal controls (control) (diaminobenzidine-haematoxylin stain, original magnification x200). B. Percentage of apoptotic crypt and surface epithelial cells detected by ISEL in duodenal specimens of normal controls, SCT patients at 6 weeks, and SCT patients at 3 months. Horisontal lines show medians for each study group. C. Proliferation detected by Ki-67 and apoptosis of crypt epithelial cells detected by ISEL was present in the same duodenal specimens of normal controls (r=0.44, P=0.01 Spearman correlation) (black triangles, n=12), SCT patients at 6 weeks (black circles, n=10), SCT patients at 3 months (open circles, n=7), and clinical GvHD patients at 6 weeks (black boxes, n=2).

We found a higher percentage of apoptotic cells both in the crypts (P<0.001 and P=0.002) and in the surface epithelium (P<0.001 and P=0.001) in SCT patient groups when compared to controls (Figure 11B). In the villi, we found apoptotic cells only in the tips in normal controls (median 2.3% of the epithelial cells in the whole villous), while the apoptotic cells were scattered along the whole villous height in SCT specimens (median 8.6% at 6 weeks and 7.6% at 3 months). The same samples showed an increased turnover rate detected by Ki-67 and increased apoptosis of the crypt cells, as shown in Figure 11C (P=0.01, Spearman correlation).

#### 8. Expression of HLA-DR, HLA–DP, and ICAM-1 (I-IV)

We found a significantly increased expression of HLA-DR in the epithelium of CD patients, in all T1D patients, in SCT patients, and in food allergy patients. We also found an increased staining of HLA-DP in CD patients, T1D patients, SCT patients at 6 weeks, and in treated food allergy patients when compared to normal controls. The expression of ICAM-1 was increased in the lamina propria of all T1D patients and in CD patients of study I and IV.

In studies I-III the expression of HLA-DR and HLA-DP antigens was graded from 2 to 6 according to their intensity and cellular distribution, while the staining was determined by point-counting in study IV (see page 51). Only the data from studies I-III are presented in Table 8.

Study	Study group	HLA-DR	HLA-DP	ICAM-1
I-III	Normal controls	2 (2-6)	3 (2-5)	2 (1-3)
I	Potential CD	2 (2-5)	2 (2-6)	2 (1-3)
I	CD	6 (2-6)	6 (5-6)	3 (3-3)
II	T1D + normal mucosa	5.5 (5-6)	5 (4-5)	3 (2-3)
II	T1D + potential CD	6 (5-6)	5 (5-5)	3 (3-3)
II	T1D + CD	6 (5-6)	6 (5-6)	3 (3-3)
III	SCT 6 weeks	5 (2-6)	5 (2-6)	2 (2-3)
III	SCT 3 months	4 (2-6)	4 (2-6)	2 (2-3)

Table 8. Expression of HLA-DR, HLA-DP, and ICAM-1 in studies I-III.

Expression was analysed by immunohistochemistry. Values are given as median (range) for the different groups.

#### 9. HLA-genotyping (II)

We found the DQB1\*0201 allele in 6/16 T1D patients with normal mucosa (37.5%), of whom three also were positive for DQB1\*0302. Four of the patients were positive for DQB1\*0302 alone without protective alleles. Of the remaining patients, one was positive for DQB1\*0301, one for DQB1\*0602, one was not genotyped, and two were negative for all the alleles tested. Of the eight T1D patients with newly diagnosed CD, five were positive for DQB1\*0201 (63%), of which two also were positive for DQB1\*0302. One of the T1D patients with CD was positive for DQB1\*0602 and the last two were negative for all the alleles tested. Six of the eight T1D patients with potential CD were positive for DQB1\*0201 (75%), of whom two also were positive for DQB1\*0302. The remaining two patients were positive for DQB1\*0302 alone. The heterodimer HLA-DQ2 (DQB1\*0201/DQA1\*0501) associated with CD was carried by 4/8 T1D patients with CD and by 6/8 T1D patients with potential CD.

# HLA-genotype associations

T1D patients carrying both the HLA-DR3 and HLA-DQ2 antigens (13 patients; 4/8 with CD, 6/8 with potential CD, and 3/16 with normal mucosa) showed higher densities of CD3<sup>+</sup> and  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> cells in the lamina propria (P=0.041 and P<0.001) and of  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> cells in the surface epithelium (P=0.023) than those negative for the alleles. The density of IL-4<sup>+</sup> cells, both protein and mRNA expressing, was equal in both DR4 positive and negative patients. The density of IL-2 positive cells was somewhat lower in DR4 positive than in negative patients (P=0.049).

# 10. Expression of adhesion molecules and CD25 (IV)

The densities of  $\alpha_4\beta_7$  and CD11a positive cells were determined both in the epithelial compartment and in the lamina propria in study IV. We could not find any difference in the densities of  $\alpha_4\beta_7^+$  IELs between the study groups, whereas the density of CD11a<sup>+</sup> IELs was significantly higher in CD patients than in patients with treated food allergy (P=0.048) (Figure 12A). The density of  $\alpha_4\beta_7^+$  cells in the lamina propria was increased in CD patients when compared to the two food allergy study groups (P=0.048 and P=0.005, respectively), but not when compared to controls. Furthermore, the density of CD11a<sup>+</sup> cells was higher in CD patients than in treated food allergy patients (P=0.048) and controls (P=0.032) (Figure

12B). Surprisingly, the numbers of CD25 (IL-2R) expressing cells in the lamina propria did not differ between the study groups (Figure 12B).



Figure 12. Expression of adhesion molecules and CD25 in food allergy.

A. Densities of  $\alpha_4\beta_7$  and CD11a positive cells in the surface epithelium are expressed as positive cells/mm epithelium. B. Densities of  $\alpha_4\beta_7$ , CD11a, and CD25 positive cells in the lamina propria are expressed as positive cells/mm<sup>2</sup> lamina propria. The medians are indicated by horisontal lines for each study group; FA co, control patients; tFA, patients with treated food allergy; uFA, patients with untreated food allergy; FA CD, CD patients.

# DISCUSSION

## 1. Methodological aspects (I-IV)

#### Patients and controls

Studies using human tissues have their limitations both because of ethical and practical reasons. The children included in the normal control group all had clinical indications for investigation, which may affect the immunologic markers studied. However, as the controls were chosen according to the following criteria they represent as normal available controls as possible. The exclusion criteria for the controls were: no history of CD or DH in the family, no medication and generally healthy, i.e., no chronic disease, and negative endomysium and tissue transglutaminase antibody tests. In addition, they all had normal morphology and normal density of intraepithelial lymphocytes in the small intestinal biopsy specimen taken for routine histology, which was examined independently by a specialist in pathology, as well as in the biopsy specimen used in our study. At the end of April 2004, none of the controls still affiliated to the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, Helsinki University Central Hospital, has developed CD.

The intestinal biopsy specimens obtained during gastroscopy from paediatric patients are small, which limits the number of markers that can be investigated. We used frozen tissue samples, in which the antigenic epitopes should be preserved in their native forms. The delay before the tissue was snap frozen in liquid nitrogen or the duration of sample storage before use may affect the variables measured, but we did not observe any correlation between the duration of sample storage at -70°C and the levels of markers investigated.

The biopsies in study IV were obtained from the duodenal bulb, which differs from the rest of the duodenum as well as from the duodenal mucosa. Therefore, the results from this study can not be directly compared with the results from studies I-III.

## **Methods**

We have described cytokine positive cells in small intestinal biopsies by immunohistochemistry and radioactive *in situ* hybridisation. The methods have their limitations, not allowing recognition of the cell types involved in the cytokine expression. Double staining methods could, thus, be more informative. Difficulties with cytokine staining are well described and are due to both technical difficulties and interpretation (Arend and Dayer 1990, Hoefakker et al. 1995, van der Loos et al. 2001). We tested two antibodies against TGF- $\beta$  (clone 1D11, R&D systems and T9429, Sigma) and three against IL-10

(clones JES3-9D7, JES3-12G8 and 19F1, Mabtech). Due to inconsistency and extensive background staining, which made interpretation unreliable, we did not proceed with these cytokines. The surprisingly different staining of the various batches used for IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-4, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  in our study, furthermore raises concern about the reproducibility of immunohistochemical stainings for cytokines. Consequently, results from cytokine immunohistochemistry must be interpreted with considerable caution.

Radioactive *in situ* hybridisation has its limitations as well: it is time consuming and as with immunohistochemical techniques, similar difficulties in interpretation exist. In order to overcome the subjectivity in interpretation, we developed a semiquantitative evaluation system used in studies I and IV. Still, interpretations of both methods are subjective. Although the interpretation of the slides was performed blinded with regard to the clinical data, the morphology of CD or GvHD is obvious, making the interpretation semi-blinded.

## 2. Densities of intraepithelial T-cells (I-IV)

We observed an increased density of IELs in potential CD and CD specimens, also in those of patients with additional T1D, which is in agreement with previous studies (Savilahti et al. 1990, Spencer et al. 1991, Kaukinen et al. 1998, Iltanen et al. 1999, Järvinen et al. 2003). We also found a moderate increase of  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  IELs in specimens from patients with untreated food allergy, which is in agreement with earlier studies (Kokkonen et al. 2000, Savilahti 2000).

While on a gluten containing diet, family members in study I and T1D patients with potential CD in study II, had almost as high densities of  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  IELs as CD patients. Still, the intestinal biopsies of potential CD cases showed a normal duodenal architecture. The presence of gluten in the diet combined with high numbers of  $\gamma\delta TCR^+$  cells in the epithelium do thus, not necessarily lead to villous atrophy, which indicates that genetic factors and additional environmental agents play a further role in the manifestation of the disease. The increase of IELs in duodenal biopsies of patients with T1D is probably associated with the risk for developing CD, rather than related to T1D, as the T1D patients with increased IELs also had circulating tissue transglutaminase and/or endomysium antibodies. Moreover, the T1D patients without positive CD autoantibodies did not differ from the controls regarding the number of IELs, indicating that an increase in the IEL count is not associated with T1D.

Notably, we also found increased densities of IFN-γ positive IELs in patients with T1D and potential CD or CD, which is in agreement with recent studies on CD patients (Forsberg
et al. 2002, Olaussen et al. 2002). Paediatric CD patients were also shown to have an increased IFN- $\gamma$  production intraepithelially when they were on a gluten-free diet, symptom free and their villous atrophy had resolved (Forsberg et al. 2002). This indicates continued activation of IELs in CD. Whether it is a predisposing factor for CD or a consequence of previous episodes of active CD, or due to a failure to totally eliminate gluten from the diet is not known. Recently, IFN- $\gamma$  was shown to increase the production of chemoattractants for IELs by intestinal epithelial cells (Dwinell et al. 2001, Shibahara et al. 2001). Consequently, the increased amounts of IFN- $\gamma$  in the epithelial compartment might be due to both increased recruitment and activation of IELs. IFN- $\gamma$  is likely to cause changes in the epithelial cells. It can induce in them the ability to function as APC (Hershberg and Mayer 2000) and, secondly, increase the permeability of the epithelial monolayer (Madara and Stafford 1989).

The density of IELs in our patients study SCT patients was surprisingly low. The density of  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> IELs in clinical GvHD patients was increased, indicating that increased IEL count is associated with the pathogenesis of acute GvHD and not with the general condition in the intestine after allogeneic SCT. Our finding in GvHD patients is consistent with murine GvHD studies. Increased IELs have been a characteristic component of intestinal GvHD, where an increased IEL count is one of the earliest detectable signs, occurring within 24 hours after inducing GvHD in a neonate or in irradiated mice (Mowat et al. 1988). Despite of normal density of IELs the numbers of IFN- $\gamma^+$  IELs was increased in SCT study patients at both 6 weeks and 3 months after SCT when compared to normal controls. This indicates that the IELs, although of a normal density, are activated either because of the conditioning regimen, preceding immunosuppression, or an accompanying infection.

The function of intraepithelial  $\gamma \delta TCR^+$  cells is not fully understood, but there are many postulated ones (Hayday 2000, Guy-Grand and Vassalli 2002). First, they are thought to act as cytotoxic cells against microbial pathogens via lysis of infected epithelial cells, and removal of damaged or transformed epithelial cells (Lundqvist et al. 1996). Second, they have been shown to support the growth of epithelial cells and the maintenance of the epithelial barrier integrity through their production of keratinocyte growth factor (Boismenu and Havran 1994). Thirdly, they have been suggested to have immunoregulatory functions through their production of cytokines, including IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-10, and TGF- $\beta$ (Boismenu et al. 1996). Furthermore, it has been shown that depletion of  $\gamma \delta TCR^+$  IELs improves the enteropathy of murine GvHD (Sakai et al. 1995), but abrogates oral tolerance (Fujihashi et al. 1992). Our results on increased densities of IELs in patients with CD, GvHD and untreated food allergy are based on descriptive studies and we can therefore only hypothesise on the functions of the cells. The increase of IELs may reflect different functions of the IELs in the investigated diseases. The increase in IELs in GvHD may reflect their cytotoxic functions against transformed or otherwise stressed epithelial and stromal cells due to the conditioning regimen. The IELs may, on the other hand, protect the intestinal mucosa from chronic exposure to damaging agents such as gluten in CD and allergenic food antigens in food allergy.

#### 3. Expression of HLA-DR and HLA-DP (I-IV)

Our data on increased expression of MHC class II HLA-DR and HLA-DP molecules in CD patients is in line with earlier reports (Arnaud-Battandier et al. 1986, Ciclitira et al. 1986, Arato et al. 1987, Marley et al. 1987, Kelly et al. 1988). We observed increased expression of these molecules in those family members of CD patients that had an increased IEL count, whereas the expression was normal in family members with a normal IEL count. Increased staining was documented in approximately half of the first-degree relatives of CD patients investigated in one previous report (Holm et al. 1994), which is in agreement with our results. We also found increased expression of HLA-DR and HLA-DP antigens in the duodenal mucosa of patients with T1D in study III, regardless of the mucosal architecture, HLA genotype, and duration of T1D. The increased expression in our T1D patients confirms the findings of an earlier study (Savilahti et al. 1999). Additionally, we observed an increased expression HLA-DR in the crypts of untreated food allergy patients.

The increased expression of these molecule in our SCT patients, is in accordance with an earlier report describing up-regulation of HLA-DR in enterocytes and keratinocytes after allogeneic SCT (Sviland et al. 1988). Notably, we also found increased expression of HLA-DR in patients without histologically proven GvHD and the increase was still present 3 months after SCT.

The increased expression of MHC class II molecules is one of the first signs of immune activation in the intestine of CD patients. Installation of gluten into the jejunum of treated CD patients induced HLA-DR expression in crypt epithelial cells within an hour in one study (Ciclitira et al. 1986), whereas stimulation of coeliac small intestine biopsies with gluten showed induced expression of HLA-DR and ICAM-1 molecules on lamina propria macrophages and epithelial cells before T-cells were seen to migrate to the subepithelial compartment (Maiuri et al. 1996). This expression is probably induced by the secretion of IFN- $\gamma$  by activated Th1 cells (Skoskiewicz et al. 1985), but also IL-4 has been postulated to

increase the expression of MHC class II molecules. The increase in HLA-DR and HLA-DP staining in our studies was associated with increased expression of either IFN- $\gamma$  (in patients with potential CD, CD or untreated food allergy) or IL-4 (in patients with T1D or patients undergoing SCT), supporting the regulatory function of these cytokines in the intestinal immune response.

The expression of MHC class II molecules on normal epithelial cells has been considered to indicate their ability to function as APCs. These functions are more limited than those of professional APCs, but the epithelial cells could be able to activate CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells via classical class II mediated pathways. If class II molecules present antigens from the gut lumen, then their increased expression in disease states observed in this study would lead to an increase in the presentation of the antigens to the gastrointestinal immune system. This may cause further inflammation and even greater presentation of luminal antigens, leading to a vicious circle. How the expression of MHC class II molecules relates to the pathogenesis of the diseases investigated is out of scope for this study, but the increased expression of these molecules certainly indicates that a degree of immune activation is present.

## 4. Cytokine expression in potential CD (I)

We have demonstrated that positive CD autoantibodies and a high density of  $\gamma\delta$ TCR positive cells in the epithelium were associated with the presence of increased densities of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  positive cells in the lamina propria of family members of CD or DH patients with normal duodenal structure. To the best of our knowledge no other report has been published confirming our results, but the involvement of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  in overt CD is well established. Recent reports have further confirmed the involvement of a Th1 deviation in CD. IL-15 has been suggested to promote Th1 activation (Maiuri et al. 2000, Maiuri et al. 2003), whereas increased expression of IL-18 and other markers of Th1 polarisation was documented in another study (Salvati et al. 2002). According to a recent report, T-cells from active coeliac mucosa did not show increased levels of TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA, suggesting that macrophages are the likely source of TNF- $\alpha$  in CD (Forsberg et al. 2002). This is in agreement with our immunohistochemical stainings showing that TNF- $\alpha^+$  cells have a large cytoplasm.

Our data on IL-2 expression in samples of CD and potential CD patients, not showing any difference between the study groups, may be a sign of long-standing immune activation.

In agreement with our results, Forsberg et al. found no increase of IL-2 mRNA in paediatric CD patients (Forsberg et al. 2002).

## Expression of cytokines in family members of patients with CD vs. DH

We observed higher densities of IL-4 positive cells in the lamina propria of family members of DH patients compared to family members of CD patients, whereas it was the opposite for IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells. Diverse factors could explain our findings. The studied family members were few and individual variation may thus affect the results considerably. The family members of DH patients were all adults, and as IL-4 has been found to downregulate the inflammatory response, it could be hypothesised that in adult family members the higher expression of IL-4 may indicate the protective effects of this cytokine. Thirdly, genetic predisposition could promote the development of T-cell response towards a Th2-type. Very few studies have evaluated the cytokine profiles in patients with CD and DH, none of them including family members. A higher expression of IL-4 and lower expression of IFN-y mRNA was reported in small intestinal biopsies of DH patients than in those of CD patients (Smith et al. 1999). The same group reported an increased production of IL-4 by intestinal T-cell lines from patients with DH compared to patients with isolated CD (Hall et al. 2000). These findings have not yet been confirmed by other reports, and the DH patients studied were furthermore all on dapsone medication, which could influence the inflammation response. Nevertheless, the difference in cytokine pattern may influence the clinical manifestation of these two forms of gluten sensitivity.

# Development of overt CD in potential CD patients and cytokine expression

The follow-up of potential CD patients since their small intestinal biopsies were included in our study is now on the average 4.9 years at the end of April 2004. During this time two additional patients have developed clinical CD, one 4 years (patient no 9 in the original study), and the other almost 5 years (patient no 14) after the study biopsy was obtained. Both of these patients showed increased IEL counts and both had endomysium antibodies at the time of the original biopsy. Both patients also expressed high densities of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ positive cells in the lamina propria, similarly as the patient with latent CD (patient no 11). Our results support the theory that overt CD can develop on a previously normal mucosa and that the development may be a long process. The findings on immune activation described in our study were observable years before clinical CD developed. Our finding raises several concerns. Firstly, should patients with potential CD already start a gluten-free diet. This is a well debated question but there is still no official guideline (Kaukinen et al. 2001, Mahadeva et al. 2002, Valletta et al. 2002). A gluten-free diet has a significant impact on the everydaylife, and as the patients are symptom-free the compliance with the gluten-free diet may be poorer than in symptomatic CD patients. However, the continuous gluten intake in CD has been associated with the development of other autoimmune diseases (Ventura et al. 1999, Not et al. 2001), pointing to the importance of gluten-free diet. Increased risk for lymphoma has not been established in the latent form of CD. Clearly, there is a need for a marker that could predict which patients will develop overt CD in the future. None of the markers investigated here could alone predict the progression to clinical CD. To date the presence of endomysium antibodies has been the best positive prognostic factor, as suggested also by other reports (Troncone 1995, Corazza et al. 1996, Troncone et al. 1996b).

#### 5. Activation of the gut immune system in type 1 diabetes (II)

#### Th1/Th2 paradigm in the intestine of T1D patients

We demonstrated an increased density of IL-4 positive cells in the small intestines of T1D patients, regardless of the duodenal architecture, the duration of T1D, or the HLA-genotype. We had expected to find increased expression of IFN- $\gamma$  in the small intestine of T1D patients, as a systemic deviation to Th1-type immunity has been suggested both by experimental animal studies and by studies on peripheral blood cells from T1D patients. To the best of our knowledge no other study has investigated the cytokine expression in the intestines of T1D patients. Intestinal cytokine profiles have been studied in experimental animal models, demonstrating a Th1 skewing (Scott et al. 2002), but as IL-4 predominates in the murine gut under normal conditions in opposite to the IFN- $\gamma$  dominance in humans (Nagata et al. 2000, MacDonald and Monteleone 2001), the results from animal models can not directly be transcribed into human studies. Therefore, we can only compare our results with studies on peripheral blood cells from T1D patients, which do not directly correlate with the cytokine profile in the intestine or in the pancreas. However, the Th1 paradigm in T1D has been questioned also by other studies recently. A decreased IFN- $\gamma$  secretion by PBMC in newly diagnosed T1D patients was reported in two recent studies (Mayer et al. 1999, Kukreja et al. 2002). In addition, Karlsson et al. demonstrated increased numbers of PBMC spontaneously secreting IFN- $\gamma$  in high risk relatives of T1D patients, whereas they did not find any difference between newly diagnosed T1D patients and controls (Karlsson et al. 2000).

Furthermore, the relatives who developed T1D displayed lower numbers of IFN-γ secreting cells than high risk relatives that did not develop the disease during the follow-up did.

Although IL-4 has a potent inhibitory effect on the autoimmune process in the pancreas of NOD mice (Rabinovitch and Suarez-Pinzon 2003), the mechanism by which IL-4 ameliorates autoimmunity is not understood. Recently, one group showed that IL-4 acts upon antigen-presenting dendritic cells to decrease the cytolytic T-cell response, which prevented autoimmunity in transgenic mice that express IL-4 via the human insulin promoter (King et al. 2001). It has, on the other hand, also been proposed that high secretion of IL-4 contributes to the development of beta-cell autoimmunity by enhancing self-antigen presentation (Falcone et al. 2001).

Inflammation in the gut and insulin treatment are factors that may affect the cytokine balance in the gut. The fact that the cytokine profiles did not differ along the progression of T1D does not support the view that insulin treatment would explain our findings. In agreement with our results, Vaarala et al. found increased IL-4 secretion by  $\alpha_4\beta_7$  expressing PBMCs in T1D patients, 5 of whom were diagnosed only one day before sampling. The cytokine profile did not differ among these five children when compared to the other patients in whom blood sampling was performed later, also confirming our results (Vaarala et al., unpublished observations).

We did not perform any double stainings, and can therefore only hypothesise on the origin of IL-4<sup>+</sup> cells. According to their morphology, a proportion of the cells could be macrophages or neutrophils rather than lymphocytes. T-cells have generally been believed to be the main cellular source of IL-4, but recent reports have also demonstrated IL-4 production by intestinal mast cells (Maiuri et al. 1996) and by peripheral blood neutrophils (Brandt et al. 2000). Also the appearance of IL-4<sup>+</sup> neutrophils in the normal human skin is induced by ultraviolet radiation (Teunissen et al. 2002), which supports our observation that IL-4<sup>+</sup> cells could include also other cells than T-cells.

#### Expression of IL-1 $\alpha$ and ICAM-1 in the intestine of T1D patients

Our data on IL-1 $\alpha$  in T1D duodenal mucosa imply a general inflammatory process in the intestines of these patients. IL-1 $\alpha$  is a proinflammatory cytokine, suggested to be a key mediator in inflammatory bowel disease (Youngman et al. 1993). It is produced by mononuclear but not epithelial cells in inflammatory bowel disease (Youngman et al. 1993). This is also true for T1D patients as we did not observe any positive staining in the epithelium. IL-1 $\alpha$  increases the expression of ICAM-1 (Dinarello 2002), which we also

observed in the duodenal mucosa of our T1D patients. The increased ICAM-1 expression may lead to the infiltration of inflammatory cells into the inflamed tissue. This may be one explanation for the higher density of CD3<sup>+</sup> lamina propria lymphocytes observed in our T1D patients, as compared with the other patient groups investigated in this thesis. ICAM-1 is also critical for establishing cell-to-cell contacts between APCs and T-cells, leading to T-cell activation (Springer 1994). Furthermore, IL-1 participates in the regulation of dendritic cells and thus also in antigen presentation. Taken together, the increase in ICAM-1 and IL-1 $\alpha$  in the duodenal mucosa of our T1D patients imply that the innate immune system is also activated in the inflammation process.

#### Coeliac disease in type 1 diabetes

T1D and CD share the same high-risk HLA-DQ2 and DQ8 haplotypes, but this does not alone explain the increase of CD in T1D patients. Wheat gluten is associated with the risk of diabetes in NOD mice and biobreeding rats (Elliott and Martin 1984, Scott 1996). Furthermore, enhanced response to gluten was demonstrated in PBMCs of newly diagnosed T1D patients without CD (Klemetti et al. 1998), and by rectal gluten challenge in another study (Troncone et al. 2003). The enhanced responsiveness to wheat and other dietary proteins in T1D may be a consequence of broken oral tolerance to antigens in general. This dysregulation of oral tolerance could play a critical role in the process leading to the destruction of  $\beta$ -cells and T1D.

In one small series of adolescents with newly diagnosed CD and diabetes autoantibodies, treatment with a gluten-free diet led to the disappearance of the diabetes-associated autoantibodies (Not et al. 2001), suggesting that intestinal inflammation may stimulate beta cell specific immune response.

Our patients with T1D and normal mucosa had suffered from T1D for a longer period of time than the other two T1D groups, which probably reflects the fact that most cases of CD in T1D patients are identified within the first years from the diagnosis of T1D (Barera et al. 2002). Although CD is occasionally identified before diagnosis of T1D, in most cases CD autoantibodies are present at the time of or within two years of T1D diagnosis (Saukkonen et al. 1996). However, we can not conclude what impact the difference in duration of T1D has on the cytokine profiles in the intestine. Our results on IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-4, HLA, and ICAM-1 expression indicate that the duration of T1D does not affect the inflammation response. The findings were not restricted to CD associated HLA-DQ2 risk alleles, suggesting that activation of the gut immune system is associated with T1D as such. None of the T1D

79

patients with potential CD or with normal mucosa has developed clinical CD during the follow-up, which on the average is 4.8 and 5.5 years, respectively, by the end of April 2004. This further confirms that our results are not caused by the higher risk of CD in T1D patients. The densities of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells were, nonetheless, associated with the degree of CD, confirming our results from CD patients in study I. Taken together, our results suggest that the gut immune system has an important role in T1D.

#### 6. Intestinal cytokine expression after stem cell transplantation (SCT) (III)

Our results on increased apoptosis and proliferation of intestinal crypt epithelial cells following allogeneic SCT in children is in agreement with other reports on adult patients (Epstein et al. 1980, Socié et al. 2004). We also demonstrated an increased cell turnover rate in patients without symptomatic clinical or histological GvHD. The persistence of apoptotic and proliferative activity still at 3 months may imply an ongoing process, such as infection or GvHD. However, it is not clear whether the increased cell turnover represents an early stage of intestinal GvHD in humans similar to animal models. The increased epithelial cell turnover may also reflect the injury caused by the conditioning regimen during SCT.

## Th1/Th2 paradigm in GvHD

Along with the expression of the class II HLA-molecules, cytokines, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , are needed for the development of murine GvHD (Hill and Ferrara 2000). In our patients, the densities of IFN- $\gamma$  positive cells in the intraepithelial compartment and IL-1 $\alpha$  positive cells in the lamina propria, but not the expression of TNF- $\alpha$ , were increased in the SCT patients as compared to the normal controls. The densities of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells in the lamina propria of SCT patients were surprisingly low, much lower than in patients with coeliac disease. On the other hand we found increased densities of IL-4 positive cells, especially in the biopsies taken at 3 months, which is in conflict with the proposed murine model of GvHD. Although a Th1 dominance has been implicated in this animal model (Mowat 1997), the role of Th1/Th2 polarisation is incompletely understood and controversial. Early polarisation of donor T-cells by administration of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2, or IL-12 to SCT recipients can prevent acute GvHD. Furthermore, the use of Th1 cytokine-deficient mice as SCT donors still results in GvHD, and some studies have failed to show a beneficial effect of Th2 stimulation (reviewed by Reddy 2003). One study suggested that Th1- and Th2-type cytokines mediate acute GvHD with distinct end-organ targets, and that both responses are

necessary for the development of GvHD (Nikolic et al. 2000). However, to the best of our knowledge, no data on Th1- and Th2-type responses in human intestinal GvHD is yet available.

#### Expression of TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-1 $\alpha$

We demonstrated low densities of TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells in all SCT specimens, also in those with histological GvHD. This is in conflict with data from animal models, that support the role of TNF- $\alpha$  in the pathogenesis of intestinal GvHD (Hill and Ferrara 2000). The majority of data from GvHD derives from murine models that use inbred strains with often limited genetic disparity compared to clinical settings. The conditions in the animal models are highly controlled and the environment is pathogen-free. The use of intensive treatment schedules and immunosuppressive medications in clinical SCT is the biggest difference between the clinical SCT in patients and the experimental SCT in animal models. This certainly has its own impact on the development of GvHD, which might explain differences between our results and those from experimental models.

Nevertheless, our finding is also in conflict with recent human studies. The role of TNF- $\alpha$  in human GvHD was suggested by the fact that monoclonal anti-TNF- $\alpha$  antibody provided some benefit to patients with steroid resistant acute and chronic GvHD (Kobbe et al. 2001, Chiang et al. 2002). An increase in TNF- $\alpha$  levels was also detected in the sera of 84 adult SCT patients during the first 30 posttransplantation days, and an increase in TNF- $\alpha$ levels during the first 11-30 days correlated with the development of major transplantationrelated complications (Schots et al. 2003). The proinflammatory cytokine release was common to all types of complications and no particular pattern was specific for acute GvHD. Another study with serum samples from 13 adult patients found increased levels of TNF- $\alpha$ after transplantation, but no correlation could be observed when TNF- $\alpha$  levels were compared between patients with and without acute GvHD (Visentainer et al. 2003). However, the only study so far to detect TNF- $\alpha$  in situ in duodenal biopsies reported increased expression of TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells in all 95 adult patients with symptoms of acute GvHD (Socié et al. 2004). Of these, 71 (73%) had histological GvHD, and the duodenal biopsies were taken within 100 days of SCT from 78 patients. Our paediatric patients were enrolled in a prospective study and most of the patients did not have symptoms of intestinal GvHD, nor did they have histologically proven GvHD as the above mentioned studies (Schots et al. 2003, Visentainer et al. 2003, Socié et al. 2004).

Still, we found increased densities of IL-1 $\alpha^+$  cells in the SCT patients. The increase was higher at 6 weeks compared to 3 months after SCT, suggesting that the initial damage produced by the conditioning regimen has resolved if no GvHD is developing. Mice receiving IL-1 after allogeneic SCT have increased mortality, probably due to an accelerated form of the disease (Reddy 2003). Although administration of IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) reduces GvHD mortality in animal models, a recent randomised human study failed to demonstrate any benefit against acute GvHD (Antin et al. 2002). This suggests that IL-1 has a pleiotropic role in the disease and may be synergistic with TNF- $\alpha$ .

Taken together, our results confirm the fact that only little is known about the normal course of intestinal immunopathology during the early phases after stem cell transplantation. It is unlikely that the mechanisms of murine and human GvHD differ completely, but the impact of the different cytokines and their suggested contribution to the target organ damage may differ. This might be the reason why clinical trials with specific cytokine antibodies have not yielded as good results as would have been predicted from the murine models (Bruner and Farag 2003).

#### 7. Th1 dominance in food allergy (IV)

Our results on increased numbers of IFN- $\gamma$  expressing cells in the lamina propria of children with delayed-type food allergy indicates a Th1-dominant response. The increased IFN- $\gamma$  is in agreement with an earlier study (Hauer et al. 1997). However, since the start of our study, there have been a few reports on intestinal cytokines in food allergy, all suggesting other Thtype responses. Beyer et al. showed that cow's milk protein specific T-cells from the duodenum of patients with cow's milk gastroenteritis with eosinophilia expressed a Th2 cytokine profile (Beyer et al. 2002). Importantly, in that study only 2 of the 10 allergic children had elevated specific IgE levels. In another study, reduction of both TGF- $\beta$  and its type 1 receptor was detected in the mucosa of 28 infants with food protein-induced enterocolitis (Chung et al. 2002). Unfortunately, the authors did not examine the expression of IL-4 or IFN-y. Recently, Perez-Machado et al. did not find any significant Th1/Th2 skewing by flow cytometry amongst duodenal lymphocytes of 30 children with food allergy when compared to controls (Perez-Machado et al. 2003). The study included both IgE- (8 patients) and non-IgE mediated reactions (22 patients). In agreement with the previous study, they found reduced amounts of TGF-β1 lymphocytes both in the intraepithelial compartment and in the lamina propria. Thus, recent studies suggest that the dominant mucosal abnormality in food allergy is not a Th1 or Th2 deviation, but impaired generation of Th3 cells. Regulatory Th3 cells (see Table 1) may be deficient at the site of antigen entry and thus allow an uncontrolled immune reaction to food antigens to take place.

# Morphology of the duodenal bulb

The patchy villous atrophy has been considered one of the characteristics of food proteininduced enteropathy (Sampson 1999). However, the intestinal damage and the intensity of gastrointestinal symptoms have been shown to be in close association (McCalla et al. 1980). When intestinal symptoms are mild, like in the children in the present study, the intestinal changes have been shown to be minimal. Severity of mucosal deterioration in patients with food allergy has also been shown to decrease with age. Studies showing patchy lesions or partial villous atrophy have usually involved younger patients, e.g. Hauer et al. studied children aged 3-21 months (Hauer et al. 1997), and Chung et al. studied infants aged 24 days-8 months with cow's milk-sensitive enteropathy (Chung et al. 1999).

Although all but one of the patients with food allergy in this study, and one third of the patients in a previous study (Kokkonen et al. 2001b), presented with lymphonodular hyperplasia of the duodenal bulb, it can not be considered specific for this condition. In the earlier work lymphonodular hyperplasia was also found occasionally among healthy controls and in one patient with coeliac disease (Kokkonen et al. 2001b). It may be speculated that in conditions with lymphonodular hyperplasia, the mucosa has failed to downregulate or suppress the immune responses against luminal antigens, such as food proteins.

# CONCLUSIONS

The present study evaluated the expression of cytokines and immunologic markers in immunologically mediated inflammations in human small intestine *in vivo*. Based on the results presented in this thesis, the main conclusions are:

1) Inflammatory markers can be detected in potential CD long before alterations in the villous structure take place. The increased numbers of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  expressing cells in latent CD patients indicate that a skewing towards a Th1-type response manifests already at the infiltrative stage of CD.

2) Increased densities of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells were associated with CD, also in T1D patients with CD or potential CD. In this respect T1D patients do not differ from other CD patients.

3) Signs of immune activation in the small intestine of all patients with T1D supports the hypothesis that a link exists between the gut immune system and type 1 diabetes. The increased density of IL-4 positive cells in T1D patients suggests that the immune response has an unexpected Th2 dominance.

4) The increased cell turnover rate in SCT patients without symptomatic clinical or histological GvHD, may represent an early stage of intestinal GvHD in humans similar to animal models. The proposed cytokine expression of animal GvHD was not observed in our patients undergoing SCT, which may reflect the immunosuppressive medication in SCT patients.

5) Increased expression of IFN- $\gamma$  in patients with untreated food allergy suggest an association of Th1 delayed type immune reaction with food allergy enteropathy.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Research Laboratory of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents at the University of Helsinki. I wish to express my sincere gratitude to Emeritus Professor Jaakko Perheentupa and to Professor Martti Siimes, the former and current Heads of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki, for providing excellent research facilities.

I am most grateful to the patients who participated in these studies and made this work possible.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Erkki Savilahti, for introducing me to the world of gastrointestinal immunology and for teaching me the basic principles of scientific reasoning and writing. His vast knowledge and experience on both clinical and scientific matters and crisp logical thinking have been the driving force of this study. In addition, his generosity, patience and encouragement have been invaluable to me. I also want to thank him, as the Head of the Hospital Research Laboratory, for providing excellent research facilities at my disposal.

I am most grateful to Professor Seppo Meri and Docent Juhani Grönlund for critically reviewing the manuscript of this thesis and for their valuable comments. Professor Seppo Meri is also thanked for his devoted time and constructive advises during the years as a member of my thesis committee, as well as for the unexpected linguistic revision of this thesis. I am grateful to Docent Sture Anderssson, the other member of my thesis committee, for his interest in my research project and everlasting enthusiasm.

Professor Markku Heinkinheimo is cordially thanked for collaboration on intestinal GATA expression, and more importantly, for his continuous support and encouragement toward young scientists, and for providing a forum for research and education, the Paediatric Graduate School at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents.

This work would not have been possible without collaboration with several distinguished scientists. Andras Arató, Jennifer Garioch, Jorma Ilonen, Riitta Karikoski, Ilkka Ketola, Professor Jorma Kokkonen, Harry Lindahl, Päivi Pihkala, Professor Ulla Saarinen-Pihkala, and Gabor Veres are gratefully acknowledged for pleasant and fruitful collaboration. Professor Outi Vaarala is warmly thanked for collaboration, endless enthusiasm and excellent help in scientific writing. Finally, I highly appreciate the collaboration with Mervi Taskinen, who, despite her duties as a researcher, clinician, and mother of three, always found the time for me and my endless questions.

I am grateful to Anu and Jussi Kantele for enthusiastic guidance into the world of scientific research during my early years as a student. Jussi is also warmly thanked for the most enjoyable company during meetings abroad.

Ilkka Julkunen, National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, is acknowledged for the kind gift of IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  cDNAs.

Carol Norris is warmly thanked for linguistic revision of the original publications I and IV.

I wish to thank the personnel at the Research Laboratory for all the help during these years. Special thanks are due to Annikki Sarnesto for continuous support, Terttu Louhio for teaching me the practical skills in laboratory work in general, Sirkku Kristiansen for teaching me the basics in immunohistochemistry and for cutting hundreds of slides, Erja Karjalainen for practical help in various matters, Ritva Löfman for teaching me the basic methods in molecular biology, and Virpi Ahokas for the valuable help with the ISEL method. Harry Lybeck is warmly thanked for the skilful RT-PCR measurements.

I owe my warmest thanks to my past and present colleagues and friends at the Research Laboratory for unselfish help in everyday research matters, and for making the work enjoyable even at times of frustration. Thank you Marjut Otala, Krista Erkkilä, Virve Pentikäinen, Minna Eriksson, Ilkka Ketola, Otto Helve, Terhi Ahola, Taina Härkönen, Susanna Mannisto, Nina Linder, Henrikka Aito, Jaakko Patrakka, and Matti Ronkainen! Special thanks are due to my room-mates Emma Pohjavuori and Annaleena Anttila for friendship and endless discussions on everything and anything, to Eeva Martelin, Tiina Asikainen, Laura Suomalainen and Sanne Kiiveri for friendship and enjoyable activities outside the lab, and to Anna-Liisa Levonen and Mika Saksela for help with issues on molecular biology.

I want to thank my friends, especially Maria Blomqvist and Ulla Wartiovaara-Kautto, for all the support and enjoyable moments spent together.

My parents Christina and Rune Westerholm are sincerely thanked for their love, care and belief in me. I also want to thank them for all the practical help during this last year, especially for taking care of Oskar. My dearest sister Ann and brother Thomas are thanked for their love and for being there for me. My sister-in-law Karen and brother-in-law Lasse and my nieces and nephews Nadja, Wilhelm, Fredrik and Linn are warmly thanked for bringing such much joy into our family's life. My parents-in-law Leena and Kalevi Ormio are thanked for their continuos support, interest in my work, and especially for taking care of Oskar.

Finally, my deepest thanks are due to my dear husband Antti for unconditional love and support, and especially for taking such good care of our beloved son Oskar and me during the last phase of this project. Thank you, Antti and Oskar, for bringing so much joy and happiness into my life. Sine qua non.

The financial support of the Finnish Medical Association, the Sigrid Jusélius Foundation, the Foundation of the Friends of the University Children's Hospitals in Finland, the Finnish Medical Society Duodecim, the University of Helsinki, and the Research Funds of Helsinki University Central Hospital, is gratefully acknowledged.

Helsingfors, 17<sup>th</sup> August 2004

# REFERENCES

Agace WW, Roberts AI, Wu L, Greineder C, Ebert EC and Parker CM. Human intestinal lamina propria and intraepithelial lymphocytes express receptors specific for chemokines induced by inflammation. *Eur J Immunol* 30:819-826, 2000

Alam R and Gorska M. Lymphocytes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 111:S476-485, 2003

al-Dawoud A, Nakshabendi I, Foulis A and Mowat AM. Immunohistochemical analysis of mucosal gamma-interferon production in coeliac disease. *Gut* 33:1482-1486, 1992

André F, Pène J and André C. Interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells from food-allergic patients. *Allergy* 51:350-355, 1996

Andreakos E, Foxwell B, Brennan F, Maini R and Feldmann M. Cytokines and anti-cytokine biologicals in autoimmunity: present and future. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 13:299-313, 2002

Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Galli G, Beltrame C, Romagnani P, Manetti R, Romagnani S and Maggi E. Assessment of chemokine receptor expression by human Th1 and Th2 cells in vitro and in vivo. *J Leukoc Biol* 65:691-699, 1999

Antin JH, Weisdorf D, Neuberg D, Nicklow R, Clouthier S, Lee SJ, Alyea E, McGarigle C, Blazar BR, Sonis S, Soiffer RJ and Ferrara JL. Interleukin-1 blockade does not prevent acute graft-versus-host disease: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Blood* 100:3479-3482, 2002

Arató A, Savilahti E, Tainio VM, Verkasalo M and Klemola T. HLA-DR expression, natural killer cells and IgE containing cells in the jejunal mucosa of coeliac children. *Gut* 28:988-994, 1987

Arató A, Hacsek G and Savilahti E. Immunohistochemical findings in the jejunal mucosa of patients with coeliac disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl* 228:3-10, 1998

Arend WP and Dayer JM. Cytokines and cytokine inhibitors or antagonists in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 33:305-315, 1990

Arnaud-Battandier F, Cerf-Bensussan N, Amsellem R and Schmitz J. Increased HLA-DR expression by enterocytes in children with celiac disease. *Gastroenterology* 91:1206-1212, 1986

Arranz E, Bode J, Kingstone K and Ferguson A. Intestinal antibody pattern of coeliac disease: association with gamma/delta T cell receptor expression by intraepithelial lymphocytes, and other indices of potential coeliac disease. *Gut* 35:476-482, 1994

Atkinson MA and Maclaren NK. The pathogenesis of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med* 331:1428-1436, 1994

Autschbach F, Braunstein J, Helmke B, Zuna I, Schurmann G, Niemir ZI, Wallich R, Otto HF and Meuer SC. In situ expression of interleukin-10 in noninflamed human gut and in inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Pathol* 153:121-130, 1998

Bach JF. Autoimmune diseases as the loss of active "self-control". Ann N Y Acad Sci 998:161-177, 2003

Barera G, Bonfanti R, Viscardi M, Bazzigaluppi E, Calori G, Meschi F, Bianchi C and Chiumello G. Occurrence of celiac disease after onset of type 1 diabetes: a 6-year prospective longitudinal study. *Pediatrics* 109:833-838, 2002

Beckett CG, Dell'Olio D, Kontakou M, Przemioslo RT, Rosen-Bronson S and Ciclitira PJ. Analysis of interleukin-4 and interleukin-10 and their association with the lymphocytic infiltrate in the small intestine of patients with coeliac disease. *Gut* 39:818-823, 1996

Bellmann K, Kolb H, Rastegar S, Jee P and Scott FW. Potential risk of oral insulin with adjuvant for the prevention of Type I diabetes: a protocol effective in NOD mice may exacerbate disease in BB rats. *Diabetologia* 41:844-847, 1998

Berlin C, Berg EL, Briskin MJ, Andrew DP, Kilshaw PJ, Holzmann B, Weissman IL, Hamann A and Butcher EC. Alpha 4 beta 7 integrin mediates lymphocyte binding to the mucosal vascular addressin MAdCAM-1. *Cell* 74:185-185, 1993

Berman MA, Sandborg CI, Wang Z, Imfeld KL, Zaldivar F, Jr., Dadufalza V and Buckingham BA. Decreased IL-4 production in new onset type I insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Immunol* 157:4690-4696, 1996

Beyer K, Castro R, Birnbaum A, Benkov K, Pittman N and Sampson HA. Human milk-specific mucosal lymphocytes of the gastrointestinal tract display a TH2 cytokine profile. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 109:707-713, 2002

Blanas E, Carbone FR, Allison J, Miller JF and Heath WR. Induction of autoimmune diabetes by oral administration of autoantigen. *Science* 274:1707-1709, 1996

Boismenu R and Havran WL. Modulation of epithelial cell growth by intraepithelial gamma delta T cells. *Science* 266:1253-1255, 1994

Boismenu R, Feng L, Xia YY, Chang JC and Havran WL. Chemokine expression by intraepithelial gamma delta T cells. Implications for the recruitment of inflammatory cells to damaged epithelia. *J Immunol* 157:985-992, 1996

Bonecchi R, Bianchi G, Bordignon PP, D'Ambrosio D, Lang R, Borsatti A, Sozzani S, Allavena P, Gray PA, Mantovani A and Sinigaglia F. Differential expression of chemokine receptors and chemotactic responsiveness of type 1 T helper cells (Th1s) and Th2s. *J Exp Med* 187:129-134, 1998

Borish LC and Steinke JW. Cytokines and chemokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol 111:S460-475, 2003

Boyd AW, Wawryk SO, Burns GF and Fecondo JV. Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) has a central role in cell-cell contact-mediated immune mechanisms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 85:3095-3099, 1988

Brandt E, Woerly G, Younes AB, Loiseau S and Capron M. IL-4 production by human polymorphonuclear neutrophils. *J Leukoc Biol* 68:125-130, 2000

Brandtzaeg P, Bosnes V, Halstensen TS, Scott H, Sollid LM and Valnes KN. T lymphocytes in human gut epithelium preferentially express the alpha/beta antigen receptor and are often CD45/UCHL1-positive. *Scand J Immunol* 30:123-128, 1989a

Brandtzaeg P, Halstensen TS, Kett K, Krajci P, Kvale D, Rognum TO, Scott H and Sollid LM. Immunobiology and immunopathology of human gut mucosa: humoral immunity and intraepithelial lymphocytes. *Gastroenterology* 97:1562-1584, 1989b

Brenner MB, McLean J, Dialynas DP, Strominger JL, Smith JA, Owen FL, Seidman JG, Ip S, Rosen F and Krangel MS. Identification of a putative second T-cell receptor. *Nature* 322:145-149, 1986

Briskin M, Winsor-Hines D, Shyjan A, Cochran N, Bloom S, Wilson J, McEvoy LM, Butcher EC, Kassam N, Mackay CR, Newman W and Ringler DJ. Human mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 is preferentially expressed in intestinal tract and associated lymphoid tissue. *Am J Pathol* 151:97-110, 1997

Bruner RJ and Farag SS. Monoclonal antibodies for the prevention and treatment of graft-versus-host disease. *Semin Oncol* 30:509-519, 2003

Campbell JJ, Haraldsen G, Pan J, Rottman J, Qin S, Ponath P, Andrew DP, Warnke R, Ruffing N, Kassam N, Wu L and Butcher EC. The chemokine receptor CCR4 in vascular recognition by cutaneous but not intestinal memory T cells. *Nature* 400:776-780, 1999

Carlsson AK, Axelsson IE, Borulf SK, Bredberg AC, Lindberg BA, Sjöberg KG and Ivarsson SA. Prevalence of IgA-antiendomysium and IgA-antigliadin autoantibodies at diagnosis of insulindependent diabetes mellitus in Swedish children and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 103:1248-1252, 1999

Carol M, Lambrechts A, Van Gossum A, Libin M, Goldman M and Mascart-Lemone F. Spontaneous secretion of interferon gamma and interleukin 4 by human intraepithelial and lamina propria gut lymphocytes [see comments]. *Gut* 42:643-649, 1998

Catassi C, Ratsch IM, Fabiani E, Rossini M, Bordicchia F, Candela F, Coppa GV and Giorgi PL. Coeliac disease in the year 2000: exploring the iceberg. *Lancet* 343:200-203, 1994

Cavallo MG, Fava D, Monetini L, Barone F and Pozzilli P. Cell-mediated immune response to beta casein in recent-onset insulin-dependent diabetes: implications for disease pathogenesis. *Lancet* 348:926-928, 1996

Cepek KL, Shaw SK, Parker CM, Russell GJ, Morrow JS, Rimm DL and Brenner MB. Adhesion between epithelial cells and T lymphocytes mediated by E-cadherin and the alpha E beta 7 integrin. *Nature* 372:190-193, 1994

Cerretti DP, Kozlosky CJ, Mosley B, Nelson N, Van Ness K, Greenstreet TA, March CJ, Kronheim SR, Druck T, Cannizzaro LA and et al. Molecular cloning of the interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. *Science* 256:97-100, 1992

Chen W and Wahl SM. TGF-beta: the missing link in CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell-mediated immunosuppression. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 14:85-89, 2003

Chen Y, Kuchroo VK, Inobe J, Hafler DA and Weiner HL. Regulatory T cell clones induced by oral tolerance: suppression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Science* 265:1237-1240, 1994

Chiang KY, Abhyankar S, Bridges K, Godder K and Henslee-Downey JP. Recombinant human tumor necrosis factor receptor fusion protein as complementary treatment for chronic graft-versus-host disease. *Transplantation* 73:665-667, 2002

Chung HL, Hwang JB, Kwon YD, Park MH, Shin WJ and Park JB. Deposition of eosinophil-granule major basic protein and expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in the mucosa of the small intestine in infants with cow's milk-sensitive enteropathy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 103:1195-1201, 1999

Chung HL, Hwang JB, Park JJ and Kim SG. Expression of transforming growth factor beta1, transforming growth factor type I and II receptors, and TNF-alpha in the mucosa of the small intestine in infants with food protein-induced enterocolitis syndrome. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 109:150-154, 2002

Ciccocioppo R, Di Sabatino A, Parroni R, Muzi P, D'Alo S, Ventura T, Pistoia MA, Cifone MG and Corazza GR. Increased enterocyte apoptosis and Fas-Fas ligand system in celiac disease. *Am J Clin Pathol* 115:494-503, 2001

Ciclitira PJ, Nelufer JM, Ellis HJ and Evans DJ. The effect of gluten on HLA-DR in the small intestinal epithelium of patients with coeliac disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 63:101-104, 1986

Collin P, Mäki M, Keyriläinen O, Hällström O, Reunala T and Pasternack A. Selective IgA deficiency and coeliac disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 27:367-371, 1992

Collin P, Helin H, Mäki M, Hällström O and Karvonen AL. Follow-up of patients positive in reticulin and gliadin antibody tests with normal small-bowel biopsy findings. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 28:595-598, 1993

Collin P, Reunala T, Rasmussen M, Kyronpalo S, Pehkonen E, Laippala P and Mäki M. High incidence and prevalence of adult coeliac disease. Augmented diagnostic approach. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 32:1129-1133, 1997

Corazza GR, Andreani ML, Biagi F, Bonvicini F, Bernardi M and Gasbarrini G. Clinical, pathological, and antibody pattern of latent celiac disease: report of three adult cases. *Am J Gastroenterol* 91:2203-2207, 1996

Daig R, Rogler G, Aschenbrenner E, Vogl D, Falk W, Gross V, Scholmerich J and Andus T. Human intestinal epithelial cells secrete interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and interleukin-8 but not interleukin-1 or interleukin-6. *Gut* 46:350-358, 2000

Defrance T, Vanbervliet B, Briere F, Durand I, Rousset F and Banchereau J. Interleukin 10 and transforming growth factor beta cooperate to induce anti-CD40-activated naive human B cells to secrete immunoglobulin A. *J Exp Med* 175:671-682, 1992

Del Prete G, Maggi E, Parronchi P, Chretien I, Tiri A, Macchia D, Ricci M, Banchereau J, De Vries J and Romagnani S. IL-4 is an essential factor for the IgE synthesis induced in vitro by human T cell clones and their supernatants. *J Immunol* 140:4193-4198, 1988

Delves PJ and Roitt IM. The immune system. First of two parts. N Engl J Med 343:37-49, 2000a

Delves PJ and Roitt IM. The immune system. Second of two parts. N Engl J Med 343:108-117, 2000b

Dieterich W, Ehnis T, Bauer M, Donner P, Volta U, Riecken EO and Schuppan D. Identification of tissue transglutaminase as the autoantigen of celiac disease [see comments]. *Nat Med* 3:797-801, 1997

Dinarello CA. Biology of interleukin 1. Faseb J 2:108-115, 1988

Dinarello CA. The IL-1 family and inflammatory diseases. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 20:S1-13, 2002

Doyle C and Strominger JL. Interaction between CD4 and class II MHC molecules mediates cell adhesion. *Nature* 330:256-259, 1987

Dwinell MB, Lugering N, Eckmann L and Kagnoff MF. Regulated production of interferon-inducible T-cell chemoattractants by human intestinal epithelial cells. *Gastroenterology* 120:49-59, 2001

Elliott RB and Martin JM. Dietary protein: a trigger of insulin-dependent diabetes in the BB rat? *Diabetologia* 26:297-299, 1984

Elliott RB, Reddy SN, Bibby NJ and Kida K. Dietary prevention of diabetes in the non-obese diabetic mouse. *Diabetologia* 31:62-64, 1988

Epstein RJ, McDonald GB, Sale GE, Shulman HM and Thomas ED. The diagnostic accuracy of the rectal biopsy in acute graft-versus-host disease: a prospective study of thirteen patients. *Gastroenterology* 78:764-771, 1980

Erle DJ, Briskin MJ, Butcher EC, Garcia-Pardo A, Lazarovits AI and Tidswell M. Expression and function of the MAdCAM-1 receptor, integrin alpha 4 beta 7, on human leukocytes. *J Immunol* 153:517-528, 1994

ESPGHAN. Diagnostic criteria for food allergy with predominantly intestinal symptoms. The European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition Working Group for the Diagnostic Criteria for Food Allergy. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 14:108-112, 1992

Falcone M, Yeung B, Tucker L, Rodriguez E, Krahl T and Sarvetnick N. IL-4 triggers autoimmune diabetes by increasing self-antigen presentation within the pancreatic Islets. *Clin Immunol* 98:190-199, 2001

Farrar MA and Schreiber RD. The molecular cell biology of interferon-gamma and its receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* 11:571-611, 1993

Farrell RJ and Kelly CP. Celiac sprue. N Engl J Med 346:180-188, 2002

Farstad IN, Halstensen TS, Lien B, Kilshaw PJ, Lazarovits AI, Brandtzaeg P and Lazarovitz AI. Distribution of beta 7 integrins in human intestinal mucosa and organized gut-associated lymphoid tissue. *Immunology* 89:227-237, 1996

Farstad IN, Carlsen H, Morton HC and Brandtzaeg P. Immunoglobulin A cell distribution in the human small intestine: phenotypic and functional characteristics. *Immunology* 101:354-363, 2000

Fasano A, Berti I, Gerarduzzi T, Not T, Colletti RB, Drago S, Elitsur Y, Green PH, Guandalini S, Hill ID, Pietzak M, Ventura A, Thorpe M, Kryszak D, Fornaroli F, Wasserman SS, Murray JA and Horvath K. Prevalence of celiac disease in at-risk and not-at-risk groups in the United States: a large multicenter study. *Arch Intern Med* 163:286-292, 2003

Ferguson A and Murray D. Quantitation of intraepithelial lymphocytes in human jejunum. Gut 12:988-994, 1971

Ferguson A, Arranz E and O'Mahony S. Clinical and pathological spectrum of coeliac disease--active, silent, latent, potential [see comments]. *Gut* 34:150-151, 1993

Ferrara JL and Deeg HJ. Graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med 324:667-674, 1991

Fischer A, Durandy A, Sterkers G and Griscelli C. Role of the LFA-1 molecule in cellular interactions required for antibody production in humans. *J Immunol* 136:3198-3203, 1986

Forsberg G, Hernell O, Melgar S, Israelsson A, Hammarström S and Hammarström ML. Paradoxical coexpression of proinflammatory and down-regulatory cytokines in intestinal T cells in childhood celiac disease. *Gastroenterology* 123:667-678, 2002

Fry L, Seah PP, Riches DJ and Hoffbrand AV. Clearance of skin lesions in dermatitis herpetiformis after gluten withdrawal. *Lancet* 1:288-291, 1973

Fujihashi K, Taguchi T, Aicher WK, McGhee JR, Bluestone JA, Eldridge JH and Kiyono H. Immunoregulatory functions for murine intraepithelial lymphocytes: gamma/delta T cell receptorpositive (TCR+) T cells abrogate oral tolerance, while alpha/beta TCR+ T cells provide B cell help. *J Exp Med* 175:695-707, 1992

Fukaura H, Kent SC, Pietrusewicz MJ, Khoury SJ, Weiner HL and Hafler DA. Induction of circulating myelin basic protein and proteolipid protein-specific transforming growth factor-beta1-secreting Th3 T cells by oral administration of myelin in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Clin Invest* 98:70-77, 1996

Gavrieli Y, Sherman Y and Ben-Sasson SA. Identification of programmed cell death in situ via specific labeling of nuclear DNA fragmentation. *J Cell Biol* 119:493-501, 1992

Gerdes J, Schwab U, Lemke H and Stein H. Production of a mouse monoclonal antibody reactive with a human nuclear antigen associated with cell proliferation. *Int J Cancer* 31:13-20, 1983

Gibson UE, Heid CA and Williams PM. A novel method for real time quantitative RT-PCR. *Genome Res* 6:995-1001, 1996

Gillett HR, Arnott ID, McIntyre M, Campbell S, Dahele A, Priest M, Jackson R and Ghosh S. Successful infliximab treatment for steroid-refractory celiac disease: a case report. *Gastroenterology* 122:800-805, 2002

Golder JP and Doe WF. Isolation and preliminary characterization of human intestinal macrophages. *Gastroenterology* 84:795-802, 1983

Gratwohl A, Passweg J, Gerber I and Tyndall A. Stem cell transplantation for autoimmune diseases. *Best Pract Res Clin Haematol* 14:755-776, 2001

Greco L, Romino R, Coto I, Di Cosmo N, Percopo S, Maglio M, Paparo F, Gasperi V, Limongelli MG, Cotichini R, D'Agate C, Tinto N, Sacchetti L, Tosi R and Stazi MA. The first large population based twin study of coeliac disease. *Gut* 50:624-628, 2002

Groux H, O'Garra A, Bigler M, Rouleau M, Antonenko S, de Vries JE and Roncarolo MG. A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. *Nature* 389:737-742, 1997

Guy-Grand D and Vassalli P. Gut intraepithelial lymphocyte development. *Curr Opin Immunol* 14:255-259, 2002

Hall RP, 3rd, Smith AD and Streilein RD. Increased production of IL-4 by gut T-cell lines from patients with dermatitis herpetiformis compared to patients with isolated gluten-sensitive enteropathy. *Dig Dis Sci* 45:2036-2043, 2000

Halstensen TS, Scott H and Brandtzaeg P. Intraepithelial T cells of the TcR gamma/delta+ CD8- and V delta 1/J delta 1+ phenotypes are increased in coeliac disease. *Scand J Immunol* 30:665-672, 1989

Hansen D, Bennedbæk FN, Hansen LK, Høier-Madsen M, Hegedüs LS, Jacobsen BB and Husby S. High prevalence of coeliac disease in Danish children with type I diabetes mellitus. *Acta Paediatr* 90:1238-1243, 2001

Harris DP, Haynes L, Sayles PC, Duso DK, Eaton SM, Lepak NM, Johnson LL, Swain SL and Lund FE. Reciprocal regulation of polarized cytokine production by effector B and T cells. *Nat Immunol* 1:475-482, 2000

Hauer AC, Breese EJ, Walker-Smith JA and MacDonald TT. The frequency of cells secreting interferon-gamma and interleukin-4, -5, and -10 in the blood and duodenal mucosa of children with cow's milk hypersensitivity. *Pediatr Res* 42:629-638, 1997

Hauer AC, Bajaj-Elliott M, Williams CB, Walker-Smith JA and MacDonald TT. An analysis of interferon gamma, IL-4, IL-5 and IL-10 production by ELISPOT and quantitative reverse transcriptase-PCR in human Peyer's patches. *Cytokine* 10:627-634, 1998

Hayday AC. [gamma][delta] cells: a right time and a right place for a conserved third way of protection. *Annu Rev Immunol* 18:975-1026, 2000

Heid CA, Stevens J, Livak KJ and Williams PM. Real time quantitative PCR. *Genome Res* 6:986-994, 1996

Helm RM and Burks AW. Mechanisms of food allergy. Curr Opin Immunol 12:647-653, 2000

Hershberg RM and Mayer LF. Antigen processing and presentation by intestinal epithelial cells - polarity and complexity. *Immunol Today* 21:123-128, 2000

Hervonen K, Karell K, Holopainen P, Collin P, Partanen J and Reunala T. Concordance of dermatitis herpetiformis and celiac disease in monozygous twins. *J Invest Dermatol* 115:990-993, 2000

Hill DJ, Ball G, Hosking CS and Wood PR. Gamma-interferon production in cow milk allergy. *Allergy* 48:75-80, 1993

Hill GR and Ferrara JL. The primacy of the gastrointestinal tract as a target organ of acute graft-versus-host disease: rationale for the use of cytokine shields in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Blood* 95:2754-2759, 2000

Hill N and Sarvetnick N. Cytokines: promoters and dampeners of autoimmunity. *Curr Opin Immunol* 14:791-797, 2002

Hill SM, Milla PJ, Bottazzo GF and Mirakian R. Autoimmune enteropathy and colitis: is there a generalised autoimmune gut disorder? *Gut* 32:36-42, 1991

Ho IC and Glimcher LH. Transcription: tantalizing times for T cells. Cell 109:S109-120, 2002

Hoefakker S, Boersma WJ and Claassen E. Detection of human cytokines in situ using antibody and probe based methods. *J Immunol Methods* 185:149-175, 1995

Holler E, Kolb HJ, Moller A, Kempeni J, Liesenfeld S, Pechumer H, Lehmacher W, Ruckdeschel G, Gleixner B, Riedner C and et al. Increased serum levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha precede major complications of bone marrow transplantation. *Blood* 75:1011-1016, 1990

Holler E, Kolb HJ, Mittermuller J, Kaul M, Ledderose G, Duell T, Seeber B, Schleuning M, Hintermeier-Knabe R, Ertl B and et al. Modulation of acute graft-versus-host-disease after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation by tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF alpha) release in the course of pretransplant conditioning: role of conditioning regimens and prophylactic application of a monoclonal antibody neutralizing human TNF alpha (MAK 195F). *Blood* 86:890-899, 1995

Holm K, Mäki M, Savilahti E, Lipsanen V, Laippala P and Koskimies S. Intraepithelial gamma delta T-cell-receptor lymphocytes and genetic susceptibility to coeliac disease. *Lancet* 339:1500-1503, 1992

Holm K, Savilahti E, Koskimies S, Lipsanen V and Mäki M. Immunohistochemical changes in the jejunum in first degree relatives of patients with coeliac disease and the coeliac disease marker DQ genes. HLA class II antigen expression, interleukin-2 receptor positive cells and dividing crypt cells. *Gut* 35:55-60, 1994

Holt PG and Jones CA. The development of the immune system during pregnancy and early life. *Allergy* 55:688-697, 2000

Honeyman MC, Coulson BS, Stone NL, Gellert SA, Goldwater PN, Steele CE, Couper JJ, Tait BD, Colman PG and Harrison LC. Association between rotavirus infection and pancreatic islet autoimmunity in children at risk of developing type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 49:1319-1324, 2000

Husby S, Mestecky J, Moldoveanu Z, Holland S and Elson CO. Oral tolerance in humans. T cell but not B cell tolerance after antigen feeding. *J Immunol* 152:4663-4670, 1994

Hänninen A, Salmi M, Simell O and Jalkanen S. Endothelial cell-binding properties of lymphocytes infiltrated into human diabetic pancreas. Implications for pathogenesis of IDDM. *Diabetes* 42:1656-1662, 1993

Hänninen A, Salmi M, Simell O and Jalkanen S. Mucosa-associated (beta 7-integrinhigh) lymphocytes accumulate early in the pancreas of NOD mice and show aberrant recirculation behavior. *Diabetes* 45:1173-1180, 1996

Hänninen A, Jaakkola I and Jalkanen S. Mucosal addressin is required for the development of diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. *J Immunol* 160:6018-6025, 1998

Ilonen J, Reijonen H, Herva E, Sjoroos M, Iitia A, Lovgren T, Veijola R, Knip M and Akerblom HK. Rapid HLA-DQB1 genotyping for four alleles in the assessment of risk for IDDM in the Finnish population. The Childhood Diabetes in Finland (DiMe) Study Group. *Diabetes Care* 19:795-800, 1996

Iltanen S, Holm K, Ashorn M, Ruuska T, Laippala P and Mäki M. Changing jejunal gamma delta T cell receptor (TCR)-bearing intraepithelial lymphocyte density in coeliac disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 117:51-55, 1999

Iqbal N, Salzman D, Lazenby AJ and Wilcox CM. Diagnosis of gastrointestinal graft-versus-host disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 95:3034-3038, 2000

James SP and Kiyono H. Gastrointestinal lamina propria T cells. In: Ogra PL, Mestecky J, Lamm ME, Strober W, Bienenstock J and McGhee JR (eds.). Mucosal Immunology. Academic Press, San Diego, 1999, pp 381-396

Johnston SD, Watson RG, McMillan SA, Sloan J and Love AH. Prevalence of coeliac disease in Northern Ireland. *Lancet* 350:1370, 1997

Jonuleit H, Schmitt E, Stassen M, Tuettenberg A, Knop J and Enk AH. Identification and functional characterization of human CD4(+)CD25(+) T cells with regulatory properties isolated from peripheral blood. *J Exp Med* 193:1285-1294, 2001

Järvinen TT, Kaukinen K, Laurila K, Kyrönpalo S, Rasmussen M, Mäki M, Korhonen H, Reunala T and Collin P. Intraepithelial lymphocytes in celiac disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 98:1332-1337, 2003

Kallmann BA, Huther M, Tubes M, Feldkamp J, Bertrams J, Gries FA, Lampeter EF and Kolb H. Systemic bias of cytokine production toward cell-mediated immune regulation in IDDM and toward humoral immunity in Graves' disease. *Diabetes* 46:237-243, 1997

Kamogawa Y, Minasi LA, Carding SR, Bottomly K and Flavell RA. The relationship of IL-4- and IFN gamma-producing T cells studied by lineage ablation of IL-4-producing cells. *Cell* 75:985-995, 1993

Karjalainen J, Martin JM, Knip M, Ilonen J, Robinson BH, Savilahti E, Åkerblom HK and Dosch HM. A bovine albumin peptide as a possible trigger of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus [published erratum appears in *N Engl J Med* 327:1252, 1992] [see comments]. *N Engl J Med* 327:302-307, 1992

Karlsen AE and Dyrberg T. Molecular mimicry between non-self, modified self and self in autoimmunity. *Semin Immunol* 10:25-34, 1998

Karlsson MG, Lawesson SS and Ludvigsson J. Th1-like dominance in high-risk first-degree relatives of type I diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 43:742-749, 2000

Kaukinen K, Collin P, Holm K, Karvonen AL, Pikkarainen P and Mäki M. Small-bowel mucosal inflammation in reticulin or gliadin antibody-positive patients without villous atrophy. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 33:944-949, 1998

Kaukinen K, Collin P, Mykkänen AH, Partanen J, Mäki M and Salmi J. Celiac disease and autoimmune endocrinologic disorders [see comments]. *Dig Dis Sci* 44:1428-1433, 1999

Kaukinen K, Mäki M, Partanen J, Sievänen H and Collin P. Celiac disease without villous atrophy: revision of criteria called for. *Dig Dis Sci* 46:879-887, 2001

Kelly J, Weir DG and Feighery C. Differential expression of HLA-D gene products in the normal and coeliac small bowel. *Tissue Antigens* 31:151-160, 1988

Kero J, Gissler M, Hemminki E and Isolauri E. Could TH1 and TH2 diseases coexist? Evaluation of asthma incidence in children with coeliac disease, type 1 diabetes, or rheumatoid arthritis: a register study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 108:781-783, 2001

King C, Mueller Hoenger R, Malo Cleary M, Murali-Krishna K, Ahmed R, King E and Sarvetnick N. Interleukin-4 acts at the locus of the antigen-presenting dendritic cell to counter-regulate cytotoxic CD8+ T-cell responses. *Nat Med* 7:206-214, 2001

Klemetti P, Savilahti E, Ilonen J, Akerblom HK and Vaarala O. T-cell reactivity to wheat gluten in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Scand J Immunol* 47:48-53, 1998

Klemola T, Savilahti E, Arato A, Örmälä T, Partanen J, Eland C and Koskimies S. Immunohistochemical findings in jejunal specimens from patients with IgA deficiency. *Gut* 37:519-523, 1995

Klingebiel T and Schlegel PG. GVHD: overview on pathophysiology, incidence, clinical and biological features. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 21:S45-49, 1998

Kobbe G, Schneider P, Rohr U, Fenk R, Neumann F, Aivado M, Dietze L, Kronenwett R, Hunerliturkoglu A and Haas R. Treatment of severe steroid refractory acute graft-versus-host disease with infliximab, a chimeric human/mouse antiTNFalpha antibody. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 28:47-49, 2001

Kokkonen J, Holm K, Karttunen TJ and Mäki M. Children with untreated food allergy express a relative increment in the density of duodenal gammadelta+ T cells. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 35:1137-1142, 2000

Kokkonen J, Haapalahti M, Laurila K, Karttunen TJ and Mäki M. Cow's milk protein-sensitive enteropathy at school age. *J Pediatr* 139:797-803, 2001a

Kokkonen J, Ruuska T, Karttunen TJ and Niinimäki A. Mucosal pathology of the foregut associated with food allergy and recurrent abdominal pains in children. *Acta Paediatr* 90:16-21, 2001b

Kolho KL and Savilahti E. IgA endomysium antibodies on human umbilical cord: an excellent diagnostic tool for celiac disease in childhood. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 24:563-567, 1997

Kontakou M, Sturgess RP, Przemioslo RT, Limb GA, Nelufer JM and Ciclitira PJ. Detection of interferon gamma mRNA in the mucosa of patients with coeliac disease by in situ hybridisation. *Gut* 35:1037-1041, 1994

Kontakou M, Przemioslo RT, Sturgess RP, Limb AG and Ciclitira PJ. Expression of tumour necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-6, and interleukin-2 mRNA in the jejunum of patients with coeliac disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 30:456-463, 1995a

Kontakou M, Przemioslo RT, Sturgess RP, Limb GA, Ellis HJ, Day P and Ciclitira PJ. Cytokine mRNA expression in the mucosa of treated coeliac patients after wheat peptide challenge. *Gut* 37:52-57, 1995b

Krause I, Blank M and Shoenfeld Y. Immunomodulation of experimental autoimmune diseases via oral tolerance. *Crit Rev Immunol* 20:1-16, 2000

Kuitunen M, Savilahti E and Sarnesto A. Human alpha-lactalbumin and bovine beta-lactoglobulin absorption in infants. *Allergy* 49:354-360, 1994

Kuitunen P, Kosnai I and Savilahti E. Morphometric study of the jejunal mucosa in various childhood enteropathies with special reference to intraepithelial lymphocytes. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 1:525-531, 1982

Kukreja A, Cost G, Marker J, Zhang C, Sun Z, Lin-Su K, Ten S, Sanz M, Exley M, Wilson B, Porcelli S and Maclaren N. Multiple immuno-regulatory defects in type-1 diabetes. *J Clin Invest* 109:131-140, 2002

Lahat N, Shapiro S, Karban A, Gerstein R, Kinarty A and Lerner A. Cytokine profile in coeliac disease. *Scand J Immunol* 49:441-446, 1999

Lanzavecchia A. Mechanisms of antigen uptake for presentation. *Curr Opin Immunol* 8:348-354, 1996

Loetscher P, Uguccioni M, Bordoli L, Baggiolini M, Moser B, Chizzolini C and Dayer JM. CCR5 is characteristic of Th1 lymphocytes. *Nature* 391:344-345, 1998

Lorentz A and Bischoff SC. Regulation of human intestinal mast cells by stem cell factor and IL-4. *Immunol Rev* 179:57-60, 2001

Lundqvist C, Melgar S, Yeung MM, Hammarström S and Hammarström ML. Intraepithelial lymphocytes in human gut have lytic potential and a cytokine profile that suggest T helper 1 and cytotoxic functions. *J Immunol* 157:1926-1934, 1996

Luostarinen L, Pirttilä T and Collin P. Coeliac disease presenting with neurological disorders. *Eur Neurol* 42:132-135, 1999

Lönnrot M, Korpela K, Knip M, Ilonen J, Simell O, Korhonen S, Savola K, Muona P, Simell T, Koskela P and Hyöty H. Enterovirus infection as a risk factor for beta-cell autoimmunity in a prospectively observed birth cohort: the Finnish Diabetes Prediction and Prevention Study. *Diabetes* 49:1314-1318, 2000

MacDonald TT and Spencer J. Evidence that activated mucosal T cells play a role in the pathogenesis of enteropathy in human small intestine. *J Exp Med* 167:1341-1349, 1988

MacDonald TT and Spencer J. The role of activated T cells in transformed intestinal mucosa. *Digestion* 46:290-296, 1990

MacDonald TT and Monteleone G. IL-12 and Th1 immune responses in human Peyer's patches. *Trends Immunol* 22:244-247, 2001

MacDonald TT. The mucosal immune system. Parasite Immunol 25:235-246, 2003

Madara JL and Stafford J. Interferon-gamma directly affects barrier function of cultured intestinal epithelial monolayers. *J Clin Invest* 83:724-727, 1989

Mahadeva S, Wyatt JI and Howdle PD. Is a raised intraepithelial lymphocyte count with normal duodenal villous architecture clinically relevant? *J Clin Pathol* 55:424-428, 2002

Maiuri L, Picarelli A, Boirivant M, Coletta S, Mazzilli MC, De Vincenzi M, Londei M and Auricchio S. Definition of the initial immunologic modifications upon in vitro gliadin challenge in the small intestine of celiac patients. *Gastroenterology* 110:1368-1378, 1996

Maiuri L, Raia V, De Marco G, Coletta S, de Ritis G, Londei M and Auricchio S. DNA fragmentation is a feature of cystic fibrosis epithelial cells: a disease with inappropriate apoptosis? *FEBS Lett* 408:225-231, 1997

Maiuri L, Ciacci C, Auricchio S, Brown V, Quaratino S and Londei M. Interleukin 15 mediates epithelial changes in celiac disease. *Gastroenterology* 119:996-1006, 2000

Maiuri L, Ciacci C, Raia V, Vacca L, Ricciardelli I, Raimondi F, Auricchio S, Quaratino S and Londei M. FAS engagement drives apoptosis of enterocytes of coeliac patients. *Gut* 48:418-424, 2001

Maiuri L, Ciacci C, Ricciardelli I, Vacca L, Raia V, Auricchio S, Picard J, Osman M, Quaratino S and Londei M. Association between innate response to gliadin and activation of pathogenic T cells in coeliac disease. *Lancet* 362:30-37, 2003

Malek TR. The main function of IL-2 is to promote the development of T regulatory cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 74:961-965. Epub 2003 Sep 2002, 2003

Marley NJ, Macartney JC and Ciclitira PJ. HLA-DR, DP and DQ expression in the small intestine of patients with coeliac disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 70:386-393, 1987

Marsh MN. Gluten, major histocompatibility complex, and the small intestine. A molecular and immunobiologic approach to the spectrum of gluten sensitivity ('celiac sprue'). *Gastroenterology* 102:330-354, 1992

Mason DW, Dallman M and Barclay AN. Graft-versus-host disease induces expression of Ia antigen in rat epidermal cells and gut epithelium. *Nature* 293:150-151, 1981

Mayer A, Rharbaoui F, Thivolet C, Orgiazzi J and Madec AM. The relationship between peripheral T cell reactivity to insulin, clinical remissions and cytokine production in type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 84:2419-2424, 1999

Mayer L, Eisenhardt D, Salomon P, Bauer W, Plous R and Piccinini L. Expression of class II molecules on intestinal epithelial cells in humans. Differences between normal and inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 100:3-12, 1991

McCalla R, Savilahti E, Perkkiö M, Kuitunen P and Backman A. Morphology of the jejunum in children with eczema due to food allergy. *Allergy* 35:563-571, 1980

Mestecky J, Lue C and Russell MW. Selective transport of IgA. Cellular and molecular aspects. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am* 20:441-471, 1991

Molberg Ø, McAdam SN, Korner R, Quarsten H, Kristiansen C, Madsen L, Fugger L, Scott H, Noren O, Roepstorff P, Lundin KE, Sjöström H and Sollid LM. Tissue transglutaminase selectively modifies gliadin peptides that are recognized by gut-derived T cells in celiac disease [see comments] [published erratum appears in *Nat Med* 8:974, 1998]. *Nat Med* 4:713-717, 1998

Monteleone G, Pender SL, Alstead E, Hauer AC, Lionetti P and MacDonald TT. Role of interferon alpha in promoting T helper cell type 1 responses in the small intestine in coeliac disease. *Gut* 48:425-429, 2001

Morgan DA, Ruscetti FW and Gallo R. Selective in vitro growth of T lymphocytes from normal human bone marrows. *Science* 193:1007-1008, 1976

Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA and Coffman RL. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J Immunol* 136:2348-2357, 1986

Mosmann TR and Sad S. The expanding universe of T-cell subsets: Th1, Th2 and more [see comments]. *Immunol Today* 17:138-146, 1996

Moss SF, Attia L, Scholes JV, Walters JR and Holt PR. Increased small intestinal apoptosis in coeliac disease [see comments]. *Gut* 39:811-817, 1996

Mowat AM, Felstein MV, Borland A and Parrott DM. Experimental studies of immunologically mediated enteropathy. Development of cell mediated immunity and intestinal pathology during a graft-versus-host reaction in irradiated mice. *Gut* 29:949-956, 1988

Mowat AM and Viney JL. The anatomical basis of intestinal immunity. *Immunol Rev* 156:145-166, 1997

Mowat A. Intestinal graft versus host disease. In: Ferrara JLN, Deeg HJ and Burakoff SJ (eds.). Graftvs-Host Disease. Marcel Dekker, New York, 1997, pp 337-384

Mowat AM. Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3:331-341, 2003

Mustalahti K, Sulkanen S, Holopainen P, Laurila K, Collin P, Partanen J and Mäki M. Coeliac disease among healthy members of multiple case coeliac disease families. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 37:161-165, 2002

Mühl H and Pfeilschifter J. Anti-inflammatory properties of pro-inflammatory interferon-gamma. *Int Immunopharmacol* 3:1247-1255, 2003

Mäki M, Holm K, Koskimies S, Hällström O and Visakorpi JK. Normal small bowel biopsy followed by coeliac disease. *Arch Dis Child* 65:1137-1141, 1990

Mäki M, Holm K, Lipsanen V, Hällström O, Viander M, Collin P, Savilahti E and Koskimies S. Serological markers and HLA genes among healthy first-degree relatives of patients with coeliac disease [see comments]. *Lancet* 338:1350-1353, 1991

Mäki M, Mustalahti K, Kokkonen J, Kulmala P, Haapalahti M, Karttunen T, Ilonen J, Laurila K, Dahlbom I, Hansson T, Höpfl P and Knip M. Prevalence of Celiac disease among children in Finland. *N Engl J Med* 348:2517-2524, 2003

Nagata S and Golstein P. The Fas death factor. *Science* 267:1449-1456, 1995

Nagata S, McKenzie C, Pender SL, Bajaj-Elliott M, Fairclough PD, Walker-Smith JA, Monteleone G and MacDonald TT. Human Peyer's patch T cells are sensitized to dietary antigen and display a Th cell type 1 cytokine profile. *J Immunol* 165:5315-5321, 2000

Nagata S, Yamashiro Y, Ohtsuka Y, Shioya T, Oguchi S, Shimizu T and Maeda M. Quantitative analysis and immunohistochemical studies on small intestinal mucosa of food-sensitive enteropathy. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 20:44-48, 1995

Nejentsev S, Sjöroos M, Soukka T, Knip M, Simell O, Lövgren T and Ilonen J. Population-based genetic screening for the estimation of Type 1 diabetes mellitus risk in Finland: selective genotyping of markers in the HLA-DQB1, HLA-DQA1 and HLA-DRB1 loci. *Diabet Med* 16:985-992, 1999

Neutra MR, Frey A and Kraehenbuhl JP. Epithelial M cells: gateways for mucosal infection and immunization. *Cell* 86:345-348, 1996

Nikolic B, Lee S, Bronson RT, Grusby MJ and Sykes M. Th1 and Th2 mediate acute graft-versushost disease, each with distinct end-organ targets. *J Clin Invest* 105:1289-1298, 2000

Nilsen EM, Jahnsen FL, Lundin KE, Johansen FE, Fausa O, Sollid LM, Jahnsen J, Scott H and Brandtzaeg P. Gluten induces an intestinal cytokine response strongly dominated by interferon gamma in patients with celiac disease. *Gastroenterology* 115:551-563, 1998

Nilsen EM, Lundin KE, Krajci P, Scott H, Sollid LM and Brandtzaeg P. Gluten specific, HLA-DQ restricted T cells from coeliac mucosa produce cytokines with Th1 or Th0 profile dominated by interferon gamma. *Gut* 37:766-776, 1995

Noble A. Review article: molecular signals and genetic reprogramming in peripheral T-cell differentiation [In Process Citation]. *Immunology* 101:289-299, 2000

Not T, Horvath K, Hill ID, Partanen J, Hammed A, Magazzu G and Fasano A. Celiac disease risk in the USA: high prevalence of antiendomysium antibodies in healthy blood donors. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 33:494-498, 1998

Not T, Tommasini A, Tonini G, Buratti E, Pocecco M, Tortul C, Valussi M, Crichiutti G, Berti I, Trevisiol C, Azzoni E, Neri E, Torre G, Martelossi S, Soban M, Lenhardt A, Cattin L and Ventura A. Undiagnosed coeliac disease and risk of autoimmune disorders in subjects with Type I diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 44:151-155, 2001

Olaussen RW, Johansen FE, Lundin KE, Jahnsen J, Brandtzaeg P and Farstad IN. Interferon-gammasecreting T cells localize to the epithelium in coeliac disease. *Scand J Immunol* 56:652-664, 2002

Old LJ. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF). Science 230:630-632, 1985

Ono SJ, Nakamura T, Miyazaki D, Ohbayashi M, Dawson M and Toda M. Chemokines: roles in leukocyte development, trafficking, and effector function. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 111:1185-1199, 2003

Paliard X, de Waal Malefijt R, Yssel H, Blanchard D, Chretien I, Abrams J, de Vries J and Spits H. Simultaneous production of IL-2, IL-4, and IFN-gamma by activated human CD4+ and CD8+ T cell clones. *J Immunol* 141:849-855, 1988

Papadakis KA and Targan SR. Tumor necrosis factor: biology and therapeutic inhibitors. *Gastroenterology* 119:1148-1157, 2000

Parker CM, Cepek KL, Russell GJ, Shaw SK, Posnett DN, Schwarting R and Brenner MB. A family of beta 7 integrins on human mucosal lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89:1924-1928, 1992

Paronen J, Klemetti P, Kantele JM, Savilahti E, Perheentupa J, Åkerblom HK and Vaarala O. Glutamate decarboxylase-reactive peripheral blood lymphocytes from patients with IDDM express gut-specific homing receptor alpha4beta7-integrin. *Diabetes* 46:583-588, 1997

Paronen J, Knip M, Savilahti E, Virtanen SM, Ilonen J, Åkerblom HK and Vaarala O. Effect of cow's milk exposure and maternal type 1 diabetes on cellular and humoral immunization to dietary insulin in infants at genetic risk for type 1 diabetes. Finnish Trial to Reduce IDDM in the Genetically at Risk Study Group. *Diabetes* 49:1657-1665, 2000

Paul WE and Ohara J. B-cell stimulatory factor-1/interleukin 4. Annu Rev Immunol 5:429-459, 1987

Pender SL, Tickle SP, Docherty AJ, Howie D, Wathen NC and MacDonald TT. A major role for matrix metalloproteinases in T cell injury in the gut. *J Immunol* 158:1582-1590, 1997

Pene J, Rousset F, Briere F, Chretien I, Bonnefoy JY, Spits H, Yokota T, Arai N, Arai K, Banchereau J and et al. IgE production by normal human lymphocytes is induced by interleukin 4 and suppressed by interferons gamma and alpha and prostaglandin E2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 85:6880-6884, 1988

Perez-Machado MA, Ashwood P, Thomson MA, Latcham F, Sim R, Walker-Smith JA and Murch SH. Reduced transforming growth factor-beta1-producing T cells in the duodenal mucosa of children with food allergy. *Eur J Immunol* 33:2307-2315, 2003

Perkkiö M, Savilahti E and Kuitunen P. Morphometric and immunohistochemical study of jejunal biopsies from children with intestinal soy allergy. *Eur J Pediatr* 137:63-69, 1981

Picker LJ. Control of lymphocyte homing. Curr Opin Immunol 6:394-406, 1994

Pitman RS and Blumberg RS. First line of defense: the role of the intestinal epithelium as an active component of the mucosal immune system. *J Gastroenterol* 35:805-814, 2000

Podolsky DK. Regulation of intestinal epithelial proliferation: a few answers, many questions. *Am J Physiol* 264:G179-186, 1993

Prescott SL, Macaubas C, Holt BJ, Smallacombe TB, Loh R, Sly PD and Holt PG. Transplacental priming of the human immune system to environmental allergens: universal skewing of initial T cell responses toward the Th2 cytokine profile. *J Immunol* 160:4730-4737, 1998

Przemioslo RT, Kontakou M, Nobili V and Ciclitira PJ. Raised pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin 6 and tumour necrosis factor alpha in coeliac disease mucosa detected by immunohistochemistry. *Gut* 35:1398-1403, 1994

Przemioslo RT, Lundin KE, Sollid LM, Nelufer J and Ciclitira PJ. Histological changes in small bowel mucosa induced by gliadin sensitive T lymphocytes can be blocked by anti-interferon gamma antibody. *Gut* 36:874-879, 1995

Rabinovitch A and Suarez-Pinzon WL. Role of cytokines in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diabetes mellitus. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* 4:291-299, 2003

Reddy P. Pathophysiology of acute graft-versus-host disease. *Hematol Oncol* 21:149-161, 2003

Reed JC. Mechanism of apoptosis. Am J Pathol 157:1415-1430, 2000

Reunala T, Kosnai I, Karpati S, Kuitunen P, Török E and Savilahti E. Dermatitis herpetiformis: jejunal findings and skin response to gluten free diet. *Arch Dis Child* 59:517-522, 1984

Reunala T and Collin P. Diseases associated with dermatitis herpetiformis. *Br J Dermatol* 136:315-318, 1997

Rossi D and Zlotnik A. The biology of chemokines and their receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 18:217-242, 2000

Rott LS, Rose JR, Bass D, Williams MB, Greenberg HB and Butcher EC. Expression of mucosal homing receptor alpha4beta7 by circulating CD4+ cells with memory for intestinal rotavirus. *J Clin Invest* 100:1204-1208, 1997

Ruemmele FM, Seidman EG and Lentze MJ. Regulation of intestinal epithelial cell apoptosis and the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disorders. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 34:254-260, 2002

Saarinen-Pihkala UM, Gustafsson G, Ringdén O, Heilmann C, Glomstein A, Lönnerholm G, Abrahamsson J, Bekassy AN, Schroeder H and Mellander L. No disadvantage in outcome of using matched unrelated donors as compared with matched sibling donors for bone marrow transplantation in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in second remission. *J Clin Oncol* 19:3406-3414, 2001

Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M and Toda M. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol* 155:1151-1164, 1995

Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T cells: key controllers of immunologic self-tolerance. *Cell* 101:455-458, 2000

Sakai T, Ohara-Inagaki K, Tsuzuki T and Yoshikai Y. Host intestinal intraepithelial gamma delta T lymphocytes present during acute graft-versus-host disease in mice may contribute to the development of enteropathy. *Eur J Immunol* 25:87-91, 1995

Sallusto F, Lenig D, Mackay CR and Lanzavecchia A. Flexible programs of chemokine receptor expression on human polarized T helper 1 and 2 lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 187:875-883, 1998

Salmi M and Jalkanen S. Molecules controlling lymphocyte migration to the gut. *Gut* 45:148-153, 1999

Salvati VM, Bajaj-Elliott M, Poulsom R, Mazzarella G, Lundin KE, Nilsen EM, Troncone R and MacDonald TT. Keratinocyte growth factor and coeliac disease. *Gut* 49:176-181, 2001

Salvati VM, MacDonald TT, Bajaj-Elliott M, Borrelli M, Staiano A, Auricchio S, Troncone R and Monteleone G. Interleukin 18 and associated markers of T helper cell type 1 activity in coeliac disease. *Gut* 50:186-190, 2002

Sampson HA. Food allergy. Part 1: immunopathogenesis and clinical disorders. J Allergy Clin Immunol 103:717-728, 1999

Sanderson IR and Walker WA. Uptake and transport of macromolecules by the intestine: possible role in clinical disorders (an update). *Gastroenterology* 104:622-639, 1993

Sanderson IR and Walker WA. Mucosal barrier: An overview. In: Ogra PL, Mestecky J, Lamm ME, Strober W, Bienenstock J and McGhee JR (eds.). Mucosal Immunology. Academic Press, San Diego, 1999, pp 5-17

Sareneva T, Pirhonen J, Cantell K, Kalkkinen N and Julkunen I. Role of N-glycosylation in the synthesis, dimerization and secretion of human interferon-gamma. *Biochem J* 303:831-840, 1994

Saukkonen T, Savilahti E, Reijonen H, Ilonen J, Tuomilehto-Wolf E and Åkerblom HK. Coeliac disease: frequent occurrence after clinical onset of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Childhood Diabetes in Finland Study Group. *Diabet Med* 13:464-470, 1996

Savilahti E. Intestinal immunoglobulins in children with coeliac disease. *Gut* 13:958-964, 1972

Savilahti E, Pelkonen P, Verkasalo M and Koskimies S. Selective deficiency of immunoglobulin A in children. *Klin Padiatr* 197:336-340, 1985

Savilahti E, Simell O, Koskimies S, Rilva A and Åkerblom HK. Celiac disease in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Pediatr* 108:690-693, 1986

Savilahti E, Åkerblom HK, Tainio VM and Koskimies S. Children with newly diagnosed insulin dependent diabetes mellitus have increased levels of cow's milk antibodies. *Diabetes Res* 7:137-140, 1988

Savilahti E, Arato A and Verkasalo M. Intestinal gamma/delta receptor-bearing T lymphocytes in celiac disease and inflammatory bowel diseases in children. Constant increase in celiac disease. *Pediatr Res* 28:579-581, 1990

Savilahti E, Reunala T and Mäki M. Increase of lymphocytes bearing the gamma/delta T cell receptor in the jejunum of patients with dermatitis herpetiformis. *Gut* 33:206-211, 1992

Savilahti E, Örmälä T, Arato A, Hacsek G, Holm K, Klemola T, Nemeth A, Mäki M and Reunala T. Density of gamma/delta+ T cells in the jejunal epithelium of patients with coeliac disease and dermatitis herpetiformis is increased with age. *Clin Exp Immunol* 109:464-467, 1997

Savilahti E, Örmälä T, Saukkonen T, Sandini-Pohjavuori U, Kantele JM, Arato A, Ilonen J and Åkerblom HK. Jejuna of patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM) show signs of immune activation. *Clin Exp Immunol* 116:70-77, 1999

Savilahti E. Food-induced malabsorption syndromes. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 30:S61-66, 2000

Schimpl A, Berberich I, Kneitz B, Krämer S, Santner-Nanan B, Wagner S, Wolf M and Hünig T. IL-2 and autoimmune disease. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 13:369-378, 2002

Schots R, Kaufman L, Van Riet I, Ben Othman T, De Waele M, Van Camp B and Demanet C. Proinflammatory cytokines and their role in the development of major transplant-related complications in the early phase after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Leukemia* 17:1150-1156, 2003

Schweizer JJ, Mearin ML, Pena AS, Offerhaus GJ, Dreef EJ, Roep BO, Bontrop RE, Dooren LJ, Lamers CB and Hoedemaeker PJ. Expression of HLA-DQ antigens in the small-intestinal mucosa of patients with coeliac disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 26:605-610, 1991

Scott FW. Food-induced type 1 diabetes in the BB rat. Diabetes Metab Rev 12:341-359, 1996

Scott FW, Cloutier HE, Kleemann R, Wöerz-Pagenstert U, Rowsell P, Modler HW and Kolb H. Potential mechanisms by which certain foods promote or inhibit the development of spontaneous diabetes in BB rats: dose, timing, early effect on islet area, and switch in infiltrate from Th1 to Th2 cells. *Diabetes* 46:589-598, 1997

Scott FW, Rowsell P, Wang GS, Burghardt K, Kolb H and Flohé S. Oral exposure to diabetespromoting food or immunomodulators in neonates alters gut cytokines and diabetes. *Diabetes* 51:73-78, 2002

Scott H, Solheim BG, Brandtzaeg P and Thorsby E. HLA-DR-like antigens in the epithelium of the human small intestine. *Scand J Immunol* 12:77-82, 1980

Senger S, Luongo D, Maurano F, Mazzeo MF, Siciliano RA, Gianfrani C, David C, Troncone R, Auricchio S and Rossi M. Intranasal administration of a recombinant alpha-gliadin down-regulates the immune response to wheat gliadin in DQ8 transgenic mice. *Immunol Lett* 88:127-134, 2003

Shan L, Molberg Ø, Parrot I, Hausch F, Filiz F, Gray GM, Sollid LM and Khosla C. Structural basis for gluten intolerance in celiac sprue. *Science* 297:2275-2279, 2002

Shibahara T, Wilcox JN, Couse T and Madara JL. Characterization of epithelial chemoattractants for human intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes. *Gastroenterology* 120:60-70, 2001

Simpson CR, Anderson WJ, Helms PJ, Taylor MW, Watson L, Prescott GJ, Godden DJ and Barker RN. Coincidence of immune-mediated diseases driven by Th1 and Th2 subsets suggests a common aetiology. A population-based study using computerized general practice data. *Clin Exp Allergy* 32:37-42, 2002

Sims JE, Gayle MA, Slack JL, Alderson MR, Bird TA, Giri JG, Colotta F, Re F, Mantovani A, Shanebeck K and et al. Interleukin 1 signaling occurs exclusively via the type I receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90:6155-6159, 1993

Skoskiewicz MJ, Colvin RB, Schneeberger EE and Russell PS. Widespread and selective induction of major histocompatibility complex-determined antigens in vivo by gamma interferon. *J Exp Med* 162:1645-1664, 1985

Smith AD, Bagheri B, Streilein RD and Hall RP, 3rd. Expression of interleukin-4 and interferongamma in the small bowel of patients with dermatitis herpetiformis and isolated gluten-sensitive enteropathy. *Dig Dis Sci* 44:2124-2132, 1999

Snover DC, Weisdorf SA, Vercellotti GM, Rank B, Hutton S and McGlave P. A histopathologic study of gastric and small intestinal graft-versus-host disease following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Hum Pathol* 16:387-392, 1985

Socié G, Mary JY, Lemann M, Daneshpouy M, Guardiola P, Meignin V, Ades L, Esperou H, Ribaud P, Devergie A, Gluckman E, Ameisen JC and Janin A. Prognostic value of apoptotic cells and infiltrating neutrophils in graft-versus-host disease of the gastrointestinal tract in humans: TNF and Fas expression. *Blood* 103:50-57. Epub 2003 Jul 2024, 2004

Sollid LM. Coeliac disease: dissecting a complex inflammatory disorder. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2:647-655, 2002

Spencer J, Isaacson PG, Diss TC and MacDonald TT. Expression of disulfide-linked and nondisulfide-linked forms of the T cell receptor gamma/delta heterodimer in human intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes. *Eur J Immunol* 19:1335-1338, 1989

Spencer J, Isaacson PG, MacDonald TT, Thomas AJ and Walker-Smith JA. Gamma/delta T cells and the diagnosis of coeliac disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 85:109-113, 1991

Spiekermann GM and Walker WA. Oral tolerance and its role in clinical disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 32:237-255, 2001

Springer TA. Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. *Cell* 76:301-314, 1994

Stern M. Comparative evaluation of serologic tests for celiac disease: a European initiative toward standardization. Working Group on Serologic Screening for Celiac Disease. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 31:513-519, 2000

Streeter PR, Berg EL, Rouse BT, Bargatze RF and Butcher EC. A tissue-specific endothelial cell molecule involved in lymphocyte homing. *Nature* 331:41-46, 1988

Strobel S. Oral tolerance, systemic immunoregulation, and autoimmunity. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 958:47-58, 2002

Stumbles PA, McWilliam AS and Holt PG. Dendritic cells and mucosal macrophages. In: Ogra PL, Mestecky J, Lamm ME, Strober W, Bienenstock J and McGhee JR (eds.). Mucosal Immunology. Academic Press, San Diego, 1999, pp 397-412

Sulkanen S, Halttunen T, Laurila K, Kolho KL, Korponay-Szabo IR, Sarnesto A, Savilahti E, Collin P and Mäki M. Tissue transglutaminase autoantibody enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay in detecting celiac disease [see comments]. *Gastroenterology* 115:1322-1328, 1998

Suomalainen H, Soppi E, Laine S and Isolauri E. Immunologic disturbances in cow's milk allergy, 2: Evidence for defective interferon-gamma generation. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 4:203-207, 1993

Surh CD and Sprent J. T-cell apoptosis detected in situ during positive and negative selection in the thymus. *Nature* 372:100-103, 1994

Sviland L, Pearson AD, Eastham EJ, Green MA, Hamilton PJ, Proctor SJ and Malcolm AJ. Class II antigen expression by keratinocytes and enterocytes--an early feature of graft-versus-host-disease. *Transplantation* 46:402-406, 1988

Swinson CM, Slavin G, Coles EC and Booth CC. Coeliac disease and malignancy. *Lancet* 1:111-115, 1983

Sütas Y, Hurme M and Isolauri E. Oral cow milk challenge abolishes antigen-specific interferongamma production in the peripheral blood of children with atopic dermatitis and cow milk allergy. *Clin Exp Allergy* 27:277-283, 1997

Teunissen MB, Piskin G, Nuzzo S, Sylva-Steenland RM, de Rie MA and Bos JD. Ultraviolet B radiation induces a transient appearance of IL-4+ neutrophils, which support the development of Th2 responses. *J Immunol* 168:3732-3739, 2002

Thomas ED, Storb R, Clift RA, Fefer A, Johnson L, Neiman PE, Lerner KG, Glucksberg H and Buckner CD. Bone-marrow transplantation (second of two parts). *N Engl J Med* 292:895-902, 1975

Troncone R. Latent coeliac disease in Italy. The SIGEP Working Group on Latent Coeliac Disease. Italian Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology and Hepatology. *Acta Paediatr* 84:1252-1257, 1995

Troncone R, Greco L, Mayer M, Mazzarella G, Maiuri L, Congia M, Frau F, De Virgiliis S and Auricchio S. In siblings of celiac children, rectal gluten challenge reveals gluten sensitization not restricted to celiac HLA. *Gastroenterology* 111:318-324, 1996a

Troncone R, Greco L, Mayer M, Paparo F, Caputo N, Micillo M, Mugione P and Auricchio S. Latent and potential coeliac disease. *Acta Paediatr Suppl* 412:10-14, 1996b

Troncone R, Gianfrani C, Mazzarella G, Greco L, Guardiola J, Auricchio S and De Berardinis P. Majority of gliadin-specific T-cell clones from celiac small intestinal mucosa produce interferon-gamma and interleukin-4. *Dig Dis Sci* 43:156-161, 1998

Troncone R, Franzese A, Mazzarella G, Paparo F, Auricchio R, Coto I, Mayer M and Greco L. Gluten sensitivity in a subset of children with insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *Am J Gastroenterol* 98:590-595, 2003

Vaarala O, Klemetti P, Savilahti E, Reijonen H, Ilonen J and Åkerblom HK. Cellular immune response to cow's milk beta-lactoglobulin in patients with newly diagnosed IDDM. *Diabetes* 45:178-182, 1996

Vaarala O, Paronen J, Otonkoski T and Åkerblom HK. Cow milk feeding induces antibodies to insulin in children--a link between cow milk and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus? *Scand J Immunol* 47:131-135, 1998

Vaarala O, Knip M, Paronen J, Hämäläinen AM, Muona P, Väätäinen M, Ilonen J, Simell O and Åkerblom HK. Cow's milk formula feeding induces primary immunization to insulin in infants at genetic risk for type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 48:1389-1394, 1999

Waldmann TA. The interleukin-2 receptor. J Biol Chem 266:2681-2684, 1991

Walker-Smith J, Harrison M, Kilby A, Phillips A and France N. Cows' milk-sensitive enteropathy. *Arch Dis Child* 53:375-380, 1978

Walker-Smith JA, Guandalini S, Schmitz J, Schmerling DH and Visakorpi JK. Revised criteria for diagnosis of coeliac disease. Report of Working Group of European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition. *Arch Dis Child* 65:909-911, 1990

Valletta E, Bertini M, Piccoli R, Capelli P and Zanoni G. Latent celiac disease or low-glutencontaining diet? *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 34:91, 2002

van der Loos CM, Houtkamp MA, de Boer OJ, Teeling P, van der Wal AC and Becker AE. Immunohistochemical detection of interferon-gamma: fake or fact? *J Histochem Cytochem* 49:699-710, 2001

Weinstein WM. Latent celiac sprue. Gastroenterology 66:489-493, 1974

Ventura A, Magazzù G and Greco L. Duration of exposure to gluten and risk for autoimmune disorders in patients with celiac disease. SIGEP Study Group for Autoimmune Disorders in Celiac Disease. *Gastroenterology* 117:297-303, 1999

Wierenga EA, Snoek M, Jansen HM, Bos JD, van Lier RA and Kapsenberg ML. Human atopenspecific types 1 and 2 T helper cell clones. *J Immunol* 147:2942-2949, 1991

Wilkinson DG. Whole mount in situ hybridization of vertebrate embryos. In: Wilkinson DG (ed.). *In situ* hybridization: A practical approach. IRL Press, Oxford, 1992, pp 75-83

Visentainer JE, Lieber SR, Persoli LB, Vigorito AC, Aranha FJ, de Brito Eid KA, Oliveira GB, Miranda EC and de Souza CA. Serum cytokine levels and acute graft-versus-host disease after HLA-identical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Exp Hematol* 31:1044-1050, 2003

Wright N, Watson A, Morley A, Appleton D and Marks J. Cell kinetics in flat (avillous) mucosa of the human small intestine. *Gut* 14:701-710, 1973

Wucherpfennig KW. Mechanisms for the induction of autoimmunity by infectious agents. J Clin Invest 108:1097-1104, 2001

Yang XD, Sytwu HK, McDevitt HO and Michie SA. Involvement of beta 7 integrin and mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1) in the development of diabetes in obese diabetic mice. *Diabetes* 46:1542-1547, 1997

Youngman KR, Simon PL, West GA, Cominelli F, Rachmilewitz D, Klein JS and Fiocchi C. Localization of intestinal interleukin 1 activity and protein and gene expression to lamina propria cells. *Gastroenterology* 104:749-758, 1993

Zivny JH, Moldoveanu Z, Vu HL, Russell MW, Mestecky J and Elson CO. Mechanisms of immune tolerance to food antigens in humans. *Clin Immunol* 101:158-168, 2001

Zlotnik A and Yoshie O. Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity. *Immunity* 12:121-127, 2000

Åkerblom HK, Vaarala O, Hyöty H, Ilonen J and Knip M. Environmental factors in the etiology of type 1 diabetes. *Am J Med Genet* 115:18-29, 2002